University of Massachusetts Amherst ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst

Doctoral Dissertations

Dissertations and Theses

July 2017

The Effects of Exercise Training on Insulin Supply and Demand in Breast Cancer Survivors

Richard Viskochil

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umass.edu/dissertations_2

Part of the Sports Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Viskochil, Richard, "The Effects of Exercise Training on Insulin Supply and Demand in Breast Cancer Survivors" (2017). *Doctoral Dissertations*. 982. https://scholarworks.umass.edu/dissertations_2/982

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UMass Amherst. For more information, please contact scholarworks@library.umass.edu.

THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE TRAINING ON INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

A Dissertation Presented By RICHARD VISKOCHIL

Submitted to the Graduate School of the University of Massachusetts Amherst in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

MAY 2017

Kinesiology

© By Richard Viskochil 2017 All rights reserved

THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE TRAINING ON INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

A Dissertation Presented

By

RICHARD VISKOCHIL

Approved as to style and content by

Barry Braun, Chair

Patty S. Freedson, Member

Susan Hankinson, Member

John Staudenmayer, Member

Catrine Tudor-Locke, Chair Department of Kinesiology

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to thank all of the grad students, instructors and faculty in the Kinesiology department at UMass. I have consistently been in awe of the intelligence, support and compassion they have provided on this long journey. Secondly, I would like to extend my gratitude to all of the participants who have taken part in the studies that contributed to this dissertation. Without you, there would be no project and I very much appreciate all you have done. I would also like to acknowledge all of the undergraduates who have worked in our lab over the last several years, especially those who helped out with the ExBCS project. I could not have done this work without my current and former labmates, so to Steve, Kirsten, Amanda (honorary from Patty's lab), and Hannah thank you so much. A special acknowledgement must go out to Jen Blankenship and Becky Thibault, who have meant so much to me and this project that their worth cannot be quantified. Finally, to Barry Braun (my advisor), and to my family. Your constant support and encouragement has meant the world to me.

ABSTRACT

THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE TRAINING ON INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

MAY 2017

RICHARD VISKOCHIL, B.S., UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI M.S.Ed, UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI Ph.D., UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST Directed by: Barry Braun

Elevated insulin concentrations may influence cancer and cardiometabolic disease onset and prognosis, and lower insulin levels after exercise may contribute to disease prevention and overall health. The effect of exercise training on systemic and tissuespecific insulin supply and demand in breast cancer survivors and adults at risk for cardiometabolic disease is unclear. The objective of this dissertation was to evaluate the effects of exercise training on postmeal insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors, and identify mechanisms responsible for changes to insulin supply and demand following exercise training in breast cancer survivors and adults at risk for cardiometabolic disease.

Study 1 investigated differences between systemic and tissue-specific responses to exercise training and/or the anti-diabetes drug metformin in adults with prediabetes. Fasting proinsulin concentrations were lower following combined exercise and metformin (-24%), and insulin clearance was higher in the metformin and combined exercise and metformin groups (+19% and +17%). There were no differences in the exercise or placebo group, and taken together with previous work from our lab, suggests that exercise regulates insulin supply and demand systemically, while pharmacological adaptations may be tissue-specific.

v

Study 2 evaluated the effects of physical activity on postmeal insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors. Fifteen women completed 12 weeks of exercise training with pre- and post-intervention oral glucose tolerance testing. Insulin concentrations 120 minutes following glucose ingestion decreased (68.8±34.5 vs. 56.2±31.9 uU/ml, p<0.05), along with leptin (-22.7%) and estrogen (-20.9%), biomarkers of cancer risk. This postmeal insulin response may have been blunted by the use of aromatase inhibitors.

Study 3 assessed the specific components of insulin supply and demand that may contribute to the blunted or absent postmeal insulin response observed in study 2. There was a significant increase in estimated skeletal muscle glucose uptake following exercise training $(5.7\pm1.8 \text{ vs. } 7.2\pm1.8, \text{mmo*pmol*kg/m2 p<0.05})$, however there were no changes to systemic measures of insulin supply and demand. This, combined with reductions in leptin and estrogen (study 2), suggests that exercise training was sufficient to induce tissue-specific adaptations but was unable to alter systemic insulin supply and demand in breast cancer survivors.

A A LI LI	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ABSTRACT LIST OF TABLES LIST OF FIGURES		
C]	CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	1	
	Statement of the problem Objectives and significance	1 5	
II.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	8	
	Overview of cancer development and treatment	8	
	Breast cancer development	10	
	Breast cancer treatment	11	
	Summary of cancer development and treatment	14	
	Mediators and moderators of cancer development and prognosis	15	
	Overview of cardiometabolic health and cancer	15	
	Inactivity	16	
	Obesity	18	
	Chemotherapy-induced cardiometabolic disease	19	
	Summary of moderators of cancer progression	21	
	Biomarkers of cancer development and prognosis	21	
	Insulin	23	
	Insulin-like growth factors and binding proteins	26	
	Sex hormones	28	
	Adipokines	31	
	Summary of biomarkers	33	
	Postprandial insulin and insulin supply and demand	34	
	The role of insulin in the progression of T2D	36	
	Insulin demand (sensitivity)	37	
	Insulin supply and beta cell function	39	
	Clinical role of the disruption of insulin supply and demand	41	
	Interventions to better match insulin supply and demand	42	
	Summary of insulin supply and demand.	43	
	Exercise, hyperinsulinemia and breast cancer	44	
	Randomized controlled trials of exercise training in breast cancer	44	
	Other exercise training in breast cancer survivor studies	49	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

III. EXERCISE TRAINING AND METFORMIN DIFFERENTIALLY IMPACT COUPLING OF INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND	. 53
Introduction	. 53
Methods	. 56
Overview	. 56
Intervention protocol	. 56
Blood collection and hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp	. 57
Biochemical analysis	. 57
Proinsulin processing, hepatic extraction and insulin clearance	58 58
Results	. 58
Baseline characteristics and effects of training	58
Proinsulin and proinsulin ratios	. 59
Hepatic extraction and insulin clearance	. 59
Discussion	60
Tables	. 65
Figures	. 67
Prologue to chapters IV and V	. 69
IV. EXERCISE TRAINING LOWERS POSTMEAL, BUT NOT FASTING, INSULIN CONCENTRATIONS IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS	. 71
Introduction	. 71
Methods	. 73
Recruitment and participants.	. 73
Baseline fitness and anthropometric testing	. 74
Fasting blood sample and oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)	. 75
Supervised exercise training intervention	. 76
Post-intervention testing	. 76
Hormone, biomarker and metabolite analysis	. 77
Postmeal insulin concentrations and insulin sensitivity	. 77
Statistical analysis	. 78
Results	. 78
Participant characteristics	. 78
Exercise training	. 79

Fitness, body composition and ancillary health outcomes	80
Cancer biomarkers	80
Fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations	81
Factors influencing the insulin response to exercise	81
Discussion	82
Tables	88
Figures	90
V. CHANGES TO INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND MAY BE	
BLUNTED FOLLOWING EXERCISE TRAINING IN BREAST	
CANCER SURVIVORS	95
Introduction	95
Methods	98
Participants and recruitment	98
Baseline fitness and body composition.	98
Fatigue, self-efficacy and quality of life.	100
Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT).	101
Exercise training	101
Hormone and metabolite analysis.	102
Systemic and tissue-specific components of insulin supply and	102
demand.	103
Statistical analysis	104
Results	105
Participant characteristics	105
Exercise training	105
Fitness and body composition	105
Markers of cardiometabolic health	106
Metrics of insulin supply and demand	106
Self-Efficacy, fatigue and quality of life questionnaires	106
Discussion	107
Tables	111
Figures	114
VI. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	116
Summer of study 1	110
Summary of studies 2 and 3	118 119

Conclusion	121
APPENDIX: INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES TO EXERCISE TRAINING IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS	123
BIBLIOGRAPHY	128

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 3.1: Participant characteristics. Table 3.2: Changes to glycemic control after intervention period.	65 66
Table 4.1: Participant characteristics.	88
Table 4.2: Changes in fitness, body composition, health and biomarkers	89
Table 5.1: Participant characteristics.	111
Table 5.2: Changes in fitness, body composition and cardiometabolic health	112
Table 5.3: Changes in metrics of glycemic control.	113

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure

Figure 3.1: Fasting proinsulin concentrations	67
Figure 3.2: Clamp-derived insulin clearance	68
Figure 4.1: Participant enrollment and intervention completion	90
Figure 4.2: Association between estradiol and exercise intensity	91
Figure 4.3: Postmeal insulin responses	92
Figure 4.4: Postmeal insulin responses in women with a history of AI use	93
Figure 4.5: Relationship between change in estrogen and peak insulin	94
Figure 5.1: Metabolic glucose clearance rate	114
Figure 5.2: Subjective fatigue and quality of life	115
Figure A.1: Exercise training volume	124
Figure A.2: Exercise training intensity	125
Figure A.3: Exercise sessions	126
Figure A.4: High intensity interval training sessions	127

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Statement of the problem

The American Society of Clinical Oncology expects newly diagnosed cases of cancer to double by the year 2030 and, as a result, cancer will dethrone heart disease as the number one cause of death in the United States (ASCO, 2013). One in eight American women will be diagnosed with breast cancer in their lifetime, and the majority of these diagnoses will occur during or after menopause (Britt, 2012). The high rate of breast cancer incidence, improvements in screening/treatment, and an aging population have resulted in a large (and growing) number of postmenopausal breast cancer survivors living in the United States, with recent estimates approaching 3 million women (Toriola & Colditz 2013). While the majority of breast cancer survivors have been declared cancer free, breast cancer treatment often induces physiological and psychological changes that increase the risk of both cancer recurrence and cardiometabolic disease, such as type 2 diabetes.

Three specific aspects of breast cancer treatment may influence breast cancer recurrence and/or the risk of cardiometabolic disease. First, many chemotherapy drugs impair cardiac function (Kirkham et al. 2015), which reduces aerobic fitness and increases the risk of cardiovascular disease (Jones et al. 2016). These effects are not confined to the periods of chemotherapy delivery alone, since most breast cancer survivors immediately start a multi-year plan of secondary pharmacotherapy (e.g. aromatase inhibitors) that can have detrimental effects on cardiovascular and bone health

(Zagar et al. 2016, Hadji et al. 2011). Additionally, women undergoing chemotherapy and radiation are given glucocorticoids (e.g. Dexamethasone) as anti-emetics, which often raise glucose concentrations into the range of diabetes during treatment (Lu et al. 2014, JuanJuan et al. 2015). Finally, cancer treatment often induces physical and psychological fatigue (Berger et al. 2012, Stagl et al. 2014), which leads to lower levels of physical activity and increased sedentary behavior both during and after treatment. Given the large and growing number of breast cancer survivors in the United States, developing a greater understanding the relationship between modifiable cancer and cardiometabolic risk factors and using that knowledge to design precision interventions that improve prognosis has clear public health implications.

Being physically active reduces the risk of cancer recurrence and improves the prognosis of cancer survivors (Moore et al. 2016). Epidemiological evidence suggests that women who are meeting the US physical activity guidelines (150 min/wk of moderate to vigorous PA) are 20% less likely to develop breast cancer, and breast cancer survivors meeting the physical activity guidelines are 40% less likely to have a cancer recurrence or cancer related death (Ballard Barbash et al. 2012). The mechanisms behind this risk reduction are multi-factorial (e.g. weight control, reduced inflammation), however the results of several large cross-sectional studies and randomized controlled trials suggest that insulin may play a role (Ahern et al. 2013, Goodwin et al. 2012, Irwin et al. 2005). The amount of insulin released into the circulation (insulin supply) is based largely on the amount of insulin required by the body to maintain blood glucose concentrations within a relatively tight physiological range (insulin demand). Obesity and sedentary behavior reduce the effectiveness of insulin to regulate blood glucose, and this

insulin resistance (i.e. increased insulin demand) causes a compensatory increase in insulin supply in order to match the higher demand and maintain glycemic control. Without this compensatory hyperinsulinemia most individuals with insulin resistance (approximately 30-40% of the population in the United States) would likely develop frank type 2 diabetes.

Although hyperinsulinemia helps restrain blood glucose and prevent T2D, it may be detrimental to cancer risk. In addition to regulating blood glucose levels, insulin stimulates cell growth and proliferation in both normal and cancerous cells (Gallagher et al. 2013). In a study by Irwin et al. women in the highest quartile of circulating insulin have a 3x greater risk of cancer mortality compared to women in the lowest quartile (Irwin et al. 2011). Several recent epidemiological studies have also suggested a role for insulin in cancer prevention. While the causal mechanisms are unclear, women who regularly engage in physical activity or those taking the anti-hyperglycemia drug metformin have a reduced risk of developing cancer, which is potentially mediated by reductions in circulating insulin concentrations following each treatment (Goodwin et al. 2015, Del Giudice et al. 1998). Despite epidemiological and cell/animal model evidence supporting a role of insulin in carcinogenesis, results from exercise training studies in breast cancer survivors have been largely equivocal (Fairey et al. 2003, Ligibel et al. 2008, Irwin et al. 2009, Campbell et al. 2012 and Guinan et al. 2013). This has lead some researchers to conclude that elevated insulin concentrations may contribute to carcinogenesis, however exercise-induced reductions in insulin are either absent or play a negligible role in cancer prognosis and/or the risk of recurrence in breast cancer survivors (Irwin et al. 2009).

One limitation of the prior interventions designed to evaluate the mediating/moderating effect of insulin on cancer risk and prognosis is the use of fasting insulin concentrations as the sole representation of glycemic control. Maintaining appropriate glucose concentrations involves complex regulation of insulin supply and demand on both a systemic and tissue-specific level across different metabolic states (e.g. fasting, postmeal), all of which have unique responses to physical activity. For example, fasting insulin concentrations primarily reflect the volume of insulin required for the liver to maintain appropriate glucose production and prevent low blood glucose. After a large meal however, insulin supply increases dramatically as insulin demand shifts from restraining liver glucose production to inducing skeletal muscle glucose uptake. While lean, physically active individuals tend to have lower fasting and postmeal insulin demand compared sedentary obese individuals, there can be a large degree of discordance between fasting and postmeal muscle insulin demand both within and across different populations (Faerch et al. 2008). It is therefore possible for two individuals with very similar fasting insulin concentrations to have significantly different postmeal insulin concentrations due to differences in postmeal insulin demand (i.e. skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity). Since insulin is a mitogenic, dose-dependent contributor to cancer risk, the relationship between insulin and cancer likely *cannot* be extrapolated from fasting insulin concentrations alone, as postprandial insulin represents an equal, and in some cases greater, contributor to daily insulin exposure.

Additionally, changes to insulin supply and demand following interventions are not similar in magnitude across all tissues and in all metabolic states. For example, exercise training appears to reduce skeletal muscle insulin demand (i.e. insulin resistance) to a much greater degree than liver insulin demand. Since skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity plays a significant role in postmeal, but not fasting, glycemic control, the magnitude of reductions in postmeal insulin are significantly greater than the reductions in fasting insulin following exercise training (Jenkins & Hagberg 2011). This response is in contrast to other interventions like metformin, which primarily reduces fasting insulin concentrations (Goodwin et al. 2008). Given the unique tissue-, and metabolic statespecific changes to insulin demand and supply, it is possible that studies evaluating the efficacy of physical activity interventions on cancer risk and prognosis may be <u>undervaluing</u> the impact of exercise training by failing to account for changes in postmeal insulin concentrations.

Objectives and significance

Despite the disproportional relationship between fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations and the unique tissue- and metabolic state-specific effects of interventions on insulin supply and demand, many studies in breast cancer survivors only measure insulin in the fasted state, and thus may be underestimating the role of insulin in cancer risk and prognosis. Fasting insulin concentrations are only one component of insulin supply and demand, and one that is not particularly reflective of the overall impact of interventions on glycemic control. This limitation is especially relevant for exercise training, as reductions in skeletal muscle insulin resistance are primarily reflected through changes to postmeal insulin concentrations. While several clinical trials investigating the role of pharmacology- and/or exercise-induced changes in metabolism in cancer survivors are underway (Patterson et al. 2013), the health recommendations derived from these studies are predicated on the changes to fasting insulin concentrations observed

following each treatment. Before physical activity, dietary and pharmacological interventions can be optimally combined into a personalized intervention to prevent or reverse chronic disease, a full understanding of independent and combined effects of these interventions must be elucidated in the populations that would most benefit from them. Without a greater understanding of the tissue- and metabolic state- specific effects of exercise training on insulin supply and demand in cancer survivors, the optimal utility of physical activity as means to improve cancer prognosis and reduce the risk of recurrence remains unknown.

The overall goal of this dissertation was therefore to address the current limitations in our understanding of the interactions between physical activity, insulin supply and demand and cancer risk. Study one evaluated the effects of 12-weeks of exercise training and/or metformin on systemic and tissue-specific measures of fasting insulin supply and whole-body insulin demand. This study used a fasting blood draw and the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique to better classify the responses to exercise training and/or metformin in men and women at risk for developing cardiometabolic disease. Study two investigated the relationship between physical activity, insulin and cancer by measuring fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations and their relationship with cancer biomarkers prior to and following a personalized 12-week aerobic exercise training program in breast cancer survivors. This involved the use of a five-sample oral glucose tolerance test prior to and following the completion of the exercise training protocol, with a primary focus on the aspects of physical activity and insulin supply and demand that modify cancer risk. Finally, in study three we investigated the potential influence of exercise training on

cardiometabolic health in breast cancer survivors in order to identify any potential changes to insulin supply and demand through which exercise training may reduce cancer-specific and all-cause mortality in breast cancer survivors. The information derived from this series of studies will shed light on the relationship between insulin supply and demand, exercise training and cardiometabolic disease risk, as well as their impact on cancer recurrence in breast cancer survivors, and guide future studies attempting to develop precise and personalized interventions to improve cancer prognosis.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Overview of cancer development and treatment

This project pertains to exercise training in women who have been previously diagnosed with breast cancer, received treatment, and have been deemed in remission or "cancer-free" by their oncologist. Cancer diagnosis and treatment can have profound effects on physical and psychological health and well being, and it is therefore necessary to provide background information regarding the development and treatment of cancer. This brief overview is by no means extensive, however it is important to review breast cancer development and treatment in order to understand why the effects of an exercise training program may differ between postmenopausal breast cancer survivors and noncancer survivors of similar age, BMI and cardiometabolic health profile.

Cancer develops due to genetic or epigenetic mutations that confer a selective growth advantage to specific cells by 1) stimulating the cellular signaling pathways that lead to cell proliferation and/or 2) inhibiting the cellular signaling pathways that suppress tumor growth (Hanahan & Weinberg 2009). In most cases it takes many small genetic mutations (over the course of many years) to "add up" to a mutation large enough to overcome the inherent cellular defense mechanisms and manifest as a distinct physiological cancer phenotype (Vogelstein et al. 2013). Most solid tumor (e.g. breast) cancers can therefore be viewed as a *stepwise genetic disorder associated with aging*. This long process of genetic mutation can be exacerbated through many physiological mechanisms within individual control. For example, an individual may, after many years, have enough

random mutations within his or her lung tissue to develop lung cancer. The length of time required to develop this "mutation load" may be extensive, and the likelihood of this mutation load reaching the point of metastasis, impairing breathing to a degree that would result in death, or outpacing other potentially fatal diseases (e.g. cardiovascular disease) is quite low. If however, he or she chooses to introduce a potent mix of carcinogens into his lungs via smoking, the likelihood of a mutation increases steeply and lung cancer is much more likely to develop over the course of his or her lifetime.

The modification of cancer risk through environmental factors within an individuals control represents an arm of cancer research that is equally important as the work being done on a genomic level, and equally as challenging (Vogelstein et al. 2013). The most appropriate primary outcome for studies investigating how environment and lifestyle (e.g. physical activity levels) may modify cancer risk is the development of cancer. Despite the increasing prevalence of cancer in America, the randomized controlled trials needed to establish causality or efficacy of prevention require very large sample sizes and many years of follow-up, which is quite burdensome on participants and researchers alike. Compounding the difficulty associated with evaluating cancer risk is the fact that cancer is not a singular disease originating from a singular location, but rather a collection of many different diseases with vastly discordant development trajectories (Baird & Caldas 2013). While the goal of cancer treatment is to halt the unregulated cell growth, prevent metastatic spread and eliminate (or vastly prolong) recurrence, the ways in which oncologists accomplish this task is highly dependent on the individual characteristics of the cancer. In order to understand the relationship between

PA and breast cancer recurrence it is necessary to delineate some of the differences and similarities in breast cancer development and treatment.

Breast cancer development

Breast cancer is a carcinoma arising from a mutation in the epithelial cells of the breast tissue, either in the lactiferous ducts or the lobular cells that supply milk to the ducts. The specific cause of the mutation can be multifactorial, however the primary manifestation of the mutation is disruption of one (or more) proliferative signaling pathways, such as PI3K/Akt (Dillon et al. 2007) or Ras-MAPK (Dunn et al. 2005), AND disruption of tumor suppressor pathways such as p53 or PTEN (Weng et al. 1999). The combination of enhanced cellular proliferation and loss of tumor suppression leads to unregulated cell growth, forming a solid and often palpable tumor within the breast tissue. Once detected, the size and growth rate of the solid tumor are then used to stratify the development into a specific stage (0-IV). Stage 0, or carcinoma in situ, is a noninvasive carcinoma that has not spread to surrounding tissue, stages I-III are breast cancers localized to the breast tissue, axillary lymph nodes and chest area, and stage IV is metastatic breast cancer that has spread to other organs of the body (Matsen & Neumayer 2013). These stages represent the progression of the disease, predict much of the physiological manifestations of treatment, and highly influence prognosis.

Since cancer is typically driven by a single mutated cancer stem cell (or several from within the same line of cells), receptors on the surface of the mutated cancer stem cell will be expressed ubiquitously on almost all of the cancerous cells throughout the tumor (Gupta et al. 2009). Tumors expressing the estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) fall under a similar category of hormone receptor positive

cancers, which can be used for treatment as well as prevention by binding to that receptor and delivering drugs or preventing cell replication. The majority of breast cancers are hormone receptor positive cancers (>85%, Britt 2012), and it is common for women diagnosed with ER+ cancer to be given endocrine therapy, designed to inhibit estrogen production or binding, for five to ten years after successful primary treatment (Goss et al. 2016). An additional receptor known as the HER2/neu receptor is not responsive to estrogen-based therapy but does respond to other chemotherapy, notably herceptin. A breast tumor that is negative for ER, PR or HER2 expression is referred to as triple negative breast cancer, a much more worrisome diagnosis due to the lack of chemotherapeutic treatment options and in many cases a much more aggressive mutation.

The specific differences in staging and receptor status are the primary components of cancer diagnosis, and play the largest role in prognosis for successful treatment. More advanced stage (e.g. IIIA) is typically associated with reduced levels of PA following treatment (Mason et al. 2013), which may be due in part to greater fatigue induced by more aggressive chemotherapy (Blaney et al. 2013) or more intensive surgical procedures and lymphedema (Schmitz & Speck, 2010).

Breast cancer treatment

Treatment for breast cancer involves surgery and (when necessary) radiation therapy to remove the cancer localized within the breast and axillary lymph nodes, as well as the use of chemotherapy based on the specific expression of receptors on the surface of the cancerous cells.

Surgery represents the most common treatment for breast cancer, and can range from orthoscopic surgery with minimal invasiveness to a full mastectomy (including the removal of lymph notes and non-breast tissue) that could impact range of motion and lymphatic function (Boquiren et al. 2016). Extensive removal of axillary lymph nodes increases the risk for the development of lymphedema during physical activity, and may contribute to the lower physical activity levels observed in breast cancer survivors (Paskett et al. 2012). Radiation therapy involves targeted use of ionizing radiation to disrupt replication of cancer cells. Fatigue, nausea and localized discomfort or burning may accompany radiation therapy, and can contribute to the cancer-related fatigue and increase in sedentary behavior observed in individuals undergoing cancer treatment (Taunk et al. 2011), albeit to a lesser degree than surgery and chemotherapy.

Chemotherapy involves delivery of compounds and toxins designed to prevent cell replication and thus disrupt tumor growth and viability. Unlike surgery and radiation, chemotherapy is delivered systemically, and therefore has the largest impact on systemic physiology, cardiometabolic disease and physical activity. Chemotherapy may impact physical activity and exercise training both during and after treatment via cardiovascular impairment, nausea-induced anti-emetic use and fatigue. The impact of these three detrimental aspects of chemotherapy on physical activity, cardiometabolic health and cancer recurrence will be discussed in greater detail later in this review.

Women who have been treated for estrogen receptor positive breast cancer will often be prescribed drugs designed to disrupt estrogen binding for five to ten years after conclusion of primary treatment in order to reduce the risk of cancer recurrence. These

drugs, often referred to as secondary treatment, fall into two broad classes that have wideranging effects of metabolism and health.

For many years SERMs (e.g. Tamoxifen) were the primary means by which the potentially mitogenic effects of estrogen were controlled in breast cancer survivors (Chlebowski 2000). This class of drugs binds to the estrogen receptor and exhibits pro- or anti-estrogenic activity, depending on the tissue (Huang et al. 2015). In breast tissue, SERMs play and anti-estrogenic role, inhibiting the cellular activity of estrogen within breast cells. There are several known side effects of SERM use, including clotting disorders and elevated risk of other types of cancer, including endometrial cancer (Chen et al. 2014). Most studies support a beneficial role of SERM use for the prevention of cancer recurrence, and they are currently the most commonly prescribed secondary cancer prevention drugs to premenopausal women (Chojecki et al. 2014), due to their ability to block estrogen binding in certain tissues while allowing estrogen production to continue in the ovaries.

Aromatase inhibitors block the conversion of testosterone and anabolic precursors into estrogens, and, as a result, circulating concentrations of estrogen can be reduced to levels virtually undetectable in circulation. Longitudinal and case-control studies suggest that AI's are more effective in reducing cancer risk than SERMS, with fewer high-risk side effects (e.g. stroke), and they are currently used as the primary means of endocrine therapy for postmenopausal women (Amir et al. 2011). Recently, several studies have advocated for breast cancer survivors to remain on AIs for up to 10 years following remission, with some oncologists recommending lifelong adherence for those that can tolerate the drug and do not manifest many of the side effects (Goss et al. 2016). These

side effects are primarily related to bone and joint health, including an increased risk of osteopenia/osteoporosis (Becker et al. 2012), as well as increased risk of arthralgia and joint pain (Niravath 2013). There is no evidence that AIs interfere with cardiovascular or metabolic health (Younus et al. 2011), however the evidence has primarily focused on their safety, and the long-term evaluation of their efficacy as well as their interaction with other pharmacological agents or lifestyle interventions is still being evaluated (Foglietta et al. 2016).

Summary of cancer development and treatment

Cancer is a multifaceted disease that has at its core genetic mutations that confer a selective growth advantage by increasing cell proliferation and inhibiting or abrogating tumor suppression. These mutations take many years to develop, and solid tumor cancers are often viewed as a disease of aging exacerbated by lifestyle choices (e.g. smoking, inactivity). Breast cancer is a specific type of carcinoma in which the mutation develops in the mammary epithelial tissue. Breast cancer treatment varies based on progression (stage 0-IV) and receptor status, (ER, PR, HER2 +/-; triple negative), and the techniques used to treat breast cancer (surgery and radiation with or without chemotherapy) are employed on a personalized basis with the overall goal of halting progression and preventing recurrence. The physiological manifestations of this personalized treatment include large inter-individual differences in the response to exercise interventions among breast cancer survivors.

Mediators and moderators of cancer development and prognosis

Overview of cardiometabolic health and cancer

While cancer is primarily a genetic disorder associated with aging, 30-50% of cancer cases are directly caused, or exacerbated by, environmental factors and lifestyle choices that may be within individual control (McKenzie et al. 2015). To evaluate the impact of a lifestyle intervention designed to increase physical activity (e.g. exercise training) on cancer recurrence, it is important to understand how physical activity levels and obesity moderate and/or mediate cancer risk. Additionally, the third aim of this project is to evaluate the impact of exercise training on cardiometabolic health in cancer survivors, which requires some background on the overlap between cancer and cardiometabolic disease.

Both incidence and prevalence of obesity and inactivity have risen exponentially over the last 50 years in the United States and abroad (Yang & Colditz, 2015). When combined with an aging population, these twin epidemics of obesity and sedentary behavior have lead to a significant increase in the prevalence and incidence of both cancer-specific and all-cause mortality, which is often the result of cardiometabolic disease (Chang et al. 2013). Investigators who focus on systemic physiology and the response to obesity, sedentary behavior, and lifestyle interventions have recently begun to envelop factors that impact both cardiovascular and metabolic disease under the blanket term "cardiometabolic health." This phrase is beneficial due to the strong relationship between diabetes and cardiovascular disease, the similarity between the general pathology of each disease, and the shared beneficial response to lifestyle interventions targeting obesity and inactivity. The use of cardiometabolic health and disease within this

section and throughout the rest of the document can therefore be interpreted as "cardiovascular and/or metabolic" health and disease, specifically as it pertains to obesity, inactivity, and lifestyle interventions such as exercise training.

Postmenopausal women have a significantly higher risk of developing cancer and/or cardiometabolic disease than premenopausal women (Britt 2012), and both obesity and inactivity contribute to this increased risk (Su et al. 2013). Additionally, postmenopausal women with cardiometabolic disease also have a higher risk of developing cancer or having a cancer recurrence (Eulenberg et al. 2016) compared to postmenopausal women without cardiometabolic disease. The primary aim of this section of the literature review is twofold; 1) to establish the impact of inactivity and obesity on cancer and cardiometaboic disease risk in postmenopausal women and 2) to identify potential areas where a previous cancer diagnosis and treatment places postmenopausal women at greater risk of cardiometabolic disease or cancer than age- and BMI- matched women without a cancer diagnosis. It is important to note that cancer survivors remain susceptible to cancer even if they have been aggressively treated for cancer in the past and been declared cancer free. While a double mastectomy may virtually eliminate the risk of a subsequent breast cancer diagnosis, the risk of developing other cancers remains at least the same, and in many cases may be greater due to side effects of the breast cancer treatment.

Inactivity

Many postmenopausal women do not meet the physical activity guidelines (McTiernan et al. 1998), and this number is even greater in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors (Bluthmann et al. 2015). Sabiston et al. found that breast cancer survivors spend an average of 78% of waking hours sedentary and just 2% of each day engaged in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA). Not only is this volume of sedentary time consistent throughout the first year after treatment, the levels of MVPA decrease as the year progresses (Sabiston et al. 2015). The specific mechanism behind the increased sedentary time and reduced physical activity observed in breast cancer survivors is unclear, however it appears to be closely related to fatigue severity (Bower et al. 2000). Inactive breast cancer survivors are also more likely to report having poor quality of life compared to inactive age- and BMI-matched non-cancer controls (Meeske et al. 2007), which increases the likelihood of developing cardiometabolic disease (Rozenberg et al. 2007).

Paradoxically, women receiving chemotherapy in addition to surgery have significantly lower objectively measured sedentary time and higher MVPA than women who received surgery alone (Phillips et al. 2016), despite the greater fatigue induced by chemotherapy. While the specific nature of the association between objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time and cancer recurrence is still unclear, randomized controlled trials and case-control studies have clearly demonstrated both increased sedentary time and decreased physical activity in cancer survivors contributes to elevated risk of cardiometabolic disease compared to age- and BMI- matched postmenopausal women without a cancer diagnosis (Colditz et al. 2016, Jones et al. 2016, Foraker et al. 2016). Specific interventions designed to increase physical activity through exercise training, and their effects on cardiometabolic health, will be discussed later in this review.

Obesity

Obesity is a significant contributor to both cancer and cardiometabolic disease development (McTiernan 2005, Ndumele et al. 2016), and increases the risk of both all cause and cancer specific mortality after cancer diagnosis (Chang et al. 2013, McTiernan et al. 2010). Recently, the World Cancer Research Fund estimated that 17% of breast cancer diagnoses were a direct result of obesity (WCRF Food, nutrition, physical activity and the prevention of cancer global report, 2014), and Howell et al. estimated that weight loss, coupled with increased physical activity and a reduction in alcohol consumption, would reduce the risk of cancer development by 30% (Howell et al. 2014).

While the increased risk of cardiometabolic disease due to obesity is fairly consistent across the lifespan, this is not the case for the relationship between obesity and breast cancer risk. Overweight and obesity may have a protective effect on breast cancer risk in premenopausal women, but significantly increase the rate of breast cancer development in postmenopausal women (Hsieh et al. 1990, Chlebowski et al. 2015). The direct mechanisms for the discordant relationship between obesity and cancer risk based on menopause status are unclear, but it appears to impact and overlap with several systemic aspects of obesity. For example, one of the hallmarks of obesity-induced increases in cardiometabolic disease risk is the development of insulin resistance and elevated circulating insulin levels. The mechanisms behind insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia will be discussed (in great length) later in this review, however it is important to note that while there is a significant association between insulin and both cancer development and recurrence in postmenopausal women (Goodwin et al. 2008), no

hyperinsulinemia in premenopausal women (Eliassen et al. 2007). The difficulty of studying the relationship between cancer, obesity, and the bioenergetics behind obesity has been well documented, and several large clinical trials are currently underway with the express purpose of clarifying the complex mechanisms behind the obesity-induced increase in cancer risk (Patterson et al. 2010).

Chemotherapy-induced cardiometabolic disease

The primary goal of chemotherapy is to deliver chemicals that will significantly impair or halt the ability of the cancerous cells to grow and/or replicate, however the systemic delivery of chemotherapy can induce profound changes to cardiometabolic health. These changes not only affect women during the months of chemotherapy, but also may impact health outcomes for years.

Several recent studies have identified an unusually high percentage of women who have blood glucose concentrations that move from the normal range into the range of T2D during chemotherapy (JuanJuan et al. 2015). Interestingly, the majority of these cases of chemotherapy-induced transient diabetes are only identified through postprandial glucose and/or hemoglobin A1c values (Lu et al. 2014), suggesting that the common measure of glycemic control during cancer treatment (fasting blood glucose) may be vastly underestimating the impact of chemotherapy on glucose homeostasis. The most likely culprit for this transient diabetes is a combination of reduced physical activity and glucocorticoids regularly given during treatment as anti-emetics. Glucocorticoids increase glucose concentrations through a combination of increased glucose production and decreased insulin sensitivity, and the elevated glucose concentrations mostly return to normal following cessation of treatment (Wu et al. 2015). While there have been no

longitudinal studies investigating the role of glucocorticoid use or elevated blood glucose during cancer treatment as risk factors for the subsequent development of frank T2D, evidence from other situations that induce transient diabetes and/or insulin resistance (e.g. gestational diabetes, polycystic ovary syndrome) suggests this would be highly likely (Appelman et al. 2015).

Cardiovascular fitness and maximal aerobic capacity (VO₂max) represent key predictors of cardiometabolic disease risk, and emerging evidence suggests that many chemotherapeutic agents have a detrimental effect on aerobic fitness. A recent metaanalysis by Peel et al. that evaluated 27 different studies in which VO2max was determined prior to and after chemotherapy found a significant reduction in aerobic fitness due to the chemotherapy, and this could only be partially explained by reduced levels of physical activity (Peel et al. 2014). Jones et al. recently quantified the decline in VO2max following cancer treatment in terms of the age-related decline in cardiorespiratory fitness, and found that a group of women who enter chemotherapy with the average aerobic capacity within the normal range for 60 year old women have aerobic capacity more reflective of 80 year old women following an average of 6 months of treatment (Jones et al. 2016). As discussed in the previous paragraph, this precipitous decline in aerobic fitness following cancer treatment is not met with a vigorous exerciseinduced rebound following completion of treatment, but rather with a decline in MVPA in the year following treatment completion.

Summary of moderators of cancer progression

While the root of cancer is a genetic mutation that confers a selective growth advantage in certain cells, inactivity and obesity both can significantly contribute to cancer development, recurrence and cancer-specific mortality. Additionally, there appears to be a relationship between cardiometabolic disease and cancer recurrence, both as a direct relationship (e.g. women with diabetes are more likely to develop cancer) as well as the shared common root of obesity and inactivity. The systemic impact of inactivity and obesity, as well as the difficulty of measuring the "crosstalk" between many of the tissues and organs that link obesity and inactivity with cardiometabolic health (e.g. adipose tissue, skeletal muscle), have made it difficult to determine the precise mechanistic relationship between cancer and cardiometabolic health. This difficulty is compounded by the large sample size necessary for cancer research; while cancer rates are rising, evaluating cancer risk with the primary outcome of cancer development (or recurrence) still requires large sample sizes and many years of followup. For smaller studies designed to test the efficacy of interventions designed to target inactivity and/or obesity in order to determine the impact on cancer and cardiometabolic disease risk, surrogate measures, such as biomarkers, are required

Biomarkers of cancer development and prognosis

Over the last 20 years several cross-sectional and longitudinal epidemiological studies that are large enough to use cancer diagnosis as a primary outcome, such as the Women's Health Initiative (Thomson et al. 2014), the Nurses Health Study (Eliassen et al. 2010) and NHANES (Lynch et al. 2011), have contributed much to the understanding of cancer risk and prognosis, especially as they pertain to lifestyle factors (e.g. obesity,

inactivity). These epidemiological studies are vital links in the research chain, and have served as the primary "jumping off point" for many subsequent randomized controlled trials, case-control studies and interventions. A major contribution of these longitudinal epidemiological studies was the identification of biomarkers associated with cancer. The strength of these biomarkers with respect to cancer-specific or all-cause mortality is in fairly constant flux, and the associations between these biomarkers and cancer risk range from moderate to weak. Despite this limitation, biomarkers of breast cancer risk and recurrence represent the most viable metric by which intensive short-term (e.g. 3-12 month) lifestyle interventions can study cancer risk in human beings. Many of the biomarkers are not localized to the cancerous tissue, and have wide-ranging effects that are not directly related to tumorigenesis or cellular growth. It is therefore not enough to simply identify the circulating quantities of the biomarker and block (or reduce) it's activity, as that may have wide-ranging detrimental (and potentially life-endangering) effects.

Given the difficulty of using systemic hormones and metabolites as cancer biomarkers, studies making use of them must also include 1) the mechanisms of action of a hormone/metabolite within the specific cancerous tissue 2) the effects of the biomarker on non-cancerous tissue and 3) the potential interaction of two or more biomarkers on cancerous and non-cancerous tissue. This three-pronged approach may appear arduous, especially when one considers that in many cases these biomarkers do not CAUSE cancer (i.e. are carcinogens), but instead increase the RISK of cancer development and/or ENHANCE tumor growth (i.e. are mitogens). However, until biomarkers directly associated with tumorigenesis and/or genetic profiling can be identified, understanding

the nature and interaction of biomarkers associated with risk of recurrence is critical for interpreting projects in which a relationship between metabolism and cancer must be established.

Insulin

Insulin is a peptide hormone secreted from the pancreas that has wide-ranging metabolic effects on many different tissues throughout the body. Insulin is a primary anabolic hormone, and the majority of the effects of insulin on cellular tissue are to induce nutrient uptake, storage and cell growth. Several other studies have identified a relationship between hyperinsulinemia, poor breast cancer treatment prognosis (Ahern et al. 2013), and increased risk of breast cancer recurrence (Irwin et al. 2011), However, these findings are by no means uniform, and other researchers have either observed very weak or absent relationships (Minatoya et al. 2013, Sieri et al. 2012), or have been unable to disentangle hyperinsulinemia from the myriad inter-related concurrent symptoms of obesity and/or metabolic syndrome that have *all* been identified as potential mediators or moderators of breast cancer risk (Capasso et al. 2013). In order to clarify the potential role of hyperinsulinemia as a causal mechanism of increased risk of breast cancer recurrence, an investigation into the cellular relationship between insulin and cancer development is warranted.

The intricate relationship between insulin and insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) is often cited as the primary means by which circulating insulin can induce cellular proliferation, but insulin alone can provide enough impetus to cause aberrant cellular growth (Rostoker et al. 2013). The signaling pathways induced by insulin are farreaching and varied, however the ones most associated with cellular proliferation are the
PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways (Weinstein et al. 2009). Briefly, insulin binds to a tyrosine kinase receptor on the surface of the cell, which activates insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) and induces phosphorylation cascades through the activation of PI3K and MAPK. The phosphorylation of PI3K induces the phosphorylation of Akt, mTOR and p70S6k, while phosphorylation of MAPK induces the phosphorylation of the Ras/ERK/MEK pathway, both of which induce cell proliferation (Weinberg 2008). Mutations in these pathways are often present in all types of cancer, and can represent the acceleration of proliferation that is akin to "stepping on the gas pedal" which, when combined with loss of tumor suppressor genes, leads to unchecked cell growth and tumorigenesis.

Both insulin and the genetic mutations that induce cancer cell proliferation activate similar phosphorylation cascades, and indeed several studies have demonstrated a strong relationship between exposure to insulin and cell proliferation in cancer cell models (Milazzo et al. 1997, Rostoker et al. 2013). Additionally, blocking the PI3K signal cascade appears to reduce the size of mammary tumors in a hyperinsulinemic mouse breast cancer model (Gallagher et al. 2012, Novosyadlyy et al. 2010), albeit with the unfortunate side effect of severe hyperglycemia. The specific mechanism behind any potential mitogenic action of insulin is poorly understood, likely due to the intricacy of the signaling cascade. In addition to the role insulin may play in tumorigenesis through overactivation of these critical phosphorylase cascades, hyperinsulinemia may also increase the activity of insulin receptors themselves, another potential mechanism of cancer cell proliferation (Gallagher et al. 2013). Finally, it has recently been demonstrated that insulin suppresses the metabolic intermediate PTEN, a potent tumor

suppressor that inhibits PI3K/Akt pathway expression (Liu et al. 2013). This suggests that hyperinsulinemia may be helping cells "step on the gas" through enhanced proliferation and "take the foot off of the brake" through inhibition of tumor suppression <u>at the same</u> <u>time</u>.

There are several limitations in generalizing the results of these cell culture and mouse model studies to systemic human cancer development. First, these studies often are demonstrating proof of concept through activation of a specific signal cascade intermediate, and therefore insulin exposure is often higher and of greater duration than what would normally be observed in even the most hyperinsulinemic individuals. Along similar lines, even those studies that reduce the insulin exposure to physiological levels use static exposure, which does not represent the cyclical insulin release in humans.

While the precise mechanisms are unclear there is consensus that insulin represents a mitogenic, rather than carcinogenic, compound on a cellular level (Call et al. 2010). If we equate the spread of cancer to an uncontrolled wildfire, insulin likely does not provide the spark that triggers the mutation leading to cancer. But hyperinsulinemia may add fuel to that spark, allowing a fire to grow where it would otherwise not via overexpression of PI3K/MAPK pathways, enhanced insulin receptor activity, and inhibition of tumor suppressor activity. Additionally, it appears that the mitogenic response to hyperinsulinemia is highly variable (Beelen et al. 2014, Baxi et al. 2012). To extend the wildfire analogy to its terminus, in some cases the hyperinsulinemia plays a minimal role, such as a few leaves on a blazing bonfire, however in others hyperinsulinemia behaves more like dumping lighter fluid on a candle. It is unclear what specifically causes insulin to show such a high degree of variability, and further research

in this area is required before any definitive conclusions may be made regarding the direct cellular influence of insulin on cancer development. In addition to this direct role of insulin as a biomarker of cancer development, the myriad roles of insulin throughout the body create several other mechanisms by which hyperinsulinemia can mediate or modify cancer risk. The two areas that appear to contribute the most in breast cancer are through the homology and cross-reactivity between insulin and insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) and through the effects of insulin on the activity of the sex hormones, specifically estrogen.

Insulin-like growth factors and binding proteins

IGFs represent a distinct class of molecules with high sequence homology to insulin (hence the name), but with markedly different physiological roles and regulation. Structurally these molecules exist in a complex composed of one of the two specific factors (IGF-1 and IGF-2) and are typically associated with one of six binding proteins (IGFBP1-6) (Rosen et al. 1991). Unbound IGFs bind to two different types of receptors (IGFR1 and IGFR2) that induce cellular proliferation and growth through interaction with growth hormone (Vottero et al. 2013). IGF-1 is the primary circulating IGF in adults, and is found in almost every tissue in the body. The ubiquitous nature of IGF-1 as one of the, if not the, primary regulators of cell growth (including exercise-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy) results in widely discordant and opaque views on the role of IGF-1 in health, aging and disease (Berryman et al. 2008). Liver production and secretion is primarily responsible for circulating (as opposed to tissue specific) IGF-1 and the proportion of IGF-1 bound to associated IGFBPs dictates its physiological activity.

IGFBP1 and IGFBP3 appear to bind to IGF-1, hindering its ability to bind to the IGF1R and induce cell proliferation and growth (Yeap et al. 2011).

Results have been mixed (Shernhammer et al. 2006), but current epidemiological evidence suggests that elevated IGF-1 levels positively correlate with ER+ breast cancer development in women over 50 (Key et al. 2010, Kaaks et al. 2013). Additionally, the ratio of IGF-1/IGFBP3 has been widely used as a metric to assess the bioactivity of the IGF system in the development of all forms of breast cancer, with positive associations between IGF-1/IGFBP3 ratio and mortality in breast cancer survivors (Duggan et al. 2013). The reasons behind a specific type (ER+) and age range being more susceptible to breast cancer are unknown, however it is possible that there is some interaction between IGF-1 and estrogen, which will be discussed later in this section. Elevated IGF-1 and Reduced IGFBP also appear to be related to hyperinsulinemia and may combine synergistically to increase the risk of cancer development (Malin et al. 2004). The precise nature of the relationship between insulin binding to the insulin receptors and IGF-1 secretion from the liver is unclear, however recent studies suggest that it may be a result of *hyperinsulinemia interfering with the actions of IGFBP3 and its binding affinity with IGF-1*, thus increasing the bioavailable supply of circulating IGF-1 (Yamada et al. 2010, Kaaks et al. 2001).

The close homology between insulin and IGF-1, as well as their cellular receptors, may serve as an additional means by which hyperinsulinemia increases the risk for breast cancer development and/or recurrence. For many years it was a mystery how vast differences between insulin signaling (nutrient uptake, metabolism) and IGF-1 signaling (cell proliferation and growth) could exist despite the close homology between insulin

receptors (IRs) and IGF receptors (IGFRs) and the virtually identical signal transduction cascades. Work in the late 1990s identified a specific set of pre-receptor ligand binding interactions between IGF and IGFBPs that effectively "set up" the system for the appropriate phosphorylation and cellular result (Mynarcik et al. 1997). However, just as this mystery was being solved IR/IGFR hybrids were identified (Federici et al. 1998), and these receptors were responsive to both insulin and IGF-1 (Belfiore et al. 2009). These receptors typically exist in extremely small quantities, however they become hyperactive and overexpressed in many cancer cells, including breast cancer cells (Pandini et al. 1999). Results from several studies using a breast cancer mouse model generated by LeRoith and colleagues suggests that the overexpression of IR/IGFR hybrids in the presence of systemic hyperinsulinemia results in enhanced risk of breast cancer development and greater tumor load (Novosyadlyy et al. 2010).

The specific role that these IR/IGFR hybrids may play after diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer in humans is unclear, however it provides a secondary mechanism by which high insulin and/or high IGF-1 may activate the PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways and increase the risk for recurrence of breast cancer after treatment.

Sex hormones

There has been extensive research into the role of sex hormones, specifically estrogens (e.g. 17-b estradiol) and their receptors, on the development of breast cancer. Thoroughly delineating the relationship between estrogen and breast cancer would encompass an entire literature review, however there are several key concepts that have bearing on this project, and therefore warrant discussion. For simplicity, all subsequent information presented in this section will be with respect to postmenopausal women.

There are several key manifestations of this distinction. First, while premenopausal women produce estrogen in the ovary (which may enhance cardiometabolic protection), postmenopausal women produce estrogen primarily in adipose tissue. This estrogen production is under the primary regulation of a complex of enzymes known as aromatase, which converts androgens into estrogen within the adipocytes (Bulun et al. 2012). In addition to the activity in the adipose tissue, aromatase can become highly active in the adipocytes of the breast, greatly increasing the local concentrations of estrogen (Sebastian et al. 2002). Since this aromatase activity is localized in adipose tissue and adipocytes, there is a high degree of correlation between fat tissue and circulating estrogen concentrations in postmenopausal women (Perry et al. 1998). Additionally, a strong correlation exists between circulating estrogens and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women (Zhang et al. 2013, Licznerska et al. 2008), suggesting that adipocyte-derived estrogen plays a significant role in breast cancer development and recurrence.

This correlation also appears to hold for androgen levels (Folkerd, 2013), which represent the precursors for estrogen. Approximately 75-85% of breast cancers are ER+ or PR+ (Glass et al. 2007), and often exhibit overexpression of estrogen receptors on the surface of cancer cells. The elevated circulating estrogen concentrations derived from adipose tissue may initiate a signaling cascade by activating these receptors, leading to cell proliferation and growth which is enhanced through the localized estrogen production in the adipocytes of breast tissue. In support of this correlation between obesity, estrogen and cancer risk, weight loss appears to significantly reduce circulating estrogen concentrations in postmenopausal women as well as significantly reduce the risk of cancer development. This risk reduction occurs regardless of whether that weight loss

is achieved via diet (Wasserman et al. 2004), physical activity (Friedenreich et al. 2011) or their combination (Carpenter et al. 2012), provided the primary means of this weight loss is through reductions in adiposity.

Insulin appears to play an active role in estrogen production within the adipocytes by increasing a specific type of aromatase activity that converts androstenedione to estrone (McTernan et al. 2000), which can then either be released into the general circulation as estrone or undergo an additional conversion to estradiol prior to subsequent release. The magnitude of this increased production of estrone and estradiol due to hyperinsulinemia is not clear, however it appears to occur in all adipose tissue and breast cancer cell models (Lisztwan et al. 2008), indicating that the specific magnitude of effect would be increased with higher degrees of insulin and/or greater volume of adipose tissue. In addition to regulating production of estrogen, hyperinsulinemia can also modify bioactive adipose-derived estrogen concentrations by reducing the activity of sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), which attaches to estrogens and androgens and deactivates them (Tymchuk et al. 2000). SHBG is produced by the liver in response to circulating estrogen and androgen concentrations, however it has a high degree of negative regulation through the activity of several primary hormones and growth factors, most significantly insulin and IGF-1 (Kaaks et al. 2005). This downregulation of SHBG occurs in the liver at the site of production, and can partially explain results from studies in which a change in circulating insulin concentrations can drive a change in circulating estrogen concentration with no apparent change in body fat (Zeleniuch-Jacquette et al. 2004).

The significant variability of cancer development, essentially a progressive genetic disease, and the interrelatedness of symptoms associated with obesity and metabolic disease causes much debate over the impact of biomarkers in the progression of cancer. There is a positive association between circulating estrogen concentrations on the risk for developing postmenopausal (ER+) breast cancer, despite the low levels of estrogens within this population. Aromatase inhibition via pharmacotherapy has become quite common, and one of the outcomes of aromatase inhibition is to drive concentrations of circulating estradiol well below detectable assay limits, a significant challenge to studies attempting to address the relationships between postmenopausal estradiol concentrations and health outcomes after primary breast cancer treatment (Rosner et al. 2013). Additionally, aromatase inhibition may significantly alter SHBG concentrations. Several studies have identified both significant increases and significant decreases in SHBG following aromatase inhibition (Bajetta et al. 1999, Boeddinghaus et al. 2001) and the appropriateness of using SHBG as a surrogate measure for estradiol in postmenopausal women is unclear. Thus, while estradiol represents a prime candidate for the assessment of intervention efficacy (based on the high correlation with cancer risk and recurrence), that rapidly increasing number of women taking aromatase inhibitors and the difficulty of assessing postmenopausal estradiol concentrations may necessitate using alternative measures, such as SHBG and estrone. This limitation will be discussed further in chapter III.

Adipokines

The role of leptin and adiponectin in breast cancer has recently generated large amounts of research. One contributing factor to this is the identification of leptin expression in mammary epithelial cells, a primary location for mutations leading to breast cancer development. Leptin has wide-ranging systemic effects on a variety of tissues, but is currently viewed as both a regulator of energy balance and an inflammatory adipokine. Estrogen production in adipose tissue is highly promoted by leptin (Binai et al. 2013), and circulating leptin levels are correlated with aromatase activity (Maccio et al. 2010). Leptin could therefore serve as a surrogate marker for the effects of exercise on aromatase activity in postmenopausal women taking aromatase inhibitors. These women would not register significant levels of circulating estrogen, but may have locally active estrogen acting in a paracrine fashion to enhance breast cancer risk. Another interesting and potentially relevant aspect of leptin is the signaling pathway activated by the binding of leptin to its receptor. While insulin and IGF-1 enhance cellular proliferation through PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways, leptin appears to enhance cell proliferation through the JAK/STAT pathway (Sharma et al. 2006). This would therefore suggest that a mutation residing on this pathway may not be enhanced by hyperinsulinemia but may be enhanced by hyperleptinemia. As researchers begin to view leptin as hormone that shares some similarity with insulin with respect to disease development and impact (however with daily peaks and nadirs much more narrow than those of insulin), investigations into the role of leptin as a contributor to metabolism in both health and disease are critical.

Adiponectin is also a hormone secreted from adipocytes that may play a role as a biomarker for breast cancer development, however it appears to have an inverse relationship with cancer risk (Liu et al. 2013). The mechanisms by which adiponectin may influence breast cancer development are unclear, however it has been proposed to be related to insulin and IGF-1 activity (Duggan et al. 2011). Adiponectin also displays an

inverse relationship with circulating estrogen levels (Cleary et al. 2009), but any potential causal interactions have not been identified. Similar to leptin, it appears that adiponectin may work via a PI3K/Akt independent pathway, in this case through direct modification of AMPK (Kim et al. 2009). The adipokines therefore represent a highly intriguing secondary area of interest in studies in which the primary focus centers on insulin/IGF-1 because these hormones often alter cellular metabolism independently of the PI3K/Akt phosphorylation cascade.

Summary of biomarkers

The current literature on biomarkers associated with physical activity and breast cancer recurrence centers around three overlapping and interrelated pathways with two potential alternatives. First, insulin itself may act as a potent mitogenic compound, directly activating the PI3K/Akt pathway and potentially blocking the tumor suppressors that regulate this pathway. Secondly, high levels of IGF-1 may stimulate cell proliferation, and this may be in part regulated via insulin's' effects on IGFBP3 activity and shared sequence and receptor homology. Finally, aromatization of androgens to estradiol in adipose tissue represents a significant risk factor for breast cancer development, and this process may also be modulated in part by the degree of insulin and IGF-1 exposure. In addition to these primary mediators and moderators of breast cancer risk, systemic low-grade inflammation and adipokines may provide alternative means by which the environment may modify breast cancer development. *In all of these cases it is not necessarily the exposure to a specific hormone/factor that induces breast cancer, but rather the <u>magnitude and/or combinations of exposure</u>. Unlike specific (and avoidable)*

carcinogens, it is virtually impossible to eliminate these hormones and factors from the body, and in many cases it would be unwise to try and do so.

Assessing the degree of systemic exposure to biomarkers traditionally involves measuring them at a singular, well-controlled timepoint. This is not unreasonable, and while there may be slight variations in the majority of these hormones over the course of the day it is typically on a relatively small order of magnitude. This is not the case however when it comes to insulin. The role of insulin to induce glucose uptake and initiate many of the cellular processes involved in nutrient storage require it to be highly variable over the course of the day. Indeed, the pancreas is capable of increasing insulin production up to 25x that of basal levels (Ferrannini, 2010), and upwards of 70% of the insulin to which an individual may be exposed is primarily in response to a meal, as opposed to the fasted state when insulin is generally assessed. In order to thoroughly understand the relationship between insulin and breast cancer risk, as well as the modification of that relationship through exercise training, it is necessary to understand the behavior of insulin as a hormone, especially in its primary role as the regulator of glycemic control.

Postprandial insulin and insulin supply and demand

Several epidemiological studies have identified a potential relationship between insulin and breast cancer risk and/or risk of recurrence (Irwin et al. 2011, Goodwin et al. 2012). Most notably, Goodwin and colleagues have consistently shown over the last decade that not only is there a relationship between circulating insulin concentrations and breast cancer (Goodwin et al. 2009, Goodwin et al. 2002), but that immediate treatment with the anti-diabetes drug metformin after breast cancer diagnosis leads to a

significantly better prognosis in hyperinsulinemic women (Niraula et al. 2012, Goodwin & Stambolic 2011). This data is consistent with an unexpected finding that individuals taking metformin for its anti-hyperglycemic properties were somewhat less likely to develop breast cancer (Bodmer et al. 2010). Insulin may play a role in the regulation of cancer risk, but studies investigating this role have traditionally fit into either cellular mechanistic studies or population-based epidemiological studies, which have potential limitations in their applicability to case-control or randomized controlled trials.

Concentrations of insulin, as mentioned previously, do not exist as a fixed and stable value throughout the day. Instead, insulin rises and falls due to meals given its role as a secretory hormone responsible for nutrient uptake and metabolism. While certainly not exclusive, the primary role of insulin in systemic physiology is glycemic control, or the maintenance of glucose homeostasis. In skeletal muscle, this involves initiating the translocation of GLUT-4 glucose transporters to the surface of the cell, inducing glucose uptake (Goodyear & Kahn 1998). In the liver, insulin causes cessation of hepatic glucose production by inhibition of gluconeogenenesis and hepatic glycogenolysis (Wahren & Ekberg 2008). *The degree of insulin required by these tissues to accomplish these tasks represents <u>the insulin demand</u>, or insulin sensitivity. Given the negative health outcomes associated with hyperglycemia, the beta cells of the pancreas are quick to modify insulin supply to match any changes in muscle and/or liver demand.*

Should insulin supply exceed insulin demand (as is often the case with pancreatic tumors), glucose levels will decline and there is severe risk of hypoglycemia. Likewise, should insulin supply fail to match insulin demand, hyperglycemia and Type II Diabetes (T2D) is likely. Diagnoses of T2D have reached epidemic proportions through a

combination of obesity- and age-associated increases in incidence and prevalence. Estimates now suggest that by the year 2050 one in three people in America over the age of 50 will be present some form of dysglycemia (either prediabetes or frank T2D) (Boyle et al. 2010), making it one of the nations' most pressing health concerns. Given the increased prevalence of both T2D and cancer, by 2050 breast cancer survivors presenting with prediabetes or T2D <u>may become the norm, rather than a minority subset of the</u> <u>breast cancer survivor population.</u> The development of T2D centers on the dynamic closed-loop relationship between insulin secretion and both hepatic and peripheral (e.g. skeletal muscle) insulin action, and this relationship may play a role in the risk of breast cancer recurrence.

The role of insulin in the progression of T2D

The closed-loop relationship between insulin supply and insulin demand has made isolating the physiological mechanisms of worsening glucose tolerance difficult, however the development of the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp "opened the loop" and provided a direct assessment of whole body insulin sensitivity (DeFronzo et al. 1979). This newfound ability to isolate whole body insulin demand contributed to the idea of a singular "pathophysiology" of T2D, in which skeletal muscle insulin resistance induced by obesity, inactivity, and/or genetic predisposition was the initial insult to glycemic control (Bonadonna et al. 1990). To compensate for this reduced insulin action, adaptations occur within the beta cells of the pancreas that increase circulating insulin concentrations and "overcome" both the ineffective insulin-mediated glucose uptake and reduced suppression of hepatic glucose production in order to maintain circulating glucose concentrations within a tight range (Festa et al. 2006).

Insulin-resistant individuals can thus maintain normal glucose tolerance, provided that they maintain enough compensatory hyperinsulinemia to match the higher insulin demand. Eventually however, some combination of genetic factors, aging and consistent hypersecretion of insulin causes the pancreatic beta cells to fail to produce enough insulin to match the prevailing insulin demand (Kanat et al. 2012). In this period, commonly referred to as 'beta cell dysfunction,' blood glucose begins to rise into the range of prediabetes, and the elevated blood glucose exacerbates the beta cell dysfunction. This has led to a view of a homeostatic negative feedback loop between insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion that is maintained until the beta cells, weary after (in some cases) years and decades contending with elevated insulin demand, cannot maintain glycemic control, and glucose homeostasis enters into a positive feedback loop that invariably results in the development of T2D (DeFronzo & Abdul-Ghani 2009). While this linear disease trajectory may be appropriate with respect to the development of T2D, several interactions between exercise training and insulin supply/demand make T2D prevention a more complicated situation.

Insulin demand (sensitivity)

The unique ability of insulin to both induce glucose uptake (primarily) in the skeletal muscle and suppress glucose production in the liver manifest as two distinct metrics of insulin demand. Given the critical nature of insulin resistance as a primary link between obesity/inactivity and T2D, there has been much research into how insulin resistance develops in both skeletal muscle and the liver. The specific mechanism is still unclear, but insulin resistance in skeletal muscle appears to manifest downstream from both the surface receptor and the upper aspects of the phosphorylase cascade (PI3K/Akt)

(Johnson & Olefsky 2013), such that insulin binds normally to its receptor, PI3K/Akt gets turned on, but the signal gets lost along the way to the GLUT-4 receptors and they never translocate to the surface. Glucose uptake can also be hindered by a loss of total GLUT-4 receptors in the case of obesity and inactivity (Bienso et al. 2012). It is unclear what molecular signal induces the compensatory increases insulin supply to overcome this insulin resistance, however the additional insulin binding to receptors on the surface of skeletal muscle provides enough impetus to drive enough GLUT-4 translocation to maintain adequate glucose uptake. Since these GLUT-4 receptors are only active in the insulin stimulated (i.e. postmeal) state, changes to skeletal muscle insulin demand have a much larger effect on postprandial insulin secretion than on fasting insulin secretion(Daily 2003). It is common for highly inactive people to have *relatively normal* fasting insulin levels but require large amounts of insulin during and after a meal to induce glucose uptake lower blood glucose and.

Liver insulin resistance is different from skeletal muscle in that abnormalities to insulin demand are reflected in both fasting and postmeal glycemic regulation. In the fasted state, the liver is responsible for producing sufficient amounts of glucose in order to maintain adequate circulating concentrations. The importance of this task cannot be overstated; if you do not produce glucose from the liver by creating it (gluconeogenesis) and/or breaking down stored liver glycogen, hypoglycemia can be common and debilitating. Hyperinsulinemia in the fasted state is therefore a reflection of the amount of insulin required to maintain this normal production of glucose from the liver (Basu et al. 2013). Because glucose concentrations following a meal are high enough to keep the brain operating, the role of liver insulin demand in the postmeal state shifts towards

suppressing the (now superfluous) production of glucose. This leads to a fairly clear distinction between the role of liver and skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity, based on the presence or absence of elevated circulating glucose concentrations. The insulin levels observed in the fasted state represent the interaction between liver insulin demand and pancreatic beta cell insulin supply, whereas the insulin levels observed in the fed state are a reflection of the interaction between; 1) liver insulin demand (to suppress endogenous glucose production), 2) skeletal muscle insulin demand (to initiate glucose uptake) and 3) beta cell insulin supply (Matveyenko et al. 2008). We, and others, have observed discordance between skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity and hepatic insulin sensitivity (Braun et al. in preparation, Faerch et al. 2010). The correlation between liver and skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity is not strong enough that one may serve as a surrogate for the other, and this may have wide-ranging implications on the conclusions drawn in many studies investigating the influence of insulin and diabetes on breast cancer risk or recurrence.

Insulin supply and beta cell function

Insulin demand is the primary driver of insulin supply, but there are several distinct ways that the pancreas and liver can accomplish the task of meeting the demand. Insulin, as mentioned previously, is formed in the beta cells of the pancreas through the process of cleaving proinsulin into insulin and C-peptide. This cleaving takes place inside the vesicles, and therefore C-peptide and insulin leave the beta cells of the pancreas in an equimolar ratio (Polonsky & Rubenstein 1984). A certain percentage of these vesicles lie attached to the cell membrane of the beta cells and are released extremely quickly in response to a rise in circulating glucose, but other vesicles are located deeper within the

beta cells and take longer to release their stored insulin in response to both glucose and other signals, such as free fatty acids and incretins (Hatakeyama et al. 2006). This results in a distinct secretory pattern in which insulin is released very quickly with the first exposure of glucose (known as the acute insulin response, or AIR), followed by a second slower phase of insulin secretion. The relationship between these phases of insulin secretion and diabetes risk are fairly well established (Cobelli et al. 2007), however their role in breast cancer risk or risk of recurrence is unknown.

Prior to reaching the general circulation, a portion of the insulin produced by the pancreas is extracted and degraded by the liver in a process referred to as first-pass hepatic insulin extraction (HE) (Campioni et al. 2009). The percentage of insulin extracted through HE is highly variable, such that severely insulin resistant individuals (i.e. those requiring a high degree of hyperinsulinemia to maintain glycemic control) may extract minimal amounts of insulin (Andreev et al. 2009, Tura et al. 2001). In order to get an accurate assessment of insulin secretion from the beta cells (beta-cell function), interventions often use C-peptide instead of insulin to quantify changes to insulin secretion and the effects of interventions on the pancreas. The precise metabolites and signaling pathways that influence hepatic extraction are poorly understood, and several researchers have noted that HE and insulin degradation in general represents a remarkably understudied area of research (Bonnet et al. 2011). Given the importance of the liver in relation to many of the risk factors associated with cancer development (e.g. SHBG, IGF-1), the assessment of HE along with insulin may represent a fruitful area of research with respect to interventions.

To return to the study in which the relationship between insulin resistance and biomarkers of breast cancer risk was determined based on the change in fasting C-peptide (Fairey et al. 2003), it should now be evident that these conclusions may be an oversimplification of the actual effect of the exercise intervention. The C-peptide concentration reflects the function and adaptation of the beta cell and not necessarily the action of the affector hormone (insulin). Additionally, the assessment of insulin resistance in the fasted state may not be capturing the change to insulin demand in the postprandial state, which may be important considering the role of exercise to modify postmeal hyperinsulinemia and the uncertainty about total or fasting insulin exposure in the risk for breast cancer recurrence.

Clinical role of the disruption of insulin supply and demand

In order to assess the impact of insulin supply and demand on the risk for breast cancer, it would make the most sense to include individuals with prediabetes who display marked hyperinsulinemia. Prediabetes exists as an intermediate metabolic state between normal glucose homeostasis and T2D, and is primarily characterized by mild hyperglycemia and exaggerated hyperinsulinemia. Compared to T2D, insulin levels are higher in this prediabetic stage, and it has been recently reported that *the risk for breast cancer development is higher in individuals with prediabetes than in those with normal glycemic control or frank T2D* (Onitilo et al. 2014). Additionally, the largest magnitude of change in insulin concentrations following exercise training is seen in individuals with prediabetes, which is likely due to a confluence of factors associated with the pathophysiology of T2D. Individuals with prediabetes are close to maximally insulin resistant, however they retain the ability to secrete considerable amounts of insulin

(Abdul-Ghani et al. 2006). Reducing insulin supply by reducing insulin demand (in the form of exercise induced increase in insulin sensitivity) will preserve beta cell function and significantly prolong the time in which normal circulating glucose concentrations can be maintained (Utzschneider et al. 2004). Additionally, the reduction in insulin concentrations in individuals with prediabetes following exercise training often approaches 10-20% in the fasted state and 30-50% in the postprandial state (Jenkins & Hagberg 2011, Malin et al. 2013), which may represent a significant reduction in risk of breast cancer recurrence and warrants a more complete understanding of the precise mechanisms involved.

Interventions to better match insulin supply and demand

Given the role of mismatched insulin supply and demand in diabetes pathophysiology, it is not surprising that researchers have focused a large volume of research on interventions that may better match insulin supply and demand. While exercise training significantly increases whole body insulin sensitivity (Malin et al. 2013) and likely leads to concomitant reductions in insulin supply, pharmacological agents such as metformin likely exert a tissue-specific effect (Viollet & Foretz, 2013). While it is unlikely that metformin and exercise training work together to improve specific components of systemic insulin supply and demand (Malin et al. 2013, 2014, Jenkins et al. 2014), it is possible that they have unique tissue specific effects. **Therefore, the purpose of Study 1 of this dissertation was to investigate the role of exercise training and/or metformin on tissue-specific components of insulin supply and demand. This may provide insight into the specific means by which exercise training can modify breast cancer risk and/or improve prognosis in breast cancer survivors.**

Summary of insulin supply and demand

Insulin is the primary hormone responsible for maintaining glycemic control, and circulating insulin concentrations have wide-ranging applicability in health and disease. While the assessment of insulin concentrations in the fasted state may present a snapshot of metabolic health, it is by no means exclusive and all encompassing. There is evidence that insulin levels may play a role in cancer recurrence, however an individuals insulin exposure may be widely discordant based on that individuals particular supply and demand. Insulin demand can be identified through skeletal muscle, liver, fasting and postmeal effects. Insulin supply includes not only the actions of the beta cell increasing or decreasing secretion, but also that of the liver breaking down a certain percentage before it reaches the general circulation. Conclusions and inferences based on relationships between insulin supply and demand and markers for breast cancer risk may be failing to capture areas in which hyperinsulinemia, glycemic control and breast cancer risk overlap. Both hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance have been suggested to be moderators of breast cancer recurrence, however not all insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia are created equal. Many aspects of the interactions between hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance and breast cancer risk have not been thoroughly investigated. This lack of information can have direct effects on several aspects of glycemic control not traditionally assessed in breast cancer survivorship studies, including those using exercise training.

Exercise, hyperinsulinemia and breast cancer

The relatively recent obesity epidemic has triggered interest in the relationship between physical activity, metabolic outcomes, and diseases such as cancer. As mentioned previously, the link between physical activity and cancer development appears to be fairly consistent across all types of solid tumor cancers (Courneya et al. 2013, McTiernan 2003), and the consensus based on these large cross-sectional epidemiological studies is that individuals who engage in physical activity have approximately 10-25% lower risk of developing breast cancer than highly sedentary individuals (Ballard-Barbash et al. 2012, Irwin et al. 2003). Additionally, several observational studies suggest that breast cancer survivors who habitually engage in walking or other aerobic activities reduce their risk of all cause and cancer specific death by up to 70% (Holmes et al. 2005, Holick et al. 2008). This relationship between PA and cancer recurrence has generated research into prospective mechanisms behind this risk reduction.

Randomized controlled trials of exercise training in breast cancer

In 2010 the American College of Sports Medicine released an evidence-based position stand on the relationship and efficacy of exercise training to improve outcomes related to cancer (Schmitz et al. 2010). In it, they identified 32 prospective randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that investigated the relationship between an exercise training program and health outcomes in breast cancer survivors. The results of these studies all seem to suggest that exercise training in breast cancer survivors is safe and leads to improvements in fitness and quality of life similar to those benefits seen in age and sexmatched controls. One of the limitations noted by the authors of this position stand was the relative paucity of information with respect to metabolic outcomes. Of the 32 RCTs

included, less than 10 collected any type of blood metabolites, and very few of those did so with specific transdisciplinary goals in mind, such as the role of exercise training to modify the relationship between breast cancer survivorship and CVD. Indeed, it was this paucity of data that likely spurred on several aspects of the current Transdisiplinary Research on Energetics and Cancer (TREC) initiative (Patterson et al. 2013(a)), composed of several large RCTs designed to investigate the relationship between cancer and a host of physiological variables, such as insulin resistance. Several of these TREC projects include exercise training and/or increased PA as the means by which they modify energetics and potentially manipulate health outcomes, including a major wing of the project investigating the role of insulin in breast cancer (Patterson et al. 2013 (a)). These projects were all initiated in 2011 (with study designs published) and given a fiveyear window to complete before the information will be reduced and released in a singular document, and until 2016 we are left to speculate with respect to what they will find. Given the relatively few published studies investigating metabolic outcomes in breast cancer survivors it is beneficial to identify their specific methods and outcomes, specifically highlighting any relationship between exercise, insulin/glycemic control and markers of breast cancer risk.

One of the first studies to investigate the role of insulin to moderate the effects of exercise in breast cancer survivors was published in 2003 by Fairey and colleagues at the University of Alberta (Fairey et al. 2003). This study included 52 postmenopausal stage I-III breast cancer survivors randomized into 3x/week of cycle ergometry for 15 weeks (n=24) or control (n=28). The primary outcomes of this study were fasting insulin, IGF-1, IGFBP and insulin resistance (assessed by homeostasis model assessment, or HOMA, the

product of fasting insulin and glucose and an algorithmic constant). They observed <u>no</u> <u>differences in insulin</u> or insulin resistance following the 15 weeks of exercise training, however they did observe statistically significant decreases in IGF-1 and increases in IGFBP3, leading to a significant change in the IGF-1/IGFBP3 ratio.

The results from this study would therefore suggest that exercise training may have a significant impact on risk of breast cancer recurrence, however this risk reduction does not occur as a result of a change in insulin concentrations or insulin sensitivity. This conclusion is limited in scope however, as the effects of insulin and insulin resistance were evaluated only through fasting insulin concentrations, which also serves as the basis for their modeling of insulin resistance. Since exercise training manifests primarily in reductions in postprandial insulin concentrations (as a reflection of increased skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity), it is likely that assessing fasting insulin concentrations alone was not enough to capture the full modifications to glycemic control brought on by the exercise training intervention. In fact, one of the interesting aspects of this study was that fasting insulin concentrations in the exercise group slightly increased following the exercise training, rather than decreasing (as was expected) or staying the same (as was the case with the control group). This was not commented upon by the researchers, however it is not a unique finding. Other researchers have observed slight increases in fasting insulin and/or glucose levels following the initiation of an exercise program as the mechanisms controlling fasting insulin supply and demand attempt to adjust to potentially large changes in postmeal insulin supply and demand (Winnick et al. 2008, Yates et al. 2010). This behavior of fasting insulin may therefore represent a manifestation of changes in postmeal insulin levels that were not addressed in the study.

Ligibel and colleagues (Ligibel et al. 2008, Ligibel et al. 2009) attempted to build on the conclusions of the previously described study by incorporating resistance training and including a slightly larger number of participants (n=40 for the exercise group). This study achieved remarkable control for an exercise training study in which 40 women did supervised resistance training, and the results from this intervention suggest that this program was enough to induce moderate changes in insulin concentrations. These changes in insulin and insulin resistance were significant over time, and were trending towards significance when compared to the control group. In addition to the standard limitation of *using fasting insulin concentrations* as a marker for daily glycemic control, the women in this study were remarkably metabolically healthy. While the criteria for enrollment in this study almost exactly matched the study by Fairey et al. (mostly postmenopausal breast cancer survivors with BMI>28 and exercising <15 min/wk), their fasting glucose (85 mg/dL) and insulin (8 uU/mL) are in the optimal range for this population. It is therefore possible that the results from this study may be difficult to interpret based on the health of the participants and the relative lack of improvement to insulin and glucose concentrations that may be gained through moderate aerobic and resistance training. The results of this intervention may have been different had the participants been hyperinsulinemic or prediabetic, which is a significant proportion of overweight, inactive postmenopausal women.

At roughly the same time, Irwin and colleagues published results from the Yale Exercise and Survivorship (YES) study, a large RCT also aimed at further establishing the metabolic pathways by which exercise may modify cancer recurrence. Metabolic results from this study were published in three papers (Irwin et al 2009 (a), Irwin et al.

2009(b), Jones et al. 2013), and served as much of the basis for this proposed project. The primary metabolic outcome investigated was the relationship between insulin, IGF-1 and IGFBP3 following a 6-month combined supervised and home-based aerobic exercise intervention in breast cancer survivors (Irwin et al. 2009(a)). This study is notable for its inclusion of several key measures that were not included in the previous studies, including an objective (albeit pedometer based) measure of PA and DEXA scanning to assess changes in BMD, body fat and central adiposity. The women enrolled in this study were remarkably similar to those from Fairey et al. and Ligibel et al with respect to BMI (30), age (57 years) and activity status prior to intervention (12 min/week). Participants *fasting insulin concentrations decreased* in the exercise training group (24.57 uU/mL to

22.9 uU/mL) and increased in the control group (25.69 uU/mL to 31.98 uU/mL),

however this result was not significant (p=0.08). When compared to control, the exercise training group did have significantly lower IGF-1 concentrations following the exercise, in support of the results found by Fairey and colleagues. In addition to the changes observed in IGF-1 and trends towards change in insulin, this cohort also lost a significant amount of weight and body fat compared to control, leading the researchers to conclude that the primary impact of the exercise training on metabolic health and risk of recurrence is through weight loss in this population. Without a thorough investigation into the mechanisms of postmeal insulin supply and demand, that conclusion may not be representative of the exact role an exercise induced increase in insulin sensitivity plays in the reduction of breast cancer risk.

In addition to the direct measurement of insulin and IGF-1 the YES cohort was evaluated for changes in inflammatory markers, including TNF-a and IL-6 (Jones et al.

2013). While there was no role of inflammation in the overall group responses, there was a significant change in IL-6 in those who performed >80% of the training sessions. Based on this result and the results of several other exercise studies (Rogers et al. 2013), a potential role of inflammation with respect to exercise induced modulation of breast cancer recurrence risk cannot be ruled out and warrants further investigation. Absent from these previous studies is an investigation into the role of estrogen, SHBG and the adipokines (leptin and adiponectin). Roughly 30% of the participants of the YES study were on aromatase inhibitors, and that may have severely complicated any potential conclusions made with respect to the interaction between estrogen/SHBG levels and exercise.

Other exercise training in breast cancer survivor studies

Several studies investigating the role of exercise training in breast cancer survivors published after the 2010 ACSM position stand warrant further discussion. Campbell and colleagues have recently completed an exercise trial in which an exercise program similar to the one introduced by the United States Diabetes Prevention Program (USDPP) was used in breast cancer survivors (Campbell et al. 2012), while Goodwin and colleagues have published preliminary work on the role of metformin in breast cancer survivors (Niralua et al. 2012), which also draws partly from the USDPP. The USDPP was a large multi-site RTC investigating the role of a lifestyle intervention or metformin in the prevention of the transition from prediabetes to frank T2D. This trial was a resounding success, as the lifestyle intervention reduced the transition from prediabetes to T2D by well over 50% and metformin was also effective at a rate of approx. 30% (Knowler et al. 2002). The success of this program has lead to widespread follow-up

studies, including by our lab (Malin et al. 2012). Of particular note, these follow-up studies have shown that while both exercise (the primary driver of the changes seen in the lifestyle group) and metformin improve metabolic health and reduce insulin concentrations, they do so through different mechanisms. Exercise training, as mentioned previously, induces metabolic adaptations to insulin supply and demand through skeletal muscle, and therefore manifests most prominently in postmeal hyperinsulinemia (Kirwan & Jing 2002), while metformin interacts primarily with the liver (McCormack et al. 2001), inducing changes to fasting insulin and glucose concentrations.

Results from Goodwin and colleagues work with metformin and breast cancer recurrence/prognosis have been mixed. They generally support a significant reduction in fasting insulin concentrations and insulin resistance (Niralua et al. 2012), but with minimal effect on prognosis in those with T2D (Lega et al. 2013). Several large clinical trials, including several arms of the TREC initiative, are underway to determine the exact role metformin may play in reducing the risk of cancer recurrence, with the results from these trials forthcoming. The study by Campbell et al. did not observe any relationship between a USDPP-based lifestyle intervention composed of exercise and dietary modification and biomarkers of breast cancer recurrence, however several limitations may have confounded their results. First, their fasting glucose concentrations were not in the prediabetic range (95 mg/dL) and their fasting insulin concentrations were normal (8.9 uU/mL), potentially running into a "basement" effect where the low levels of glucose and insulin prevent exercise training from having a measurable effect on glycemic control, similar to Ligibel et al. Secondly, while there was considerable reduction in insulin concentrations following the exercise training, the high degree of

variability (+/- 9.1 uU/mL SD) in those insulin concentrations may have contributed to the lack of significant differences in the lifestyle intervention group. Finally, as with other studies investigating the role of exercise in breast cancer survivors, the metrics of hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance were derived from a fasting measure of insulin (and glucose for the HOMA score), which may not be an appropriate reflection of the role of exercise in the modulation of hyperinsulinemia. Several of the TREC studies were designed to investigate the interaction between exercise training and cancer risk, prognosis and treatment. Their study designs are consistent in that they all include metabolic measurements, and those investigating the role of insulin are designed to primarily reflect insulin supply and demand in the fasted state. The relationship between fasting and postmeal insulin supply and demand and biomarkers of cancer recurrence are unclear, and therefore study 2 will investigate the relationship using information from the pre-intervention glucose tolerance testing and fasting biomarkers of cancer risk taken at the same timepoint. Lack of information regarding the effect of exercise training on postprandial hyperinsulinemia could lead to a significant underestimation of the role of exercise training in modifying cancer risk in this population. To address this potential confounding relationship between fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations with cancer risk, study 3 will examine the change in insulin supply and demand following exercise training and how that relates to the change in cardiometabolic health in breast cancer survivors. Results from this study should aide in the understanding of treatment-specific mechanisms, potentially identifying situations in which reducing postmeal insulin concentrations though exercise may be more critical than reducing fasting insulin concentrations via pharmacology, such

as metformin. Evaluating postprandial insulin within this population takes additional importance from the recent results from our lab that suggest that adding metformin to exercise training blunts the effects of the exercise (Malin et al. 2012). Should changes to postprandial rather than fasting insulin concentrations drive the beneficial adaptations to biomarkers of breast cancer risk, breast cancer survivors who both exercise and take metformin may actually be increasing their risk of recurrence. This well-controlled, albeit relatively small, prospective study into the interaction between postprandial hyperinsulinemia, exercise and breast cancer recurrence may not be enough to alter the conclusions derived from these large generously funded multi-site RCTs, however it could potentially serve as the basis for larger proposals investigating this relationship in the future.

CHAPTER III

EXERCISE TRAINING AND METFORMIN DIFFERENTIALLY IMPACT COUPLING OF INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND

Introduction

A key aspect of type 2 diabetes (T2D) prevention is the ability to appropriately match the production of insulin with the demand of whole-body insulin resistance. Up to 70% of individuals with prediabetes (fasting and/or post-challenge glucose concentrations above normal but below the range of frank T2D) are characterized by an inappropriate matching of insulin secretion and sensitivity (DeFronzo & Abdul-Ghani 2011), and without lifestyle or pharmacological intervention the transition from prediabetes to T2D is highly likely (Nijpels et al. 1996). Results from the United States Diabetes Prevention Program suggest that both lifestyle intervention (comprised of weight loss and increased physical activity) and the anti-hyperglycemia medication metformin delay the transition from prediabetes to T2D (Kitabchi et al. 2005). Despite a plausible expectation of additivity, recent evidence suggests that combining metformin and exercise training confers no added benefit to whole-body insulin sensitivity and markers of cardiovascular risk when compared to exercise training alone (Jenkins et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013). Lifestyle interventions increase whole-body insulin sensitivity and reduce circulating insulin concentrations, which is primarily a result lower insulin secretion (Kahn et al. 1992). However, circulating insulin concentrations may also be modified by insulin synthesis in the beta cells (Polonsky et al. 1994) or altered rates of insulin extraction and clearance by the liver (Escobar et al. 1999). These effects likely lie outside the closed-loop relationship between whole-body

insulin sensitivity and compensatory insulin secretion, and may not be effectively captured with standard tools (e.g. euglycemic clamp) and metrics (e.g. HOMA-IR) used to evaluate changes to insulin sensitivity and secretion. Understanding the difference between tissue-specific and whole body insulin supply and demand regulation has more than academic importance given that preservation of beta-cell capacity is a key to diabetes prevention. Metformin influences glycemic control through inhibition of hepatic glucose production (Madiraju et al. 2014), and it is likely that there are other tissuespecific responses (e.g. hepatic insulin clearance) through which metformin may influence glycemic control. Without evaluating the combined effects of exercise training and metformin on tissue-specific markers of glycemic control (e.g. beta cell proinsulin processing, insulin clearance) that lie outside the insulin secretion-sensitivity feedback loop, it is possible that the utility and drawbacks of combining lifestyle interventions and metformin to prevent or delay T2D are not fully understood.

Proinsulin, the precursor prohormone to insulin and a marker of insulin synthesis, is primarily contained within the beta cells of the pancreas, where it is cleaved into insulin and C-peptide prior to release into the general circulation. Elevated circulating proinsulin concentrations represent a decoupling between glucose variations and the synthesis and release of insulin, as proinsulin that could otherwise be used for insulin production 'leaks out' into the general circulation. It is therefore not surprising that total proinsulin concentrations, as well as the ratio between proinsulin and both insulin (PI/I) and C-peptide (PI/C), are elevated in adults with prediabetes (Larrson et al. 1999, Warcham et al. 1999). Additionally, hyperproinsulinemia is associated with both the development and severity of T2D (Loopstra et al. 2011, Roder et al. 1999), and may

serve as a link between impaired glycemic control and cardiovascular disease (Choi et al. 1999, Zethelius et al. 2002). Circulating proinsulin concentrations are reduced following intervention with lifestyle or metformin (Kitabchi et al. 2005), but the effects of combining the two interventions are unknown. First pass hepatic insulin extraction (HIE) involves the degradation of insulin by the liver after secretion from beta cells but prior to reaching the general circulation (Toffolo et al. 2006). Obese individuals and individuals with hyperinsulinemia often display reduced HIE (Kim et al. 2007, Mittelman et al. 2000), which may partly contribute to their elevated circulating insulin concentrations. HIE may be higher following interventions that reduce hyperinsulinemia or improve glucose tolerance (Krogh-Madsen et al. 2014), however the impact of exercise training and/or pharmacological interventions is unclear. As a result little is known about how HIE changes with respect to alterations to insulin secretion and sensitivity, or the relationship between HIE and changes in glycemic control (Krogh-Madsen et al. 2013, Mittelman et al. 2000). Insulin clearance (IC), or the systemic breakdown of insulin, occurs primarily in the liver (\sim 80%) and kidney (\sim 20%) and is also reduced in obesity (Ader et al. 2014, Valera Mora et al. 2003) and prediabetes (Castel-Auvi et al. 2012, Marini et al. 2014). IC may respond to pharmacologically augmented weight loss (Kim et al. 2014) but the effects of lifestyle interventions on IC are unknown.

There is a pressing public health need to prevent T2D, and maximizing the efficacy/precision of prevention will require evaluating the independent and interactive effects of lifestyle and pharmacological interventions. Thus the purpose of this study was to evaluate the effects of a 12-week exercise training and/or metformin intervention on insulin synthesis, clearance and extraction. Given our previous work suggesting

metformin and exercise training in combination is not more beneficial than exercise alone with respect to cardiometabolic health (Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013), we hypothesized that metformin would not confer any added benefit, and may even blunt, the beneficial tissue-specific effects of exercise training on IC, HIE and proinsulin processing.

Methods

Overview

The protocol has been previously described in detail elsewhere (Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013). Briefly, overweight to obese sedentary women and men (Table 1) with impaired glucose tolerance, as determined by a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test, were randomly assigned to one of four groups: Placebo (P, n=8), Metformin (M, n=9), exercise training plus placebo (E+P, n=9), and exercise training plus metformin (E+M, n=10). Exclusion criteria were smoking, weight instability (> 5 kg change over previous 6 months), regular physical activity (> 60 min/wk), or contraindications to metformin. Peak aerobic capacity (VO₂peak, cycle ergometer), maximal strength (1 repetition max for key muscle groups), and body composition (dual X-ray absorptiometry, DEXA, Lunar Technologies, Chicago IL) were tested before and after the intervention. All participants were verbally briefed about the study and signed informed consent documents approved by the University of Massachusetts Amherst Institutional Review Board.

Intervention protocol

All participants were instructed to maintain baseline diet and physical activity levels throughout the 12-week intervention, and no change in diet (3-day diet records) or habitual ambulation (pedometer) was observed (18). Participants were randomly assigned to receive metformin (1000 mg twice per day separated by 8-12 hours) or an identical placebo and further subdivided into exercise training (3 days/week, 225 total minutes of supervised aerobic and resistance exercise) or non-training groups.

Blood collection and hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp

Following 24-hours of dietary and physical activity control (meals provided to ensure caloric and macronutrient balance) and a 10-12 hour overnight fast, blood samples were taken from an indwelling catheter placed in an antecubital vein. Blood samples were collected and plasma was separated in tubes containing EDTA (proinsulin, insulin and C-peptide) and NaF (glucose) and stored at -80° for subsequent analysis. Following the fasting blood draw a 120-minute hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp (5mmol, 80 mU/m²/min) was used to determine peripheral (skeletal muscle) insulin sensitivity.

Biochemical analysis

Fasting blood glucose was determined using the glucose oxidase method (GM7 analyzer, Analox Instruments, Lunenberg MA). Fasting plasma proinsulin, insulin and Cpeptide concentrations were determined using a commercial radioimmunoassay (Millipore, Billerica MA). The cross-reactivity of the human proinsulin RIA with insulin and C-Peptide is <0.1%, and the cross-reactivity of the human C-Peptide RIA for total proinsulin is <4%. The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 4.7%, and the interassay coefficient of variation was <10%.

Proinsulin processing, hepatic insulin extraction and insulin clearance

Total fasting proinsulin, proinsulin to insulin (PI/I) and proinsulin to C-peptide (PI/C) ratios were calculated to depict proinsulin secretion. Hepatic insulin extraction (HIE) was assessed using the volume-adjusted insulin to C-Peptide ratio as defined by Cobelli and colleagues (Cobelli et al. 2007). Insulin clearance was determined during the last 30 minutes of the clamp by dividing the insulin infusion rate by the circulating steady-state plasma insulin concentration (SSPI), as previously used by Marini and colleagues (Marini et al. 2014, Marini et al. 2013). Whole-body insulin sensitivity was defined as the glucose infusion rate (M) during the last 30 minutes of the clamp divided by the SSPI.

Statistics

Data were analyzed using R statistical software (Vienna AU 2010, http://www.Rproject.org). Baseline and group differences were evaluated using a one-way ANOVA. Pre to post differences within groups were determined using paired t-tests. Pearson product moment correlation coefficients were used to determine associations between changes in proinsulin, HIE and IC as well as changes in insulin action and markers of cardiometabolic health. Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.

<u>Results</u>

Baseline characteristics and effects of training

Baseline body weight, fitness, insulin sensitivity, and physical activity levels were similar among groups (Table 1). As reported previously (Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013), VO₂peak increased in both E+P (+18%) and E+M (+10%), and weight loss was

greater after M (-4%) and E+M (-7%) compared with P (0%) and E+P (-0.2%). Insulin sensitivity also higher following all treatments, and the rise in sensitivity was 25-30% greater in E+P compared with E+M (Malin et al. 2012). While there were no changes to fasting glucose, insulin or C-peptide in the P and M groups, there were significant reductions in fasting plasma insulin and C-peptide following E+P and significant decreases in fasting plasma glucose and C-Peptide in the E+M group (Table 2).

Proinsulin and proinsulin ratios

Baseline proinsulin concentrations did not differ among groups. Compared to baseline, fasting plasma proinsulin was not different in P, M, or E+P, however proinsulin concentrations were significantly lower following E+M (Figure 1). There were no significant differences in the PI/I ratio or PI/C ratio across the interventions (Table 2). There was also no significant correlation between the change in fasting proinsulin and change in insulin sensitivity (r=-0.127, p=0.46), fasting plasma glucose (r=0.199, p=0.25), or body fat percentage (r=0.323, p=0.64).

Hepatic extraction and insulin clearance

There were no significant changes to first pass HIE in the control group or any of the intervention groups (Table 2). There was also no significant correlation between the change in HIE and the change in fasting proinsulin (r=0.053, p=0.76), insulin sensitivity (r=-0.064, p=0.96), body fat percentage(r=0.139, p=0.88) or body weight (r=-0.208, p=0.43). Steady state plasma insulin was significantly lower in M and E+M, but there was no difference in P or E+P (Table 2). Similarly, insulin clearance was also significantly increased in M and E+M, and unchanged in P and E+P (Figure 2). There
was a significant association between the change in insulin clearance and change in insulin sensitivity (r=0.344, p=0.014), however there was no association between insulin clearance and fitness (r=0.291, p=0.15) or body fat (r=-0.143, p=0.42).

Discussion

In this study, fasting proinsulin was significantly reduced (-24%) only after exercise training was combined with metformin. Although not significant, the decrease with metformin alone (-20%) was comparable in magnitude to the combined intervention. Additionally, rates of steady state insulin clearance during a hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp were also significantly greater following 12 weeks of metformin, with or without exercise training, but not with placebo or exercise training alone. These results surprised us because we expected insulin clearance to follow a similar pattern to that of whole-body glucoregulatory responses, such as insulin sensitivity, which were most strongly impacted by exercise training alone (Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013). The decoupling of changes to proinsulin and insulin clearance from insulin sensitivity and fasting insulin implies that metformin and exercise differentially impact the relationship between insulin demand (tissue sensitivity) and supply (secretion).

There are several potential explanations for these results. In the current study, only the two groups that received metformin lost weight. Weight loss drives many of the beneficial outcomes of lifestyle or pharmacologic interventions on cardiometabolic health/disease risk. However the driving force behind these positive changes is generally considered to be loss of fat, particularly loss of abdominal fat (Malin et al. 2012). In our study it was only the two exercise groups, not the metformin-only group, who lost total and central adiposity. Therefore, a causal relationship between weight/fat loss and both

lower proinsulin concentrations and greater steady state insulin clearance in our study is not supported. Similarly, although whole-body insulin sensitivity was strongly associated with higher cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), there was no change to fasting proinsulin or insulin clearance in the exercise-only group, which showed the largest rise in CRF. In contrast, metformin alone caused a 20% reduction in proinsulin and a 20% increase in insulin clearance despite no change in CRF. These results imply that changes in CRF are not necessary to alter fasting proinsulin or insulin clearance.

It is also possible that in men and women with prediabetes, fasting hyperproinsulinemia and reduced insulin clearance are more closely associated with fasting hyperglycemia than hepatic or peripheral insulin resistance. If so, fasting proinsulin may only decline in response to lowering of fasting glucose. We observed no association between change in proinsulin and changes in fasting glucose, however it is conceivable that any relationship between the two was obscured by the relatively modest fasting hyperglycemia at baseline, restricting the magnitude of any declines in fasting glycemia and, therefore, proinsulin. The only group that exhibited a statistically significant decline in proinsulin was the E+M group, which also had a statistically significant reduction in fasting glucose concentration.

Metformin also affects signaling pathways in the beta cell (Leclerq et al. 2004), and can alter insulin production within the beta cells through AMPK-dependent changes to insulin synthesis (Kefas et al. 2004, Masini et al. 2014). It is therefore possible that metformin has a direct impact on insulin production in humans but exercise does not. Similar reductions in both insulin and proinsulin in the metformin groups suggests that metformin may act directly on the beta cell to lower the output of proinsulin into the

portal vein rather than altering hepatic extraction. It is also possible that metformin influences hepatic and renal regulation of insulin kinetics via upregulation of key insulin degradation enzymes and possibly improvement of hepatic and renal function (Cao et al. 2014, Foretz et al. 2010) but that exercise training has a minimal effect on these processes. Directly testing how combining exercise training and metformin impact betacell function will require animal models and cell culture work in follow-up studies.

In contrast to the effects of metformin, discord between changes in circulating insulin, proinsulin, insulin sensitivity and insulin clearance in the exercise groups suggests that exercise training may modify glycemic control primarily by enhancing peripheral insulin sensitivity with consequent reductions in circulating insulin (Kahn et al. 1992). While insulin secretion represents the primary mechanism by which circulating insulin can be adjusted, first-pass hepatic insulin extraction may also play a significant role (Kim et al. 2007). We attempted to evaluate the effects of exercise and metformin on this tissuespecific moderator of insulin supply using the relationship between circulating insulin and C-peptide to estimate hepatic extraction. There were no differences in fasting hepatic extraction attributable to any of the 3 interventions. The calculation of hepatic insulin extraction using fasting C-peptide and insulin kinetics relies on several assumptions, and without a pre- and post-intervention glucose challenge it is hard to argue that hepatic extraction plays no role in the interaction between exercise training and metformin. A better understanding of how exercise training or metformin alter beta cell secretion and circulating insulin metabolism/kinetics will require cleverly designed studies to tease apart several interrelated processes.

Understanding the effects of exercise or metformin on measures of glycemic control requires considering the larger context. The hyperbolic law of insulin kinetics suggests that coupling between insulin demand (sensitivity or resistance) and supply (secretion and clearance) is coupled such that increasing sensitivity leads to lower circulating insulin concentrations (Stumvoll et al. 2005). The current study suggests that metformin, but not exercise, can change insulin synthesis/clearance without necessity for upstream changes to insulin sensitivity. If true, there are potentially important clinical ramifications. For example, one of the off-cited benefits to improving insulin sensitivity is reducing hyperinsulinemia and "resting" the pancreas to preserve beta cell function. If lower circulating insulin is a result of changes in post-secretion insulin clearance instead of reductions in first and/or second phase insulin secretion, there may be little or no reduction in beta cell "stress" following exercise training. Additionally, if there is recognized value in reducing insulin synthesis by the islets regardless of the degree of insulin reaching the general circulation, there may be practical reasons to choose between metformin or exercise for patients who are still able to compensate for insulin resistance with hyperinsulinemia. The divergent impact of exercise and/or metformin on tissuespecific (e.g. proinsulin and insulin clearance) compared to whole-body (e.g. insulin action) metrics of glycemic control suggests that the utility of selecting one treatment versus the other, or combining both treatments, is outcome-specific.

Scaling up to the critical public health issue of preventing diabetes and cardiovascular disease in humans, the independent and combined actions of physical activity and/or metformin on the transition from prediabetes to T2D is difficult to predict from studies of insulin sensitivity alone. To understand the comparative efficacy of

physical activity, metformin or both on T2D and cardiovascular disease prevention, studies will need to be conducted in the target population with the development of frank T2D or cardiovascular disease as the primary outcome.

Tables

Table 3.1: Participant characteristics

	<u>P</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>E+P</u>	<u>E+M</u>
<u>N (male)</u>	8(2)	9(4)	9(4)	10(4)
Age (years)	49.75 ± 3.87	46.33 ± 2.57	46.22 ± 2.60	49.50 ± 1.77
Weight (kg)	94.78 ± 5.28	96.47 ± 5.26	97.3 ± 4.74	93.44 ± 4.77
Body Fat (%)	45.96 ± 3.05	42.47 ± 2.45	42.16 ± 2.31	41.43 ± 2.21
<u>VO₂Peak (mlkg⁻¹min⁻¹)</u>	21.44 ± 2.32	24.18 ± 2.75	25.28 ± 2.21	27.25 ± 1.76
Fasting Glucose (mmol)	5.34 ± 0.18	5.23 ± 0.24	5.45 ± 0.25	5.86 ± 0.21
2-h Glucose (mmol)	9.36 ± 0.47	9.23 ± 0.47	10.37 ± 0.34	9.81 ± 0.49

Data presented as mean \pm SEM. There were no significant differences at baseline across the four conditions

 Table 3.2: Changes to glycemic control after intervention period

	<u>P</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>E+P</u>	<u>E+M</u>
Glucose (mmol/L)				
Pre	5.34 ± 0.18	5.23 ± 0.24	5.45 ± 0.25	5.86 ± 0.21
Post	5.29 ± 0.12	5.28 ± 0.25	5.41 ± 0.21	$5.49 \pm 0.13*$
Insulin (pmol/L)				
Pre	139.9 ± 28.9	152.9 ± 27.5	94.9 ± 11.5	95.6 ± 20.8
Post	149.9 ± 34.0	119.7 ± 26.3	$84.5 \pm 9.7*$	80.3 ± 13.9
C-Peptide (pmol/L)				
Pre	874.1 ± 151.0	1375.1 ± 142.8	1154.9 ± 195.8	1052.2 ± 96.4
Post	969.8 ± 142.3	1226.4 ± 150.7	983.2 ± 169.3*	765.8 ± 76.4*
PI/I (pmol)				
Pre	0.15 ± 0.02	0.16 ± 0.03	0.27 ± 0.11	0.24 ± 0.04
Post	0.19 ± 0.04	0.18 ± 0.04	0.27 ± 0.08	0.19 ± 0.02
PI/C (nmol/pmol)				
Pre	0.25 ± 0.04	0.21 ± 0.03	0.19 ± 0.03	0.17 ± 0.03
Post	0.23 ± 0.04	0.17 ± 0.04	0.21 ± 0.05	0.20 ± 0.05
HIE (%)				
Pre	71.2 ± 3.8	74.4 ± 4.0	84.4 ± 1.7	84.2 ± 3.1
Post	75.8 ± 3.2	79.5 ± 3.2	83.3 ± 2.6	79.8 ± 5.1
SSPI (pmol/L)				
Pre	1462.5 ± 75.4	1474.4 ± 74.8	1494.4 ± 118.9	1449.0 ± 86.4
Post	1456.3 ± 58.6	$1247.2 \pm 102.7*$	1295.5 ± 57.3	1199.0 ± 77.5*

Data presented as mean \pm SEM. PI/I- Fasting proinsulin/insulin ratio. PI/C- Fasting proinsulin/C-peptide ratio. HIE-Hepatic insulin extraction. (*) Indicates significant change from baseline (p<0.05).





Figure 3.1: Fasting proinsulin concentrations

Data presented as mean±SEM. *Indicates significant difference from baseline (p<0.05)



Figure 3.2: Clamp-derived insulin clearance

Data presented as mean±SEM. *Indicates significantly different from baseline (p<0.05)

Prologue to chapters IV and V

Studies 2 and 3 (chapters IV and V) of this dissertation differ from study 1 in terms of the population (men and women with prediabetes vs. postmenopausal breast cancer survivors) and research techniques (euglycemic clamp vs. oral glucose tolerance test). While this gives the appearance of two disconnected and unrelated projects, there are several areas of overlap between the studies that are worth mentioning.

The benefits of metformin as means to restrain blood glucose concentrations have been studied for decades, however the potential utility of metformin as a mediator/moderator of cancer risk is a relatively novel and unexpected finding (Bodmer et al. 2010). As with any unexpectedly fortuitous result, research has been directed towards identifying the mechanisms behind metformin-induced reductions in cancer risk (Chae et al. 2016) and optimally incorporating metformin into existing oncotherapy (Grossmann et al. 2015). Metformin appears to lower blood glucose concentrations by reducing hepatic glucose production (Madiraju et al. 2014), which leads to lower insulin concentrations in both the fasting and the postmeal state. Exercise training primarily regulates blood glucose through reductions in skeletal muscle insulin demand in the postmeal state, leading to a compensatory reduction in insulin supply. It is therefore reasonable to suspect that metformin and exercise training would have additive effects on glycemic control, as was the hypothesis for the series of experiments by Malin et al. (Malin et al. 2012, Malin et al. 2013). This was not the case however, as combining metformin with exercise training did not enhance, and may have even attenuated, the beneficial adaptations to systemic insulin supply and demand that occurred as a result of exercise training alone. The results from study 1 support the hypothesis that exercise

training acts to reduce diabetes risk through systemic modification of insulin supply and demand (e.g. increased insulin sensitivity), whereas metformin may accomplish this same task (albeit to a lesser degree) through specific modifications of insulin-sensitive tissue. While it is tempting to expand this conclusion to encompass both exercise and metformin-induced reductions in carcingenesis, the lack of information regarding the relationship between changes to insulin supply and demand and cancer risk following lifestyle or pharmacological interventions prevents such interpretation from being made.

In 2011 The National Cancer Institute, in conjunction with several research institutions across the country, began a series of research studies known as the Translational Research in Energetics of Cancer (TREC) project (Patterson et al. 2011). One such study mimics the four-armed intervention used in study 1 to evaluate the benefits of exercise training and metformin in combination on cancer recurrence. While this may shed light on the efficacy and utility of the combined and independent effects of each intervention as oncotherapy, the lack of information regarding the tissue vs. systemic effects of exercise training on insulin supply and demand in both the fasted and fed state in cancer survivors may influence the interpretation of the benefits of each treatment on metabolic health. The purpose of studies 2 and 3 of this dissertation project were therefore to develop a greater understanding of changes to postmeal insulin supply and demand and the physiological mechanisms responsible for them as a result of exercise training in cancer survivors. These small, highly controlled research studies could therefore 'fill in the gaps' of large clinical trials, and by doing so guide future clinical trials and enhance the efficacy of personalized targeted therapy to reduce the risk of cancer and diabetes.

CHAPTER IV

EXERCISE TRAINING LOWERS POSTMEAL, BUT NOT FASTING, INSULIN CONCENTRATIONS IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

Introduction

Women who regularly engage in physical activity have significantly lower rates of cancer development and recurrence (Moore et al. 2016), as well as reduced rates of cancer-specific and all-cause mortality (Ballard-Barbash et al 2012). Although the precise mechanisms are unclear, lower circulating insulin concentrations in active women may play a role. Insulin appears to have mitogenic effects on cancer cells, and results from cell culture, animal model and epidemiological studies support a role for elevated insulin concentrations (hyperinsulinemia) in the development of breast cancer (Gallagher et al. 2013) and breast cancer-specific mortality (Irwin et al. 2011). Despite a mechanistically plausible hypothesis that lower insulin concentrations following exercise training contribute to reduced cancer risk and improved cancer prognosis, this relationship has not been consistently observed in breast cancer survivors. Fairey et al. first evaluated the effects of exercise training on circulating insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors, and their results suggested that 24 weeks of aerobic exercise training did not lower insulin concentrations (Fairey et al. 2003). Several subsequent exercise training studies in breast cancer survivors also failed to observe a significant reduction in circulating insulin concentrations or decrease in insulin resistance following 12-, 16- or 26-week exercise training interventions (Ligibel et al. 2008, Irwin et al. 2009, Campbell et al. 2012, Guinan et al. 2013). These results are surprising, as reductions in circulating insulin concentrations have been consistently observed following exercise training in

other populations, including postmenopausal women (Friedenreich et al. 2011). It is unclear why exercise training interventions in breast cancer survivors do not elicit significant changes in circulating insulin concentrations. One plausible explanation is that the relationship between insulin and cancer risk is obscured by the use of fasting insulin, and metrics of insulin resistance derived from fasting insulin levels (e.g. HOMA), as the sole representation of exercise-induced improvements in insulin action and regulation.

While the relationship between insulin and cancer is often predicated on its anabolic and mitogenic nature, the role of insulin as a glucoregulatory hormone makes it unique among biomarkers of cancer risk. Insulin levels rise and fall several times throughout the day in response to meals, restraining blood glucose concentrations via induction of skeletal muscle glucose uptake and suppression of liver glucose production. The volume of insulin required for postmeal glycemic control can account for 50-80% of daily insulin exposure (Basu et al. 2003), and often shows a high degree of discordance with fasting insulin concentrations (Varghese et al. 2016). Additionally, interventions that improve glycemic control do not do so equally across different insulin-sensitive tissues and metabolic states. Exercise training is a potent skeletal muscle insulin sensitizer, and is more effective at reducing postmeal than fasting insulin concentrations (Jenkins and Hagberg 2011). In fact, while fasting insulin resistance metrics have a moderate correlation with gold standard measures of insulin resistance, it is unclear what specific physiological components of glucose metabolism they reflect (Reaven 2013). This potentially makes fasting insulin and associated metrics of insulin resistance inappropriate tools for evaluating the effects of exercise training, in which changes to

glycemic control primarily manifest through changes to postmeal insulin action and volume.

It is possible that studies investigating the links between exercise training and cancer risk/prognosis underestimate the role of insulin by failing to assess changes in postmeal insulin concentrations. To date, no study has evaluated the effects of an exercise training program on postmeal insulin concentrations or metrics of insulin resistance that incorporate both fasting and postmeal glucose and insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to evaluate the effects of 12-weeks of supervised exercise training on postmeal insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors, and identify any significant associations between changes in postmeal insulin concentrations and changes in biomarkers of cancer recurrence. We expect that exercise training will minimally change fasting insulin levels but will cause a significant reduction in postmeal insulin concentrations. Additionally, we expect that changes in cancer biomarkers (e.g. IGF-1, leptin, SHBG) will be more closely associated with changes to postprandial insulin concentrations than with changes in fasting insulin concentrations.

Methods

Recruitment and participants

Seventeen breast cancer survivors were recruited from the western Massachusetts area. Participants were between the ages of 35 and 70, and were either postmenopausal (or had oophrectomy) as determined by questionnaire. Participants were in overall good physical health, and were free from diabetes, heart disease and any injury that would prevent them from engaging in exercise training. Participants reported not meeting the current physical activity guidelines of 150 minutes/week of moderate to vigorous physical activity. Several participants were taking endocrine therapy for ER+ breast cancer, including Arimidex (n=5), Tamoxifen (n=2) and Aromasin (n=1). All medication use remained stable throughout the intervention period. All participants completed an informed consent document approved by the University of Massachusetts Institutional Review Board prior to starting the study.

Baseline fitness and anthropometric testing

Prior to metabolic testing, participants reported to the Energy Metabolism Lab in the Department of Kinesiology on the University of Massachusetts campus for determination of health history, body composition and fitness. Participants filled out a baseline health history and fitness questionnaire, followed by measurement of their height and weight (stadiometer and physicians scale, Detecto, Webb City, MO), blood pressure (manual sphygmomanometer, Santa medical inc., Tustin, CA) and waist circumference (tape measurer).

Baseline fitness levels were determined using a submaximal exercise test on a cycle ergomter (ACSM guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, 9th ed.). After a two minute resting period, participants were instructed to begin pedaling at an initial resistance of 25 watts, maintaining a cadence of >60 revolutions per minute. Resistance was increased in 25-watt increments every two minutes, and heart rate and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) were recorded at the end of each two minute stage. Additionally, expired gasses were continuously collected using a metabolic cart (Parvomedics, Sandy, UT) for the determination of volume of oxygen consumption (VO₂) and respiratory exchange ratio (RER). Stages were increased until participants

reached 80% of age-predicted maximal heart rate (HR_{max}). Upon completion of the test, heart rate and VO₂ responses from each stage were plotted and a linear line-of-best-fit was used to estimate VO₂peak at age-predicted HR_{max} . To determine body composition, participants underwent a DEXA scan (Lunar technologies, Chicago IL) at the University of Massachusetts Health Services Center. This test was used to determine body fat percentage, bone mineral density as well as android (central) obesity and fat free mass (FFM).

Fasting blood sample and oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

Participants entered the lab following an overnight fast for assessment of fasting and postmeal glycemic control, as well as determination of cancer biomarkers. Participants were asked to refrain from physical activity and maintain habitual dietary patterns 24 hours prior to the glucose challenge. An indwelling catheter was placed in an antecubital vein by a trained research technician, and fasting blood samples were collected in tubes containing Sodium Fluoride (Glucose), Potassium EDTA (Insulin) and Serum Separator (cancer biomarkers). Following the baseline blood collection, participants consumed a 75 g oral glucose test beverage (Sundex, ThermoFisher, Waltham MA), and additional blood samples were taken at 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following glucose consumption for determination of glucose and insulin concentrations. Blood plasma/serum was centrifuged at 3000xg, aliquoted into polypropylene cryotubes and stored at -80 degrees for future analysis.

Supervised exercise training intervention

All participants were required to exercise at least once a week and at most four times a week under the supervision of study personnel at the University of Massachusetts Department of Kinesiology exercise facility (The Body Shop, Amherst, MA). Supervising members of the research team were responsible for recording results of the exercise training session (e.g. heart rate, METs, RPE), as well as ensuring appropriate exercise intensity and safety. The exercise training protocol consisted of aerobic exercise for 45-60 minutes per session at an intensity of 65-90% HR_{max}. Participants were allowed to choose between a cycle ergometer, elliptical machine and/or treadmill, and exercise sessions on a specific machine were required to last at least 20 minutes. As fitness improved over the course of the 12-week intervention the intensity of exercise was increased to avoid a plateau effect, including the introduction of higher intensity intervals. The overall goals of the exercise training program were to: 1) provide sufficient exercise stimulus to increase in aerobic fitness, insulin sensitivity, and meet the physical activity guidelines and induce the health benefits of exercise training, as well as 2) mimic real-world exercise training programs most commonly used in non-laboratory situations.

Post-intervention testing

Upon completion of the 12-week exercise training period participants returned to the lab for post-intervention assessment of glycemic control, aerobic fitness and body composition. In order to avoid confounding the exercise training effect with acute changes to glycemic control due to diet and/or physical activity, participants were asked to refrain from physical activity and match (as accurately as possible) their food intake from the 24h period prior to their baseline glucose tolerance test. All participants

completed their final exercise training session 24-36 hours prior to post-intervention glucose tolerance testing.

Hormone, biomarker and metabolite analysis

Several different analytical techniques were used to determine the circulating concentrations of hormones, metabolites and biomarkers, and pre- and post-intervention samples from each participant were assayed in duplicate on the same assay in order to reduce inter- and intra-assay variability, respectively. Circulating glucose concentrations were determined using the glucose oxidase method (Analox instruments, Atlanta, GA) and an inter-assay coefficient of variability (CV) of <5%. Concentrations of insulin, leptin and adiponectin were determined using a commercially available radioimmunoassay (RIA, Millipore, Billerica, MA) and an interassay CV of <10%. Concentrations of 17b Estradiol (E2), IGF-1, IGFBP3 and SHBG were determined using high-sensitivity enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA, R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN) and an interassay CV of <10%.

Postmeal insulin concentrations and insulin sensitivity

In addition to the insulin concentrations at each timepoint of the oral glucose challenge (30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes), total postmeal insulin was quantified as 1) the highest measured insulin concentration during the OGTT (peak insulin) and 2) insulin area under the curve (AUC) using the trapezoidal method. To estimate changes to insulin sensitivity due to the exercise training, we used the glucose and insulin values from the oral glucose tolerance test to determine the Composite Insulin Sensitivity Index (C-ISI) based on the formula developed by Matsuda et al. (Matsuda & DeFronzo, 1999). This metric is a reflection of fasting glucose and insulin homeostasis AND the responsiveness to a glucose load (insulin action) and has a high degree of correlation (0.78) with the euglycemic clamp (the gold standard measure of insulin sensitivity). The formula for the determination of C-ISI is (10,000/square root of [fasting glucose x fasting insulin] x [mean glucose x mean insulin during OGTT]).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the R statistics package and computing language using an a priori alpha of <0.05. Paired t-tests were used to evaluate pre- to post-intervention changes in fitness, body composition, fasting hormones, metabolites and biomarkers as well as pre- to post- intervention differences between single timepoints of the oral glucose tolerance test. Linear mixed models were used to evaluate the relationship between the intervention and oral glucose tolerance over the sequential timepoints of the test, as well as the effect of any mediators of the relationship between exercise training and change in glycemic control (e.g. the presence or absence of Aromatase Inhibitor). Finally, associations between biomarkers and variables of interest were determined using Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients.

<u>Results</u>

Participant characteristics

Of the 17 participants enrolled in this study, two were unable to complete the fasting and glucose challenge blood draw and were thus excluded from the results. Additionally, one participant completed the fasting blood draw but was unable to complete the oral glucose challenge and was eliminated from any post-challenge

comparisons (but was included for fasting metabolite/biomarker analysis). One participant declined the DEXA scan, and her data was therefore eliminated from body composition analysis. A flowchart of participant recruitment and inclusion is presented in figure 4.1, and participant characteristics are presented in table 4.1. Data are presented as mean \pm SD.

Exercise training

Participants attended an average of 34.4 ± 7.7 training sessions over the 12-week intervention. Due to the progressive nature of the exercise training program, the average number of training sessions attended by participants increased throughout the intervention, with participants averaging 2.7 ± 1.1 training sessions per week during weeks 1-4 and 3.3 ± 0.8 training sessions per week during weeks 9-12. Exercise volume increased throughout the supervised exercise training sessions, from 141.3 ± 32.9 min/wk during weeks 1-4 to 166.8 ± 30.6 min/week during weeks 9-12. Additionally, exercise intensity increased over the duration of the study, from $77.4 \pm 5.2\%$ HR_{max} during weeks 1-4 to $85.7 \pm 5.7\%$ HR_{max} during weeks 9-12, for an average of $81.8 \pm 5.5\%$ HR_{max} over the entire 12-week protocol. As this protocol was personalized to better encourage attendance/compliance and mimic non-laboratory exercise prescriptions, participants were allowed to engage in several bouts of High Intensity Interval Training (HIIT) per week at the discretion of the trainer. Each session involved 24-30 total minutes of HIIT activity as a component of the 45-60 minute training session, and included 4 or 5 1minute periods of high intensity (>90% Age-predicted HR_{max}) cycling followed by 3-5 minutes of moderate intensity (<60% Age-predicted HR_{max}) cycling. Participants engaged in a total of 11.1 ± 7.8 HIIT sessions over the course of the intervention, with the

majority occurring later in the intervention $(1.6 \pm 0.8 \text{ HITT sessions/week over weeks 9-}$ 12). A full summary of the dose of exercise (e.g. volume, intensity, duration) for the exercise training intervention by individual response is provided in Appendix A.

Fitness, body composition and ancillary health outcomes

Participants experienced a significant increase in aerobic fitness and a significant decrease in body weight following the intervention (Table 4.2), however this reduction in body weight was not a result of significant reductions in body fat or fat free mass. There was no significant association between baseline fitness and change in fitness (r=0.13, p=0.74), nor were there any significant associations between volume of exercise performed over the 12-week intervention period and change in fitness (r=0.18, p=0.52) or body weight (r=0.08, p=0.94). In addition to the small but significant change in body weight there were significant reductions in waist circumference and systolic blood pressure, but no significant changes in fasting or postmeal blood glucose concentrations (Table 4.2).

Cancer biomarkers

One participant had E2 concentrations below the detectable limit of the assay (5pg/ml) and was excluded from analysis. There were no significant pre- to postintervention differences in IGF-1, IGBP3, Adiponectin or SHBG levels as a result of the exercise training (Table 4.2), however leptin and E2 levels were significantly lower following exercise training (Table 4.2). Surprisingly, this change in circulating leptin concentrations was not significantly associated with change in aerobic fitness (r=0.06, p=0.92), body composition (r=0.18, p=0.48) or any of the variables associated with

insulin concentrations. The change in circulating E2 concentrations was not associated with changes to body fat or other adipocyte-derived biomarkers, however there was a significant inverse association between the change in E2 and participants average exercise intensity (r=-0.55, p=0.04) during the 12-week intervention period (Figure 4.2).

Fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations

There were no significant differences in fasting insulin concentrations $(11.4 \pm 5.2 \text{ vs. } 11.6 \pm 5.1 \text{ uU/ml})$ or at timepoints 30 minutes $(74.4 \pm 19.8 \text{ vs. } 83.2 \pm 37.6 \text{ uU/ml})$, 60 minutes $(95.8 \pm 30.4 \text{ vs. } 98.4 \pm 23.3 \text{ uU/ml})$ and 90 minutes $(91.3 \pm 32.8 \text{ vs. } 88.3 \pm 29.5 \text{ uU/ml})$ of the glucose challenge test (Figure 4.3 A). Insulin concentrations were significantly lower 120 minutes (2h) following glucose ingestion $(68.8 \pm 34.5 \text{ vs. } 56.2 \pm 31.9 \text{ uU/ml}, \text{ p}<0.05$, Figure 4.3 A). There were no significant differences in insulin AUC $(301.6 \pm 82.2 \text{ vs. } 301.9 \pm 93.6 \text{ uU/ml}$, Figure 4.3 B) or peak insulin concentrations during the OGTT ($107.4 \pm 27.8 \text{ vs. } 106.5 \pm 26.5$, Figure 4.3 C), nor was insulin sensitivity (3.29 $\pm 1.76 \text{ vs. } 3.27 \pm 1.27$, Figure 4.3 D) different following the exercise training intervention.

Factors influencing the insulin response to exercise

There were no differences in the training response when participants were stratified based on age, stage of cancer diagnosis or cancer receptor type. However, women who were currently taking or had taken Aromatase Inhibitors (AIs) within the last five years (n=6) had significantly different and opposing responses in peak insulin (-11.99 (non-AI) vs +13.91 (AI) uU/mL) and insulin AUC (-24.03 (non-AI) vs +32.73 (AI) uU/mL) compared to those women who did not take AI (N=8, Figure 4.4 A and B). Women who were currently or had taken AIs also displayed an opposing response in C-ISI (+0.39 (non-AI) vs. -1.12 (AI) Figure 4.4 C) following exercise training and a blunted reduction in 2h insulin concentrations (-20.2 \pm 15.8 vs. -2.7 \pm 22.7 uU/ml, Figure 4.4 D). This result occurred despite no significant differences in exercise training volume as well as no differences in baseline and/or change in body weight, body composition or aerobic fitness between the two groups. Given the role of AIs are to reduce circulating estrogen concentrations, we then evaluated the relationship between changes to peak insulin, insulin AUC and C-ISI and changes to basal, raw and percent change in E2. We observed a significant negative relationship between the change in peak insulin concentrations and the change in E2 as a result of the exercise training (r=-0.57, p=0.04, Figure 4.4).

Discussion

The mitogenic role of insulin in carcinogenesis is well established, and it is plausible that lower insulin concentrations are one of the primary benefits of physical activity interventions on cancer risk. Several previous exercise training interventions in cancer survivors have failed to observe any significant differences in insulin concentrations, however these studies were limited in scope by their use of fasting insulin (and fasting metrics of insulin resistance) as the sole representation of insulin supply and demand. Given the large contribution of postmeal insulin to 24-hour insulin exposure and the relationship between exercise and postmeal insulin action, it is possible that a comprehensive relationship between exercise training and insulin supply and demand in breast cancer survivors has yet to be established. This goal of this study was to use the oral glucose tolerance test, a common tool for evaluating postmeal insulin supply and demand, to evaluate the impact of exercise training on postmeal insulin responses in breast cancer survivors.

Results from this study demonstrate that insulin concentrations two hours after a glucose challenge are significantly lower following exercise training, despite no significant change in fasting insulin concentrations. This result partially supports our hypothesis and suggests that the relationship between cancer risk/prognosis, insulin and/or exercise training cannot be fully determined through the use of fasting insulin concentrations alone. While insulin may contribute to carcinogenesis, the lack of association between fasting insulin and more established cancer biomarkers (e.g. estrogen) and minimal or absent reductions in insulin following exercise have led to a general consensus that insulin is a minimal contributor to the improved prognosis of cancer survivors following lifestyle interventions (McTiernan et al. 2010). The results of this study suggest that interventions that alter postmeal insulin concentrations (e.g. physical activity) may have a greater impact on cancer risk reduction than previously estimated. Additionally, comparative efficacy studies on cancer risk/prognosis (e.g. exercise training vs. metformin) may be underestimating the potential benefits of exercise training by selecting a primary outcome (i.e. fasting insulin) that fails to capture the full extent of the benefits of exercise training on insulin supply and demand.

In addition to lower postmeal insulin concentrations, there were several other areas of improved cardiometabolic health following this exercise training program that may influence prognosis in cancer survivors. Jones et al. have suggested that low aerobic fitness following cancer treatment contributes to the elevated risk of cardiovascular disease observed in cancer survivors, and increasing cardiorespiratory fitness through

exercise training may significantly reduce all-cause mortality in the years following a cancer diagnosis (Jones et al. 2015). Our personalized and progressive exercise program was sufficient to significantly increase cardiorespiratory fitness, while still providing the flexibility inherent in recreational and non-laboratory based exercise programs. It is possible that by increasing and/or varying the exercise training volume and intensity during the intervention, participants experienced greater improvements in fitness and enjoyment than they would have in an intervention based on fixed volume and/or intensity. Future studies that combine mixed doses (volume, intensity, duration and mode) of exercise in ways that mimic real-world exercise accrual are needed in order to establish the most effective dose for both cancer prevention and the litany of detrimental health outcomes associated with cancer treatment.

In addition to increases in cardiorespiratory fitness, we also observed significant decreases in circulating leptin and estrogen concentrations following exercise training. While many of the health risks associated with leptin are linked to obesity, leptin also contributes to cancer risk by enhancing adipocyte-derived estrogen activity (Vona-Davis & Rose 2007) and increasing cancer cell motility and invasiveness (Ando et al. 2014). We did not observe any significant associations between the changes in leptin and body composition or fitness. This was surprising, as lower leptin concentrations after exercise training are often the result of exercise-induced reductions in body fat (Friedenreich et al. 2011, Abbenhardt et al. 2013). However, high intensity exercise training can reduce circulating leptin concentrations independent of weight loss in adults with type 2 diabetes (Balducci et al. 2010), and it is possible that the relatively high intensity of the exercise training in the current study (85% HRmax) was enough to induce a similar beneficial

leptin response. Given the notorious difficulty of initiating and sustaining weight loss in older individuals (Kassier et al. 1998), identifying potential ways interventions can reduce leptin concentrations without the requirement for weight loss may have important clinical applicability. We also observed a small but significant reduction in circulating estrogen concentrations, which was associated with intensity, but not volume, of exercise training. Given the extremely low concentrations of estrogen at baseline in this population as well as the confounding factor of AI use, it is difficult to determine whether the minor reduction in estrogen as a result of the exercise training intervention has clinical relevance. There is a significant relationship between elevated estrogen concentrations and increased risk of cancer development and recurrence in postmenopausal women (Zhang et al. 2013), and reductions in circulating estrogens have often been cited as a major contributor to lower cancer risk (Cummings et al. 2009). Future exercise studies in breast cancer survivors that are large enough in size to account for the low concentrations of estrogen (especially in those taking AIs) are required before the relationship between physical activity and estrogen in this population can be fully understood.

Despite significant reductions in insulin concentrations 120 minutes after oral glucose consumption, we did not observe any significant differences in insulin concentrations at 30, 60 or 90 minutes during the OGTT, nor did we observe any change in insulin sensitivity, insulin peak concentration or area under the insulin curve. This is surprising, as an increase in insulin sensitivity and reduction in insulin AUC are commonly observed following exercise training interventions in many different populations. There are several potential reasons for this outcome that are worth

exploration. First, most participants in this study had normal glucose tolerance and therefore had relatively low fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations prior to beginning the exercise training program. Given the participants were normoglycemic, it is possible that the dose of exercise was not sufficient to reduce insulin resistance or insulin AUC from this already low baseline. While the significant increase in fitness in the current study suggests that the exercise dose was sufficient, we did not observe any significant associations between change in fitness and subsequent metabolic responses. We therefore cannot rule out the possibility that our exercise dose was sufficient to induce physiological improvements, but insufficient to alter glucoregulatory metabolism.

A second possibility for the null effect of the insulin action response is the potential role that endocrine therapy may play in the metabolic adaptations to exercise training. Past/present AI users had a blunted, and in some cases opposing, response to exercise training compared to those women not taking any endocrine therapy or taking tamoxifen. Given the role of AI to reduce estrogen production and concentrations in circulation, we attempted to identify any potential relationships between change in estrogen and change in postmeal insulin in both AI and non-AI participants. We observed a significant inverse relationship between change in estrogen concentrations and change in peak insulin, which suggests that low or significantly reduced estrogen concentrations may negatively impact postmeal glycemic control. This supports findings by Evans et al. that estrogen plays a role in metabolic adaptations to exercise training in postmenopausal women (Evans et al. 2001) and warrants further investigation into the role of estrogen concentrations as a mediator of changes to cardiometabolic health in breast cancer survivors following exercise.

Exercise training represents a potent tool to improve prognosis and reduce cancer recurrence in breast cancer survivors, however the mechanisms that explain this relationship are unclear. As we move towards the idea of personalized oncotherapy and precision medicine, it is important to develop a greater understanding of the relationship between exercise training and its metabolic effects in different populations. Results from this study suggest that while exercise training may have little impact on fasting insulin in breast cancer survivors, it has significant effects on postmeal insulin concentrations, albeit blunted compared to those seen in other populations. Future studies designed to link changing insulin concentrations with cancer risk and prognosis should incorporate measures of fasting and postmeal insulin whenever possible. It is also important for larger studies to identify whether breast cancer survivors have a diminished postmeal insulin response compared to non-cancer survivors. As the population of cancer survivors grows, so too does the population of cancer survivors at risk for diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Understanding the metabolic regulation of glycemic control and its response to exercise in cancer survivors is necessary in order to deliver personalized lifestyle and pharmacological interventions to this already large and growing segment of the population.

Tables

<u>N=15</u>	Mean ± SD
Age (yrs)	59.9 ± 9.2
Years post diagnosis	4.0 ± 3.5
Stage (1-3)	1.67 ± 0.62
ER+ (%)	11 (73%)
Endocrine Therapy (%)	7 (47%)
Weight (kg)	75.5 ± 16.4
Body Mass Index (kg/m^2)	27.6 ± 5.4
Body Fat (%)	43.1 ± 9.9
Estimated VO _{2peak} (ml/kg/min)	25.2 ± 5.4
Blood Pressure (mmHg)	$124.5/75.5 \pm 10.7/5.2$
Fasting Blood Glucose (<i>mg/dL</i>)	102.0 ± 13.7
2 hour Blood Glucose (mg/dL)	120.6 ± 21.6

Table 4.1: Participant characteristics

Data reported as mean \pm SEM.

	Baseline	Post-training	Change	<u>p-value</u>			
Fitness, body composition and cardiometabolic health							
Weight (kg)	75.5 ± 16.4	$74.5 \pm 15.8*$	-1.0	0.04			
BMI (kg/m^2)	27.6 ± 5.4	$26.9 \pm 5.2*$	-0.9	0.03			
Body fat (%)	43.1 ± 9.9	42.6 ± 9.7	-0.5	0.31			
WC (cm)	91.2 ± 11.9	$88.6 \pm 10.1*$	-2.6	0.02			
Android obesity (%)	48.1 ± 11.9	47.2 ± 11.1	-0.9	0.76			
BMD (g/cm^2)	1.16 ± 0.11	1.16 ± 0.11	-0.0	0.94			
FFM (kg)	42.8 ± 4.9	42.5 ± 4.5	-0.3	0.88			
Est. VO _{2peak} (ml/kg/min)	25.2 ± 5.4	$27.7 \pm 5.0*$	+2.5	< 0.01			
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	102.0 ± 13.7	99.1 ± 11.8	-2.9	0.19			
2h glucose (mg/dl)	120.6 ± 21.6	115.5 ± 20.4	-5.1	0.54			
Systolic BP (mmHg)	124.5 ± 10.7	$120.2 \pm 13.1*$	-4.3	0.03			
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	75.5 ± 5.2	73.8 ± 4.9	-1.7	0.10			
Cancer-relevant biomarkers							
Insulin (uU/mL)	11.4 ± 5.4	11.6 ± 5.1	+0.2	0.79			
Leptin (ng/mL)	30.8 ± 19.3	$23.8 \pm 13.0*$	-7.0	0.03			
Adiponectin (ng/mL)	649.2 ± 208.1	622.8 ± 241.9	-26.4	0.63			
E2 (pg/mL)	12.9 ± 6.3	$10.2 \pm 3.4*$	-2.7	0.04			
SHBG (nmol)	66.2 ± 47.4	64.4 ± 41.5	-1.8	0.70			
IGF-1 (ng/mL)	31.6 ± 8.4	33.1 ± 9.8	+1.5	0.45			
IGFBP3 (nmol)	70.3 ± 6.7	70.1 ± 8.2	-0.2	0.95			
Data reported as mean \pm SD. BMI= Body Mass Index, WC= Waist circumference,							
BP=Blood pressure, E2= 17b-estradiol, SHBG= Sex hormone binding globulin							
*p<0.05							

Table 4.2: Changes in fitness, body composition, health and biomarkers





Figure 4.1: Participant enrollment and intervention completion

Data from participants who did not complete the fasting blood draw were excluded from analysis. Data from participants who completed the fasting blood draw but not the OGTT were excluded from all comparisons between intervention outcomes and OGTT-derived metrics (e.g. postmeal insulin)



Figure 4.2: Association between estradiol and exercise intensity and change in Estradiol

There was a significant negative association between the exercise intensity (% age-predicted HR_{max}) throughout the 12 week exercise training intervention and the change in circulating 17-B estradiol (E2) concentrations.



Figure 4.3: Postmeal insulin responses

(A)- Insulin concentrations at each timepoint of the glucose challenge. (B)- Composite insulin sensitivity index (C-ISI). (C) Insulin area under the curve (AUC). (D) Peak insulin concentrations. Data presented as Mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05



Figure 4.4: Postmeal insulin responses in women with a history of aromatase inhibitor (AI) use

(A)- Change in peak insulin concentration recorded during OGTT. (B)- Change in insulin area under the curve (AUC). (C)- Change in insulin sensitivity (C-ISI). (D)- Change in 120 min (2h) insulin concentrations. Data presented as mean \pm SEM. (*) denotes significant difference between AI and Non-AI response (p<0.05)



Figure 4.5: Relationship between change in estrogen and change in peak insulin

Relationship between change in 17-b estradiol and change in peak insulin following exercise training

CHAPTER V

CHANGES TO INSULIN SUPPLY AND DEMAND MAY BE BLUNTED FOLLOWING EXERCISE TRAINING IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

Introduction

As the population of the United States increases in age, so too does the number of women diagnosed with breast cancer. In addition to the increase in breast cancer prevalence, better screening and treatment methods have greatly increased the survival rate and longevity of breast cancer survivors (Bray et al. 2004). Interventions designed to improve prognosis in cancer survivors primarily focus on preventing cancer recurrence, however breast cancer survivors also face higher rates of diabetes and heart disease compared to age and BMI-matched non-cancer survivors (Hooning et al. 2007). While cancer-specific mortality is the leading cause of death in the decade following a cancer diagnosis, all-cause mortality (primarily as a result of cardiometabolic disease) eventually surpasses cancer-specific mortality as the leading cause of death in cancer survivors (Bardia et al. 2012). As the number of breast cancer survivors increases, precision interventions designed to prevent cardiometabolic disease in cancer survivors may be just as important as interventions to prevent cancer recurrence.

One common physiological component that may link cancer and cardiometabolic disease is insulin resistance and the subsequent increase in insulin supply required to maintain glycemic control (Belardi et al. 2013). Insulin has anabolic and mitogenic properties, and hyperinsulinemia may enhance carcinogenesis (Gallagher et al. 2013) and contribute to poor prognosis (Irwin et al. 2011) in breast cancer survivors. Prior studies
investigating the role of insulin and insulin resistance as a mediator of breast cancer risk and prognosis have primarily measured insulin in the fasted state, or used metrics of insulin resistance that are derived from fasting glucose and insulin concentrations. The mechanisms behind insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia are complex however, and represent a delicate balance of tissue-specific insulin demand (e.g. skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity) matched by the appropriate volume of insulin supply (e.g. insulin secretion) that will maintain blood glucose concentrations within a relatively tight physiological range. Tissue-specific insulin demand changes throughout the day in response to meals, and there can be a high degree of discordance between insulin demand and supply in the fasted state compared to the fed state, both within (Faerch et al. 2008) and between (Varghese et al. 2016) different populations.

Exercise training is often recommended to cancer survivors in order to counter the detrimental effects of cancer treatment, prevent cancer recurrence and improve cardiometabolic health (Lahart et al. 2015). One of the off-cited benefits of exercise training is reduced insulin resistance (Colberg et al. 2010), and this lower insulin demand may be beneficial for cancer survivors by reducing insulin supply and thus lowering mitogenic load. Several previous exercise training studies in breast cancer survivors have evaluated insulin resistance through the use of fasting glucose and insulin homeostasis modeling (HOMA), and found no significant changes to insulin sensitivity (Ligibel et al. 2008, Guinan et al. 2013). While HOMA scores effectively characterize insulin resistance in large populations, the failure of HOMA scores to account for changes to postmeal glycemic control makes them inadequate tools for evaluating changes to insulin supply and demand following interventions that significantly affect postmeal insulin resistance,

such as exercise training (Wallace et al. 2004). Given that 50-80% of total daily insulin exposure (and thus mitogenic load) can occur in response to meals (Reaven 1979), a more comprehensive evaluation of the changes to insulin resistance and insulin secretion in breast cancer survivors may have significant implications for public health and cancer prognosis.

Compared to other populations, it is possible that chemotherapy-induced impairments to aerobic fitness and glycemic control (Jones et al. 2015), increased sedentary behavior (Sabiston et al. 2015), and the use of endocrine therapies designed to lower estrogen concentrations all contribute to fundamentally different adaptations to insulin supply and demand in breast cancer survivors following exercise training. The purpose of this study was therefore to use an oral glucose challenge to evaluate the effects of a personalized 12-week exercise training program on systemic and tissuespecific metrics of insulin resistance, insulin secretion and other aspects cardiometabolic health in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors. Additionally, exercise training can reduce fatigue and enhance quality of life (Demark-Wahnefried et al. 2015), however the relationship between these subjective measures of health and well-being and changes to glucoregulatory control are unknown. We expect that exercise training will increase insulin sensitivity, decrease insulin secretion and improve both beta cell insulin processing and function in a dose-dependent fashion, however this response may be blunted in those breast cancer survivors with low circulating estrogen concentrations. These improvements in cardiometabolic health would also be significantly associated with reductions in fatigue and increases in quality of life, suggesting a potential link

between the physiological and subjective/psychological benefits of exercise training in breast cancer survivors.

Methods

<u>NOTE</u>: Participants in this study were the same as those in study 2 (Chapter IV), and underwent similar testing and exercise training protocol. Several aspects of the methods as well as some results (e.g. estimated VO_{2peak} , E2 concentrations) are integral to both studies and are reported in both Chapter IV and V in order to facilitate understanding and enhance continuity.

Participants and recruitment

Seventeen breast cancer survivors were recruited from the Western Massachusetts area. In order to qualify for the study participants had to be postmenopausal (or have an oophrectomy) as determined by questionnaire, and completed primary breast cancer treatment greater than 6 months but less than 10 years ago. Additionally, participants were free from any diagnosed cardiometabolic disease or medications that would interfere with carbohydrate metabolism. Participants taking anti-depressants (n=3), cholesterol- (n=1) or blood pressure lowering medications (n=2) remained on a stable dose throughout the intervention period. Participants who were prescribed aromatase inhibitors (n=6) or selective estrogen receptor modulators (n=2) were asked to remain at a similar dose and regimen throughout the duration of the study.

Baseline fitness and body composition

Prior to metabolic testing, participants reported to the Energy Metabolism Lab in the Department of Kinesiology on the University of Massachusetts campus for

determination of health history, body composition and fitness. Participants filled out a baseline health history and fitness questionnaire, followed by measurement of height and weight (stadiometer and physicians scale, Detecto, Webb City, MO), blood pressure (manual sphygmomanometer, Santa medical inc., Tustin, CA) and waist circumference (tape measurer).

Baseline fitness levels were determined using a submaximal exercise test on a cycle ergomter (ACSM guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, 9th ed.). After a two minute resting period, participants were instructed to begin pedaling at an initial resistance of 25 watts, maintaining a cadence of >60 revolutions per minute. Resistance was increased in 25-watt increments every two minutes, and heart rate and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) were recorded at the end of each two minute stage. Additionally, expired gasses were continuously collected using a metabolic cart (Parvomedics, Sandy, UT) for the determination of volume of oxygen consumption (VO_2) and respiratory exchange ratio (RER). Stages were increased until participants reached 80% of age-predicted maximal heart rate (HR_{max}). Upon completion of the test, heart rate and VO₂ responses from each stage were plotted and a linear line-of-best-fit was used to estimate VO₂peak at age-predicted HR_{max}. To determine body composition, participants underwent a DEXA scan (Lunar technologies, Chicago IL) at the University of Massachusetts Health Services Center. This test was used to determine body fat percentage, bone mineral density as well as android (central) obesity and fat free mass (FFM).

Fatigue, self-efficacy and quality of life

Prior to metabolic testing, participants filled out several questionnaires to determine their current subjective levels of fatigue, general and exercise self-efficacy and quality of life (QoL). Total of fatigue, self-efficacy and QoL, as well as specific components of fatigue and QoL, were determined by evaluating the responses to the entire questionnaire as well as subscore analysis.

Piper fatigue scale (PFS): The piper fatigue scale is a series of 22 validated (Piper et al. 1998) questions in which a seven point likert scale is used to evaluate current fatigue levels over the span of days, weeks and months. In addition to overall fatigue, the PFS has four subscales comprised of groupings of the questions to address specific components of subjective fatigue. This includes: behavioral impact/severity of fatigue, affective meanings of fatigue, sensory, and the impact of fatigue on cognition/mood.

General Self-Efficacy: General self-efficacy was determined using a 10-question test with four point likert scale responses validated by Luszczynska et al. (2005).

Barriers to Self-Efficacy (BARSE): The barriers to self efficacy scale is a series questions validated in breast cancer survivors (Awick et al. 2016) in which a five- or seven-point likert scale is used to determine the barriers that are keeping individuals from engaging in regular physical activity.

Exercise Self-Efficacy: Exercise self-efficacy was determined using an 8-question test developed by McCauley (1993). Participants answered all questions on a 10 point likert scale and both total and single questions were used.

European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) QLQ-C30:

Health and QoL was determined using the EORTC QLQ-C30, a quality of questionnaire designed for cancer patients and survivors. This questionnaire asks a series of 28 specific cancer-related questions on weekly QoL on a 4-point likert scale, and two questions regarding overall health and QoL on a seven point likert scale.

Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

Participants entered the lab following an overnight fast for assessment of fasting and postmeal glucose homeostasis. Participants were asked to refrain from physical activity and maintain habitual dietary patterns in the 24 hours prior to the glucose challenge. An indwelling catheter was placed in an antecubital vein by a trained research technician, and fasting blood samples were collected in tubes containing Sodium Fluoride (Glucose), Potassium EDTA (Insulin, C-Peptide, Proinsulin, Triglyceride and Free Fatty Acid) and Serum Separator (E2). Following the baseline blood collection, participants consumed a 75 g oral glucose test beverage (Sundex, ThermoFisher, Waltham MA), and additional blood samples were taken at 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following glucose consumption for determination of glucose and insulin concentrations. Blood samples were centrifuged at 3000xg, aliquoted into polypropylene cryotubes and the plasma/serum was stored at -80 degrees for future analysis.

Exercise training

All participants were required to exercise at least once a week and at most four times a week under the supervision of study personnel at the University of Massachusetts Department of Kinesiology exercise facility (The Body Shop, Amherst, MA).

Supervising members of the research team were responsible for recording components of the exercise training session (e.g. heart rate, METs, Rating of Perceived Exertion), as well as ensuring appropriate exercise intensity and safety. The exercise training protocol consisted of aerobic exercise for 45-60 minutes per session at an intensity that would elicit a heart rate between 60-80% of maximal heart rate. Specific details of the exercise training intervention are provided in the methods section of chapter IV as well as the appendix.

Hormone and metabolite analysis

Several different analytic techniques were used to determine the circulating concentrations of hormones, metabolites and biomarkers, and pre- and post-intervention samples from each participant were assayed in duplicate on the same assay in order to reduce inter- and intra-assay variability. Circulating glucose and triglyceride concentrations were determined using the glucose and triglyceride oxidase method (Analox instruments, Atlanta, GA) and an inter-assay coefficient of variability (CV) of <5%. Concentrations of insulin, C-Peptide, proinsulin and leptin were determined using a commercially available radioimmunoassay (RIA, Millipore, Billerica, MA) and an interassay CV of <10%. Concentrations of Free Fatty Acids were determined using an Enzyme linked colormetric assay (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis MO) and Estradiol concentrations were determined using high-sensitivity enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA, R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN) and an interassay CV of <10%.

Systemic and tissue-specific components of insulin supply and demand

Beta-cell insulin processing: Beta cell insulin processing was evaluated using pre- and post-intervention determination of fasting proinsulin as well as proinsulin area under the curve (AUC). Additionally, the ratio of Proinsulin to C-Peptide (PI/C) normalized to C-Peptide was used as a reflection of insulin processing. This ratio has been associated with diabetes risk (Halfner et al. 2008).

Skeletal muscle metabolic (glucose) clearance rate: Skeletal muscle glucose uptake was estimated using the Metabolic Glucose Clearance Rate (MCR) derived by Stumvoll et al. (Stumvoll et al. 2000). This metric estimates the degree by which insulin can induce skeletal muscle uptake, and is therefore primarily a reflection of peripheral insulin sensitivity without the confounding effects of basal insulin supply and demand. The MCR has a high correlation with the glucose disposal rate determined by the euglycemic clamp (0.80) and is derived from the equation (18.8 - (0.271 x BMI) – (0.0052 x Ins120) – (0.27 x Glu90)).

Insulin supply: Insulin supply was comprised of three specific components. First, the Insulinogenic Index₀₋₃₀ (IGI₀₋₃₀), which represents first phase insulin secretion and is determined by dividing the increase in C-Peptide over the first 30 minutes of the OGTT by the ambient glucose concentration over that same timeframe. In addition to the commonly used IGI₀₋₃₀, we also determined IGI₆₀₋₁₂₀ in a similar fashion in order to evaluate second phase insulin secretion. Finally, the percent first pass hepatic insulin extraction (HIE) was evaluated at each timepoint and over the entire OGTT through the use of insulin and C-Peptide area under the curve (($1-AUC_I/AUC_C$)* 100) and adjusted for body volume based on the calculations developed by Cobelli and colleagues (Cobelli) *Insulin demand:* Whole body insulin sensitivity was estimated using the Composite insulin sensitivity index (C-ISI) developed by Matsuda and DeFronzo (Matsuda & DeFronzo 1999). This metric is a reflection of both hepatic and peripheral insulin demand, and is derived from measures in both the basal state and after a carbohydrate load. C-ISI has a high correlation (0.68) with the gold standard measure of insulin sensitivity (euglycemic clamp) and is derived from the equation (10,000/square root of [fasting glucose x fasting insulin] x [mean glucose x mean insulin during OGTT]).

Beta-cell function/matching of supply and demand: Beta cell function was determined using the Disposition index (DI), or the product of whole body insulin sensitivity (C-ISI) and both first- (IGI₀₋₃₀) and second- (IGI₆₀₋₁₂₀) phase insulin secretion (IGI0-30). This metric is based on the hyperbolic relationship between insulin sensitivity and secretion (Kahn et al. 1992), and is typically used to identify situations where an individual risks the development of diabetes by failing to match a reduction in insulin sensitivity with a change in secretion. As a change in sensitivity should be matched with an change in secretion of the opposite magnitude, the product of insulin supply and demand should be similar regardless of the effects of an intervention, and a change in the DI represents a change in the appropriate matching of insulin supply and demand.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the R statistics package and computing language and an a priori alpha of <0.05. Paired t-tests were used to evaluate pre- to post-intervention changes in fitness, body composition, fasting hormones, metabolites and biomarkers as well as pre- to post- intervention differences between single timepoints of the oral glucose tolerance test. Linear mixed models were used to

evaluate the relationship between the intervention and oral glucose tolerance over the sequential timepoints of the test, as well as the effect of any mediators of the relationship between exercise training and change in glycemic control (e.g. the presence or absence of Aromatase Inhibitor). Finally, associations between biomarkers and variables of interest were determined using Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients.

Results

Participant characteristics

Fifteen participants completed the study protocol, including fitness and anthropometric testing, subjective fatigue, self efficacy, QoL, blood analysis and exercise training. Indwelling catheter failure led to an incomplete OGTT for one participant, and thus this participant was included for the exercise training and basal blood parameters but not for the metrics of insulin supply and demand. Participant characteristics are included in table 5.1.

Exercise training

Participants attended 34.4 ± 7.7 training sessions, or 2.8 sessions/wk, and averaged 156.9 ± 30.6 minutes/wk of monitored exercise over the course of the 12-week intervention period. Data from the exercise training intervention can be found in the results section of chapter IV as well as the appendix.

Fitness and body composition

Aerobic fitness significantly increased as a result of the exercise training intervention (25.2 ± 5.4 vs. 27.7 ± 5.0 ml/kg/min, p<0.05). This represents a percent

change of $\pm 12.9 \pm 3.2\%$ over baseline. While participants experienced a significant reduction in weight (74.3 ± 15.5 vs. 73.2 ± 15.3 kg, p<0.05) and BMI (27.2 ± 5.2 vs. 26.8 ± 5.1 kg/m², p<0.05), this was not a result of a significant change in body fat. Fitness and body composition results are presented in Table 5.2.

Markers of cardiometabolic health

Hormones and metabolites that both reflect and regulate cardiometabolic health are included in Table 5.2. There were no significant changes in fasting glucose or glycemic responses to a glucose load. While there were no significant changes in circulating triglycerides or free fatty acids, there were significant reductions in leptin and 17-b estradiol (E2) concentrations as a result of the exercise training intervention (Table 5.2).

Metrics of insulin supply and demand

There were no significant differences in metrics of beta-cell processing (Proinsulin, PI/C), however there was a significant increase in estimated skeletal muscle glucose clearance rate (5.7 ± 1.8 vs. 7.2 ± 1.8 , mmol*pmol*kg/m² p<0.05) as a result of the exercise training intervention (figure 5.1). There were no significant differences in insulin secretion/supply (IGI₀₋₃₀, IGI₆₀₋₁₂₀, HIE) or insulin sensitivity (C-ISIS) or beta cell function/matching of insulin demand and supply (DI, table 5.3).

Self-Efficacy, fatigue and quality of life questionnaires

There were no significant differences in general, exercise or barriers of selfefficacy as a result of the intervention. Subscore analysis revealed significant reductions in fatigue severity (18.5 ± 13.5 vs. 11.2 ± 8.8 , Figure 5.2 A) as well as the impact of fatigue on cognition and mood (23.5 ± 10.1 vs. 19.0 ± 8.7, Figure 5.2 B). Additionally question 1 of the PFS, an independent question not included in subscore and total analyses regarding duration of fatigue on a six point likert scale (Months, Weeks, Days, Hours, Minutes, and Seconds) was significantly lower following exercise training ($3.2 \pm$ 2.3 vs. 1.9 ± 1.6 Figure 5.3 C). There were no significant differences in cancer-specific symptoms or fatigue as determined by the EORTC- QLQ C-30, however participants had a significant improvement in the QoL subscale (5.3 ± 1.0 vs. 5.9 ± 0.9 Figure 5.3 D) as a result of the exercise training. Neither the reductions in fatigue nor the improvements in quality of life were significantly associated with any changes in the primary physiological (e.g. estimated VO_{2peak}) or metabolic (e.g. C-ISI) outcomes.

Discussion

The goal of the current study was to investigate the effects of 12 weeks of personalized exercise training on the components of fasting and postprandial insulin secretion and sensitivity in breast cancer survivors. The exercise training program used in the current study was effective at increasing physical activity levels, which lead to a modest but significant reduction in weight and a significant increase in aerobic fitness. We also observed significant reductions in leptin and estrogen concentrations and an increase in skeletal muscle glucose clearance rate, which suggests that the exercise training in this study was of sufficient dose to induce peripheral adaptations in adipocytes and skeletal muscle. We also observed a significant reduction in fatigue and increase in quality of life. Despite improvements to fitness, fatigue, adipokine function and skeletal muscle, the intervention had a minimal effect on many of the systemic components of insulin supply and demand, such as insulin resistance and beta cell function. This result is

surprising, given that an increase in skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity and compensatory reduction in insulin secretion to maintain glucose homeostasis is commonly observed in exercise training interventions (Malin et al. 2012, Kirwan & Jing, 2002).

There are several possible explanations for the lack of changes to insulin supply and demand following exercise training, which may have both scientific and clinical relevance. First, it is possible that the exercise dose applied in this current intervention was not sufficient to induce changes to liver and pancreatic function that contribute to overall regulation of insulin supply and demand. Participants in this study exercised at a relatively high intensity and volume compared to other studies within this population, and therefore the most likely contributor to a dose-dependent lack of effect may be the duration of exercise training. While unlikely, it is possible that metabolic adaptations are delayed in breast cancer survivors, and a 12-week exercise intervention that would be effective in many other populations is not of sufficient duration to induce changes to glycemic control.

A second potential explanation for the lack of observed changes to insulin secretion, insulin sensitivity and beta cell function in the current study is that baseline fasting and postmeal glucose concentrations were not impaired. Most of the OGTTderived metrics for evaluating insulin supply and demand incorporate changes to blood glucose as a component, and it is possible that the lack of change in glucose concentrations may have obscured some of the underlying mechanisms responsible for regulating glycemia. Future studies in breast cancer survivors that include women with prediabetes and/or evaluate insulin supply and demand via gold-standard techniques (e.g.

euglycemic clamp) are needed to help address these potential confounding effects of exercise training on cancer and cardiometabolic disease prognosis in this population.

Finally, it is possible that menopause induces physiological changes that blunt or abrogate many of the metabolic adaptations to exercise training, and this effect is exacerbated in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors. Cardiometabolic health declines across the stages of the menopause (El Khoudary et al. 2012), and postmenopausal women have significantly impaired cardiovascular adaptations to both acute (Serviente et al. 2016) and chronic exercise training (Tenzi et al. 2013) compared to premenopausal controls. This cardiovascular response may be partially explained by the requirement of estrogen for exercise-induced improvements in endothelial function (Moreau et al. 2013), however the role of estrogen as a mediator/moderator of both diabetes pathophysiology and changes to glucoregulatory metabolism following exercise training is unclear. Postmenopausal women taking exogenous estrogen appear to have significantly reduced risk of diabetes and prediabetes development (van Genugten et al. 2006), and combining exogenous estrogen with exercise training appears to improve insulin sensitivity to a greater degree than exercise alone in postmenopausal women (Evans et al. 2001). It is therefore possible that the low circulating estrogen concentrations in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors, especially those on estrogen-lowering therapy (e.g. aromatase inhibitors), are directly increasing the risk of diabetes and blunting the improvements to insulin supply and demand following exercise training. While we observed a significant reduction in estrogen concentrations as a result of the exercise training, there were no significant associations between baseline or change in estrogen and any of the metrics of insulin supply and demand. Estrogen concentrations were very low (<15 pg/ml) however,

and OGTT-derived glucoregulatory metrics may not be precise enough to accurately reflect these relationships.

As the number and longevity of breast cancer survivors increases, the potential role of estrogen to both increase the risk of cancer recurrence and decrease the risk of cardiometabolic disease may have wide-ranging clinical implications. Exercise training reduces the risk of both cancer recurrence and cardiometabolic disease, which may be of great importance in breast cancer survivors with high diabetes risk taking estrogen lowering medications. In order to develop personalized interventions for breast cancer survivors at risk for cardiometabolic disease, there is a pressing need to identify potential areas of overlap between cancer and cardiometabolic disease and their systematic and tissue-specific response to lifestyle interventions.

Tables

<u>N=15</u>	Mean ± SD
Age (yrs)	59.9 ± 9.2
Years post diagnosis	4.0 ± 3.5
Stage (1-3)	1.67 ± 0.62
ER+ (%)	11 (73%)
Endocrine Therapy (%)	7 (47%)
Weight (kg)	75.5 ± 16.4
Body Mass Index (kg/m^2)	27.6 ± 5.4
Body Fat (%)	43.1 ± 9.9
Estimated VO _{2peak} (ml/kg/min)	25.2 ± 5.4
Blood Pressure (mmHg)	$124.5/75.5 \pm 10.7/5.2$
Fasting Blood Glucose (<i>mg/dL</i>)	102.0 ± 13.7
2 hour Blood Glucose (mg/dL)	120.6 ± 21.6

Table 5.1: Participant characteristics

Data presented as mean \pm SEM

	Baseline	Post-training	<u>% Change</u>	Significance		
Fitness and body composition						
Weight (kg)	75.5 ± 16.4	$74.5 \pm 15.8*$	-1.4	p=0.04		
BMI (kg/m^2)	27.6 ± 5.4	$26.9 \pm 5.2*$	-2.3	p=0.03		
Body fat (%)	43.1 ± 9.9	42.6 ± 9.7	-1.3	NS		
WC (cm)	91.2 ± 11.9	$88.6 \pm 10.1*$	-2.0	p=0.02		
Est. VO _{2peak}	25.2 ± 5.4	$27.7 \pm 5.0*$	+12.9	p<0.01		
(ml/kg/min)						
Cardiometabolic health						
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	102.0 ± 13.7	99.1 ± 11.8	-2.8	NS		
2h glucose (mg/dl)	120.6 ± 21.6	115.5 ± 20.4	-4.2	NS		
Glucose AUC (mg/dl)	599.2 ± 134.5	569.0 ± 76.8	-7.9	NS		
Leptin (ng/mL)	30.8 ± 19.3	$23.8 \pm 13.0*$	-22.7	p=0.03		
E2 (pg/mL)	12.9 ± 6.3	$10.2 \pm 3.4*$	-20.9	p=0.04		
Free Fatty Acid (mmol)	0.92 ± 0.37	0.77 ± 0.40	-16.5	NS		
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	105.4 ± 34.9	98.5 ± 29.8	-6.6	NS		
Systolic BP (mmHg)	124.5 ± 10.7	$120.2 \pm 13.1*$	-3.6	p=0.03		
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	75.5 ± 5.2	73.8 ± 4.9	-3.0	NS		

 Table 5.2: Changes in fitness, body composition and cardiometabolic health

BMI= Body Mass Index, WC=Waist Circumference, BMD=Bone Mineral Density, FFM=Fat Free Mass, E2= 17b Estradiol, BP=Blood Pressure, Data presented as Mean ± SD (*) p<0.05

Table 5.3:	Changes	in metrics	of glycemic	control

	Baseline	Post-Intervention	<u>Change</u>	<u>p-value</u>	
Fasting PI (pmol)	11.3 ± 4.6	10.7 ± 3.6	-0.6	0.4	
PI AUC (pmol)	221.1 ± 93.8	210.6 ± 25.7	-10.5	0.4	
PI/C	2.2 ± 1.1	2.0 ± 0.9	-0.2	0.3	
IGI ₀₋₃₀	0.22 ± 0.4	0.21 ± 0.3	-0.1	0.9	
IGI ₆₀₋₁₂₀	0.37 ± 0.6	0.35 ± 0.7	-0.2	0.8	
HIE (%)	19.9 ± 4.1	20.3 ± 5.6	+0.4	0.7	
C-ISI	3.3 ± 1.8	3.4 ± 1.3	+0.1	0.8	
DI _{0-30 x C-ISI}	0.73 ± 0.17	0.71 ± 0.15	-0.01	0.7	
DI _{60-120 x C-ISI}	1.16 ± 0.24	1.19 ± 0.27	+0.03	0.6	
PI=Proinsulin, AUC=Area under the curve, IGI=Insulinogenic Index, HIE=Hepatic					
Insulin Extraction, DI=Disposition Index Data presented as Mean ± SD					

Figures



Figure 5.1: Metabolic glucose clearance rate (MCR)

Skeletal glucose clearance rate based on five sample oral glucose tolerance test from the equation established by Stumvoll et al. Data presented as Mean \pm SD (*) p<0.05



Figure 5.2: Subjective fatigue and quality of life

Subjective fatigue (Piper Fatigue Scale) and quality of life (EORTC QLQ-C30) determined by subscale analysis. (A)- Fatigue severity subscale, (B) Subjective assessment of fatigue on cognition/mood, (C) Fatigue Duration and (D) overall health and quality of life. Data presented as mean \pm SD. (*) p<0.05

CHAPTER VI

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The incidence and prevalence of both cancer and type 2 diabetes (T2D) are increasing at alarming rates in the United States as well as other developed countries. Physical activity decreases the risk of developing both diabetes and cancer (Kahn et al. 1993, Moore et al. 2016) and improves prognosis for those individuals who have already received a diagnosis (Ballard-Barbash et al. 2012), however the exact mechanisms are still unclear. While the changes to insulin supply (i.e. insulin secretion) and demand (i.e. sensitivity) following lifestyle interventions or pharmacology in adults at risk for diabetes and cancer have been investigated independently, relatively little is understood regarding the effects of combined exercise training and pharmacology interventions. A recent study from our lab suggested that adding metformin (a common anti-diabetes medication) to exercise training did not enhance, and may have even blunted, the improvements to insulin sensitivity derived from exercise training alone (Malin et al. 2012). While insulin sensitivity and secretion represent key contributors to glycemic control, several other factors that lie outside this systemic closed loop may play a role in the regulation of diabetes risk. These tissue-specific responses may be more responsive to medication than to exercise, and while the systemic response to exercise training and metformin may be non-additive, that may not be the case within specific tissues. The purpose of study one was therefore to investigate the independent and combined effects of exercise training and metformin on aspects of insulin supply and demand that exist outside the typical insulin supply and demand relationship.

While this study was underway the consortium for the Transdisciplinary Research into the Energetics of Cancer (TREC) began a study that also investigated the effects of exercise training and/or metformin (Patterson et al. 2011). However instead of adults at risk for diabetes, this project was evaluating the impact of exercise training and/or metformin on cancer risk in a group of breast cancer survivors, in a four-arm approach similar to study one. While this study will likely contribute significantly towards the understanding of combined interventions on cancer recurrence, it may be limited by the use of fasting insulin as the primary measure of insulin supply and demand. Given that postmeal insulin exposure can be 50-80% of daily insulin exposure (Reaven, 1979) and exercise training primarily reduces postmeal (not fasting) insulin concentrations in nondiabetic adults (Jenkins & Hagberg, 2011), evaluating an exercise training intervention on the responses of fasting insulin alone may significantly underestimate the role of exercise-induced reductions in insulin. The purpose of study two was to evaluate the effects of exercise training on postmeal insulin concentrations in breast cancer survivors, and determine if there was any relationship between the changes in postmeal insulin concentrations and cancer-relevant biomarkers.

Finally, several aspects of breast cancer treatment may influence the mechanisms behind fasting and postmeal insulin concentrations, such as insulin sensitivity, secretion and beta cell function. As the number and longevity of breast cancer survivors increases, more and more postmenopausal breast cancer survivors are at risk for cardiometabolic disease. While significant contributions have been made to the understanding of exercise induced cardioprevention and recovery of cardiovascular function in cancer survivors following treatment, much less is understood regarding the recovery of metabolic

function, such as insulin supply and demand. The purpose of study three was therefore to evaluate the systemic and tissue-specific aspects of insulin supply and demand in breast cancer survivors, and evaluate their response to exercise training.

Summary of study 1

Study 1 used a combination of a fasting blood draw and hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp to evaluate several metrics of insulin supply and demand that lie outside the closed loop of insulin secretion and sensitivity prior to and following an exercise training and/or metformin intervention in adults with prediabetes. The three specific outcomes were proinsulin processing, hepatic first pass insulin extraction, and insulin clearance. Proinsulin concentrations are a reflection of how hard the beta cells of the pancreas are working to produce insulin. We found that circulating proinsulin concentrations were significantly reduced following combined exercise training and metformin intervention, but were not different in exercise alone or placebo. Metformin alone led to a decrease in proinsulin of approximately the same magnitude, however this did not reach significance. We found no influence of any treatment on hepatic insulin extraction, however there was a significant increase in the rate of insulin clearance during the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp in both metformin groups (metformin alone and exercise plus metformin).

Taken together, these results suggest that while exercise training may have wideranging systemic effects on insulin supply and demand, metformin may work in a tissuespecific manner to regulate glycemic control. This result has significant implications for researchers designing comparative efficacy studies as well as implications for clinicians attempting to personalize lifestyle and pharmacological interventions to adults at risk for

diabetes development. For example, it is possible that individuals with poor insulin production and/or clearance but normal insulin sensitivity would derive more benefit from metformin than they would from exercise training, whereas those adults with insulin resistance would not only respond more favorably to exercise training than metformin, but should possibly avoid the attenuating effects of metformin on exercise adaptations should they begin an exercise training program while on metformin.

Summary of studies 2 and 3

Studies 2 and 3 investigated the impact of 12- weeks of personalized aerobic exercise training on postmeal insulin concentrations (Study 2) and metrics of insulin supply and demand (study 3) in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors. These two studies were designed to be viewed in conjunction with each other, with study two focused on the role of exercise-induced changes to insulin concentrations and their relationship with cancer risk and recurrence, while study 3 was focused on the cardiometabolic health of postmenopausal breast cancer survivors and the mechanisms by which cancer treatment may influence diabetes risk through the mechanisms that regulate insulin supply and demand. Participants significantly increased their physical activity levels as a result of the exercise training intervention, attending an average of 34 sessions over the 12 week period and engaging in 156 minutes/wk of supervised exercise. The progressive nature of the exercise program was adhered to by the majority of the participants, and both volume and intensity of exercise increased over the 12 week period as participants fitness improved. Aerobic fitness significantly increased and weight significantly decreased as a result of the exercise training program, suggesting that the dose of exercise was sufficient to induce beneficial physiological adaptations.

Additionally, participants had reduced levels of fatigue and improved quality of life. The exercise training program could therefore be considered successful for the participants based on those metrics alone, as quality of life and aerobic fitness represent areas where cancer treatment has large detrimental effects.

While the exercise training intervention led to significant reductions in several cancer biomarkers (e.g. leptin, 17b-estradiol) and a reduction in insulin concentrations 2 hours following the administration of an oral glucose challenge, exercise training did not lower overall postmeal insulin concentrations or metrics of insulin supply and demand. This result was surprising as a reduction in postmeal insulin concentrations and increase in insulin sensitivity is often observed in exercise training interventions. A secondary analysis of contributing factors to this lack of effect of exercise training suggests that there was a significantly opposing effect of past/present aromatase inhibitor use on metabolic adaptations to exercise training. Given the primary role of aromatase inhibitors to reduce circulating estrogen concentrations in postmenopausal women, it is likely that estrogen plays a role in the metabolic adaptations to exercise training in breast cancer survivors. We observed a significant negative association between the change in peak estrogen concentrations and change in peak insulin concentrations following exercise training in women with past/present AI use, but not in those women who were not taking or who had never taken AIs. Additionally, the change in insulin sensitivity (C-ISI) in women who were not taking aromatase inhibitors was negatively correlated with percent change in estrogen concentrations, but this was not the case for women taking AIs. While this data presents a somewhat conflicting view of the role of estrogen in metabolic adaptations to exercise training, it is clear that estrogen concentrations, and by proxy the

use of estrogen lowering medications, may play a significant role in both cancer and cardiometabolic disease risk in breast cancer survivors.

Conclusion

When taken together, these studies appear to shed some light on the nature of exercise training as a means to modify two hormones that play opposing roles in the pathophysiology of diabetes and cancer. While insulin and estrogen contribute to better blood glucose control, the mitogenic properties inherent in both hormones likely make them detrimental towards the prevention of cancer recurrence. Results from this dissertation suggest that exercise training can reduce circulating concentrations of insulin, however this is specific to the postmeal state. This response appears to be blunted in individuals with a past or present history of aromatase inhibitor use. We also observed a significant reduction in estrogen as a result of exercise, however the clinical implications are unclear based on the relatively low levels at baseline. Exercise training may therefore represent an option for managing post-treatment concentrations of hormones that have a significant influence on cancer risk as well as diabetes development. This may go a long way towards the idea of precision medicine, where the use of exercise, diet, and pharmacolology (e.g. metformin) would be optimally integrated and combined with the appropriate dose and duration of endocrine therapy in order to maximally reduce the risk of cancer recurrence with minimal impact on diabetes risk. While this dissertation sheds some light on the potential mechanisms behind the relationship between cancer recurrence and diabetes risk following exercise training, it raises far more questions than it answers. Future exercise training studies in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors that focus on populations at high risk for diabetes, use gold-standard measures of insulin

supply and demand and are designed to directly evaluate the role of estrogen and/or aromatase inhibitor use are required before the dream of personalized precision posttreatment oncotherapy can become a reality.

APPENDIX

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES EXERCISE TRAINING IN BREAST CANCER SURVIVORS

One of the strengths of studies 2 and 3 is the personal supervision of all exercise training sessions. Because data was continuously collected throughout the exercise training intevention on each participant, we are able to examine the progression of fitness and evaluate whether these individual responses may have contributed to the overall changes observed in fitness, body composition and cardiometabolic health. Presented below are individual changes to exercise volume (Figure A1) and intensity (Figure A2) broken into weeks 1-4, 5-8 and 9-12, along with the total number of sessions (Figure A3) and the number of high intensity interval sessions (Figure A4).





Figure A1: Exercise training volume

Individual changes to supervised exercise volume over the course of the 12 week intervention period.



Figure A2: Exercise training intensity

Individual changes to supervised exercise training intensity, reported as percent of agepredicted maximum heart rate (%HRmax) per session during the exercise training intervention





Total number of exercise sessions over the 12-week intervention period for each participant enrolled in the study.



Figure A4: High intensity interval sessions

Total number of high intensity interval training (HIIT) sessions by each participant over the course of the 12-week intervention period

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abdul Ghani, Muhammad Tripathy, Devjit DeFronzo, Ralph. (2006). Contributions of beta-cell dysfunction and insulin resistance to the pathogenesis of impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose. *Diabetes Care, 29*(5), 1130-1139. doi:10.2337/diacare.2951130

Ader, M., Stefanovski, D., Kim, S. P., Richey, J. M., Ionut, V., Catalano, K. J., . . . Bergman, R. N. (2014). Hepatic insulin clearance is the primary determinant of insulin sensitivity in the normal dog. *Obesity*, 22(5), 1238-45. doi:10.1002/oby.20625

Ahern, Thomas Hankinson, Susan Willett, Walter Pollak, Michael Eliassen, A H Tamimi, Rulla. (2013). Plasma C-peptide, mammographic breast density, and risk of invasive breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 22*(10), 1786-1796. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0375

Ahren, B. P., G. (1998). Age-related reduction in glucose elimination is accompanied by reduced glucose effectiveness and increased hepatic insulin extraction in man. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 83*(9), 3350-3356. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.9.5107

Amir, E., Seruga, B., Niraula, S., Carlsson, L., & Ocaña, A. (2011). Toxicity of adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *103*(17), 1299-1309. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr242

Andò, S., Barone, I., Giordano, C., Bonofiglio, D., & Catalano, S. (2014). The multifaceted mechanism of leptin signaling within tumor microenvironment in driving breast cancer growth and progression. *Frontiers in Oncology, 4*, 340-340. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00340

Andreev, V P Paz Filho, G Wong,M-L Licinio, J. (2009). Deconvolution of insulin secretion, insulin hepatic extraction post-hepatic delivery rates and sensitivity during 24-hour standardized meals: Time course of glucose homeostasis in leptin replacement treatment. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, *41*(2), 142-151. doi:10.1055/s-0028-1082048

Appelman, Y., van Rijn, B., Ten Haaf, M., Boersma, E., & Peters, S. A. E. (2015). Sex differences in cardiovascular risk factors and disease prevention. *Atherosclerosis*, *241*(1), 211-218. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.01.027

Arnott, Caroline Scott, Kate Moore, Robert Hewer, Alan Phillips, David Parker, Peter Balkwill,Frances Owens, David. (2002). Tumour necrosis factor-alpha mediates tumour promotion via a PKC alpha- and AP-1-dependent pathway. *Oncogene, 21*(31), 4728-4738. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205588

Awick, E., Phillips, S., Lloyd, G., & McAuley, E. (2016). Physical activity, self-efficacy and self-esteem in breast cancer survivors: A panel model. *Psycho-Oncology*, doi:10.1002/pon.4180

Baird, R. C., Carlos. (2013). Genetic heterogeneity in breast cancer: The road to personalized medicine? *BMC Medicine*, *11*, 151-151. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-151

Bajetta, E Zilembo, N Dowsett, M Guillevin, L Di Leo, A Celio, L Martinetti, A Marchian $\tilde{A}f\hat{A}^2$, A Pozzi, P Stani,S Bichisao, E. (1999). Double-blind, randomised, multicentre endocrine trial comparing two letrozole doses, in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *European Journal of Cancer*, *35*(2), 208-213. doi:10.1016/S0959-8049(98)00392-X

Balducci, S., Zanuso, S., Nicolucci, A., Fernando, F., Cavallo, S., Cardelli, P., ... Pugliese, G. (2010). Anti-inflammatory effect of exercise training in subjects with type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome is dependent on exercise modalities and independent of weight loss. *NMCD.Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 20(8), 608-617. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2009.04.015

Ballard Barbash, Rachel Friedenreich, Christine Courneya, Kerry Siddiqi, Sameer McTiernan, Anne Alfano, Catherine. (2012). Physical activity, biomarkers, and disease outcomes in cancer survivors: A systematic review. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *104*(11), 815-840. doi:10.1093/jnci/djs207

Bardia, A., Arieas, E., Zhang, Z., Defilippis, A., Tarpinian, K., Jeter, S., . . . Stearns, V. (2012). Comparison of breast cancer recurrence risk and cardiovascular disease incidence risk among postmenopausal women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *131*(3), 907-914. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1843-1

Basu, Rita Barosa, Cristina Jones, John Dube, Simmi Carter, Rickey Basu, Ananda Rizza, Robert. (2013). Pathogenesis of prediabetes: Role of the liver in isolated fasting hyperglycemia and combined fasting and postprandial hyperglycemia. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *98*(3), E409-E417. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-3056

Basu, R., Breda, E., Oberg, A., Powell, C., Dalla Man, C., Basu, A., ... Rizza, R. (2003). Mechanisms of the age-associated deterioration in glucose tolerance: Contribution of alterations in insulin secretion, action, and clearance. *Diabetes*, *52*(7), 1738-1748. doi:10.2337/diabetes.52.7.1738

Baxi, Sangita Tan, Wei Murphy, Sean Smeal, Tod Yin, Min-Jean. (2012). Targeting 3-phosphoinoside-dependent kinase-1 to inhibit insulin-like growth factor-I induced AKT and p70 S6 kinase activation in breast cancer cells. *Plos One*, *7*(10), e48402-e48402. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0048402

Becker, T., Lipscombe, L., Narod, S., Simmons, C., Anderson, G., & Rochon, P. (2012). Systematic review of bone health in older women treated with aromatase inhibitors for early-stage breast cancer. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *60*(9), 1761-1767. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04107.x

Beelen, Karin Opdam, Mark Severson, Tesa Koornstra, Rutger Vincent, Andrew Wesseling, Jelle Muris, Jettie Berns, Els Vermorken, Jan van Diest, Paul Linn, Sabine. (2014). PIK3CA mutations, phosphatase and tensin homolog, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor and adjuvant tamoxifen resistance in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Research*, *16*(1), R13-R13. doi:10.1186/bcr3606

Belardi, V., Gallagher, E., Novosyadlyy, R., & LeRoith, D. (2013). Insulin and IGFs in obesity-related breast cancer. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, *18*(3-4), 277-289. doi:10.1007/s10911-013-9303-7

Belfiore, Antonino Frasca, Francesco Pandini, Giuseppe Sciacca, Laura Vigneri, Riccardo. (2009). Insulin receptor isoforms and insulin receptor/insulin-like growth factor receptor hybrids in physiology and disease. *Endocrine Reviews, 30*(6), 586-623. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0047

Benson, J. W., Gordon. (2013). Predictors of recurrence for ductal carcinoma in situ after breast-conserving surgery. *Lancet Oncology*, *14*(9), e348-e357. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70135-9

Berger, Ann Hertzog, Melody Geary, Carol Fischer, Patricia Farr, Lynne. (2012). Circadian rhythms, symptoms, physical functioning, and body mass index in breast cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 6(3), 305-314. doi:10.1007/s11764-012-0218-x

Berger, A., Gerber, L., & Mayer, D. (2012). Cancer-related fatigue: Implications for breast cancer survivors. *Cancer*, 118(8 Suppl), 2261-2269. doi:10.1002/cncr.27475

Bergman, R N Phillips,L S Cobelli, C. (1981). Physiologic evaluation of factors controlling glucose tolerance in man: Measurement of insulin sensitivity and beta-cell glucose sensitivity from the response to intravenous glucose. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *68*(6), 1456-1467. doi:10.1172/JCI110398

Berryman, Darlene Christiansen, Jens Johannsson, Gudmundur Thorner, Michael Kopchick, John. (2008). Role of the GH/IGF-1 axis in lifespan and healthspan: Lessons from animal models. *Growth Hormone & IGF Research, 18*(6), 455-471. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2008.05.005

Biensa, Rasmus Ringholm, Stine Kiilerich, Kristian Aachmann Andersen, Niels-Jacob Krogh Madsen, Rikke Guerra, Borja Plomgaard, Peter van Hall, Gerrit Treebak, Jonas Saltin, Bengt Lundby, Carsten Calbet, Jose A L Pilegaard, Henriette Wojtaszewski, J $\hat{A}f\hat{A}$, rgen F P. (2012). GLUT4 and glycogen synthase are key players in bed rest-induced insulin resistance. *Diabetes*, *61*(5), 1090-1099. doi:10.2337/db11-0884
Binai, Nadine Carra, Gert LÃ*f*wer, Johannes LÃ*f*wer,Roswitha Wessler, Silja. (2013). Differential gene expression in ERñ-positive and ERñ-negative breast cancer cells upon leptin stimulation. *Endocrine*, 44(2), 496-503. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-9897-y

Blaney, J M Lowe Strong, A Rankin Watt, J Campbell, A Gracey, J H. (2013). Cancer survivors' exercise barriers, facilitators and preferences in the context of fatigue, quality of life and physical activity participation: A questionnaire-survey. *Psycho-Oncology,* 22(1), 186-194. doi:10.1002/pon.2072

Bluethmann, S., Vernon, S., Gabriel, K., Murphy, C., & Bartholomew, L. K. (2015). Taking the next step: A systematic review and meta-analysis of physical activity and behavior change interventions in recent post-treatment breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 149*(2), 331-342. doi:10.1007/s10549-014-3255-5

Bodmer, M., Krähenbühl, S., Jick, S., & Meier, C. (2010). Long-term metformin use is associated with decreased risk of breast cancer. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(6), 1304-1308. doi:10.2337/dc09-1791

Boeddinghaus, I. M. D., M. (2001). Comparative clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetic interactions of aromatase inhibitors. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *79*(1-5), 85-91. doi:10.1016/S0960-0760(01)00126-1

Bonadonna, R C Groop, L Kraemer, N Ferrannini, E Del Prato, S DeFronzo, R A. (1990). Obesity and insulin resistance in humans: A dose-response study. *Metabolism, Clinical and Experimental*, *39*(5), 452-459. doi:10.1016/0026-0495(90)90002-T

Bonnet, Fabrice Ducluzeau, Pierre-Henri Gastaldelli, Amalia Laville, Martine Anderwald, Christian Konrad, Thomas Mari, Andrea Balkau, Beverley. (2011). Liver enzymes are associated with hepatic insulin resistance, insulin secretion, and glucagon concentration in healthy men and women. *Diabetes, 60*(6), 1660-1667. doi:10.2337/db10-1806

Boquiren, V., Hack, T., Thomas, R., Towers, A., Kwan, W., Tilley, A., . . . Miedema, B. (2016). A longitudinal analysis of chronic arm morbidity following breast cancer surgery. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 157*(3), 413-425. doi:10.1007/s10549-016-3834-8

Bower, J. E., Ganz, P. A., Desmond, K. A., Rowland, J. H., Meyerowitz, B. E., & Belin, T. R. (2000). Fatigue in breast cancer survivors: Occurrence, correlates, and impact on quality of life. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *18*(4), 743-753.

Boyle, James Thompson, Theodore Gregg, Edward Barker, Lawrence Williamson, David. (2010). Projection of the year 2050 burden of diabetes in the US adult population: Dynamic modeling of incidence, mortality, and prediabetes prevalence. *Population Health Metrics*, *8*, 29-29. doi:10.1186/1478-7954-8-29

Bray, F., McCarron, P., & Parkin, D. M. (2004). The changing global patterns of female breast cancer incidence and mortality. *Breast Cancer Research*, *6*(6), 229-239. doi:10.1186/bcr932

Britt, K. (2012). Menarche, menopause, and breast cancer risk. *Lancet Oncology*, *13*(11), 1071-1072. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70456-4

Bulun, Serdar Chen, Dong Moy, Irene Brooks, David Zhao, Hong. (2012). Aromatase, breast cancer and obesity: A complex interaction. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 23(2), 83-89. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2011.10.003

Bunt, Joy Krakoff, Jonathan Ortega, Emilio Knowler, William Bogardus, Clifton. (2007). Acute insulin response is an independent predictor of type 2 diabetes mellitus in individuals with both normal fasting and 2-h plasma glucose concentrations. *Diabetes/metabolism Research and Reviews, 23*(4), 304-310. doi:10.1002/dmrr.686

Call, Rosemary Grimsley, Molly Cadwallader, Lucy Cialone, Laura Hill, Matt Hreish, Vera King, S T Riche, Daniel. (2010). Insulin--carcinogen or mitogen? preclinical and clinical evidence from prostate, breast, pancreatic, and colorectal cancer research. *Postgraduate Medicine*, *122*(3), 158-165. doi:10.3810/pgm.2010.05.2153

Calle, M C Fernandez, M L. (2012). Inflammation and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & Metabolism, 38*(3), 183-191. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2011.11.006

Calle, E. K., Rudolf. (2004). Overweight, obesity and cancer: Epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 4(8), 579-591. doi:10.1038/nrc1408

Campagnoli, Carlo Berrino, Franco Venturelli, Elisabetta AbbÃ*f*, Chiara Biglia, Nicoletta Brucato, Tiziana Cogliati, Patrizia Danese, Saverio Donadio, Michela Zito,Gianna Pasanisi, Patrizia. (2013). Metformin decreases circulating androgen and estrogen levels in nondiabetic women with breast cancer. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, *13*(6), 433-438. doi:10.1016/j.clbc.2013.08.012

Campbell, Kristin Van Patten, Cheri Neil, Sarah Kirkham, Amy Gotay, Carolyn Gelmon, Karen McKenzie, Donald. (2012). Feasibility of a lifestyle intervention on body weight and serum biomarkers in breast cancer survivors with overweight and obesity. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *112*(4), 559-567. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.10.022

Campioni, M Toffolo, G Basu, R Rizza, R A Cobelli, C. (2009). Minimal model assessment of hepatic insulin extraction during an oral test from standard insulin kinetic parameters. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 297*(4), E941-E948. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90842.2008

Cao, J., Meng, S., Chang, E., Beckwith-Fickas, K., Xiong, L., Cole, R. N., . . . He, L. (2014). Low concentrations of metformin suppress glucose production in hepatocytes through AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *289*(30), 20435-46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.567271

Capasso, Immacolata Esposito, Emanuela Pentimalli, Francesca Montella, Maurizio Crispo, Anna Maurea, Nicola D'Aiuto, Massimiliano Fucito, Alfredo Grimaldi, Maria Cavalcanti, Ernesta Esposito, Giuseppe Brillante, Giuseppe Lodato, Sergio Pedicini, Tonino D'Aiuto, Giuseppe Ciliberto, Gennaro Giordano, Antonio. (2013). Homeostasis model assessment to detect insulin resistance and identify patients at high risk of breast cancer development: National cancer institute of naples experience. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, *32*, 14-14. doi:10.1186/1756-9966-32-14 Carpenter, Catherine Duvall, Karen Jardack, Patricia Li, Luyi Henning, Susanne Li,Zhaoping Heber, David. (2012). Weight loss reduces breast ductal fluid estrogens in obese postmenopausal women: A single arm intervention pilot study. *Nutrition Journal*, *11*, 102-102. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-11-102

Castell-Auví, A., Cedó, L., Pallarès, V., Blay, M., Ardévol, A., & Pinent, M. (2012). The effects of a cafeteria diet on insulin production and clearance in rats. *British Journal of Nutrition, 108*(7), 1155-62. doi:10.1017/S0007114511006623

Chae, Y., Arya, A., Malecek, M., Shin, D., Carneiro, B., Chandra, S., ... Giles, F. (2016). Repurposing metformin for cancer treatment: Current clinical studies. *Oncotarget*, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.8194

Chang, S., Pollack, L., & Colditz, G. (2013). Obesity, mortality, and life years lost associated with breast cancer in nonsmoking US women, national health interview survey, 1997-2000. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 10*, E186-E186. doi:10.5888/pcd10.130112

Chen, J., Kuo, S., Liaw, Y., Avital, I., Stojadinovic, A., Man, Y., . . . Hsiao, Y. (2014). Endometrial cancer incidence in breast cancer patients correlating with age and duration of tamoxifen use: A population based study. *Journal of Cancer*, *5*(2), 151-155. doi:10.7150/jca.8412

Chiu, J J Sgagias, M K Cowan, K H. (1996). Interleukin 6 acts as a paracrine growth factor in human mammary carcinoma cell lines. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *2*(1), 215-221.

Chlebowski, R. T. (2000). Reducing the risk of breast cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *343*(3), 191-198. doi:10.1056/NEJM200007203430307

Choi, C. S., Kim, C. H., Lee, W. J., Park, J. Y., Hong, S. K., & Lee, K. U. (1999). Elevated plasma proinsulin/insulin ratio is a marker of reduced insulin secretory capacity in healthy young men. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, *31*(4), 267-70. doi:10.1055/s-2007-978730

Chojecki, A., Wong, S., & Toppmeyer, D. (2014). Optimal management of the premenopausal patient with estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, , e12-e15. doi:10.14694/EdBook_AM.2014.34.e12

Cleary, Margot Ray, Amitabha Rogozina, Olga Dogan, Soner Grossmann, Michael. (2009). Targeting the adiponectin:Leptin ratio for postmenopausal breast cancer prevention. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Scholar Edition)*, *1*, 329-357. doi:10.2741/s30

Cobelli, Claudio Toffolo, Gianna Dalla Man, Chiara Campioni, Marco Denti, Paolo Caumo, Andrea Butler, Peter Rizza, Robert. (2007). Assessment of beta-cell function in humans, simultaneously with insulin sensitivity and hepatic extraction, from intravenous and oral glucose tests. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 293*(1), E1-E15. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00421.2006

Colberg, S., Sigal, R., Fernhall, B., Regensteiner, J., Blissmer, B., Rubin, R., ... Braun, B. (2010). Exercise and type 2 diabetes: The american college of sports medicine and the american diabetes association: Joint position statement. *Diabetes Care, 33*(12), e147-e167. doi:10.2337/dc10-9990

Colditz, G., Philpott, S., & Hankinson, S. (2016). The impact of the nurses' health study on population health: Prevention, translation, and control. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(9), 1540-1545. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303343

Coleman, D L Hummel,K P. (1973). The influence of genetic background on the expression of the obese (ob) gene in the mouse. *Diabetologia*, *9*(4), 287-293. doi:10.1007/BF01221856

Courneya, Kerry McKenzie, Donald Mackey, John Gelmon, Karen Friedenreich, Christine Yasui, Yutaka Reid, Robert Cook, Diane Jespersen, Diana Proulx, Carolyn Dolan, Lianne Forbes, Cynthia Wooding, Evyanne Trinh,Linda Segal, Roanne. (2013). Effects of exercise dose and type during breast cancer chemotherapy: Multicenter randomized trial. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 105*(23), 1821-1832. doi:10.1093/jnci/djt297 Cummings, S., Tice, J., Bauer, S., Browner, W., Cuzick, J., Ziv, E., . . . Kerlikowske, K. (2009). Prevention of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: Approaches to estimating and reducing risk. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *101*(6), 384-398. doi:10.1093/jnci/djp018

Daly, M. (2003). Sugars, insulin sensitivity, and the postprandial state. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78(4), 865S-872S.

Daniele, G., Abdul Ghani, M., & DeFronzo, R. (2014). What are the pharmacotherapy options for treating prediabetes? *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, *15*(14), 2003-18. doi:10.1517/14656566.2014.944160

DeFronzo, R A Tobin, J D Andres, R. (1979). Glucose clamp technique: A method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. *American Journal of Physiology*, 237(3), E214-E223.

DeFronzo, R. A., & Abdul-Ghani, M. A. (2011). Preservation of B-cell function: The key to diabetes prevention. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *96*(8), 2354-66. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-0246

DeFronzo, R. A., Tripathy, D., Schwenke, D. C., Banerji, M., Bray, G. A., Buchanan, T. A., . . . Reaven, P. D. (2011). Pioglitazone for diabetes prevention in impaired glucose tolerance. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *364*(12), 1104-15. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1010949

Demark Wahnefried, W., Colditz, G., Rock, C., Sedjo, R., Liu, J., Wolin, K., ... Ganz, P. (2015). Quality of life outcomes from the exercise and nutrition enhance recovery and good health for you (ENERGY)-randomized weight loss trial among breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 154*(2), 329-337. doi:10.1007/s10549-015-3627-5

Dillon, R L White, D E Muller, W J. (2007). The phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase signaling network: Implications for human breast cancer. *Oncogene*, *26*(9), 1338-1345. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210202

Duca, F. A., Côté, C. D., Rasmussen, B. A., Zadeh-Tahmasebi, M., Rutter, G. A., Filippi, B. M., & Lam, T. K. T. (2015). Metformin activates a duodenal ampk-dependent pathway to lower hepatic glucose production in rats. *Nature Medicine*, *21*(5), 506-11. doi:10.1038/nm.3787

Duggan, Catherine Wang, Ching-Yun Neuhouser, Marian Xiao, Liren Smith, Ashley Reding, Kerryn Baumgartner, Richard Baumgartner, Kathy Bernstein, Leslie Ballard Barbash, Rachel McTiernan, Anne. (2013). Associations of insulin-like growth factor and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 with mortality in women with breast cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, *132*(5), 1191-1200. doi:10.1002/ijc.27753

Dunn, Katherine Espino, Paula Drobic, Bojan He,Shihua Davie, James. (2005). The ras-MAPK signal transduction pathway, cancer and chromatin remodeling. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, *83*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1139/o04-121

El Khoudary, S., Wildman, R., Matthews, K., Thurston, R., Bromberger, J., & Sutton Tyrrell, K. (2012). Endogenous sex hormones impact the progression of subclinical atherosclerosis in women during the menopausal transition. *Atherosclerosis*, 225(1), 180-186. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.07.025

Eliassen, A H Hankinson, Susan Rosner, Bernard Holmes, Michelle Willett, Walter. (2010). Physical activity and risk of breast cancer among postmenopausal women. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *170*(19), 1758-1764. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.363

Eliassen, A. H., Tworoger, S., Mantzoros, C., Pollak, M., & Hankinson, S. (2007). Circulating insulin and c-peptide levels and risk of breast cancer among predominately premenopausal women. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 16*(1), 161-164. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0693

Escobar, O., Mizuma, H., Sothern, M. S., Blecker, U., Udall, J. N., Suskind, R. M., ... Vargas, A. (1999). Hepatic insulin clearance increases after weight loss in obese children and adolescents. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, *317*(5), 282-286. doi:10.1016/S0002-9629(15)40529-4

Eulenburg, C., Schroeder, J., Obi, N., Heinz, J., Seibold, P., Rudolph, A., . . . Flesch Janys, D. (2016). A comprehensive multistate model analyzing associations of various risk factors with the course of breast cancer in a population-based cohort of breast cancer cases. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *183*(4), 325-334. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv163

Evans, E. M., Van Pelt, R. E., Binder, E. F., Williams, D. B., Ehsani, A. A., & Kohrt, W. M. (2001). Effects of HRT and exercise training on insulin action, glucose tolerance, and body composition in older women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *90*(6), 2033-2040.

Faerch, K Brons, C Alibegovic, A C Vaag, A. (2010). The disposition index: Adjustment for peripheral vs. hepatic insulin sensitivity? *Journal of Physiology*, *588*(5), 759-764. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2009.184028

Faerch, K., Vaag, A., Holst, J. J., Glümer, C., Pedersen, O., & Borch Johnsen, K. (2008). Impaired fasting glycaemia vs impaired glucose tolerance: Similar impairment of pancreatic alpha and beta cell function but differential roles of incretin hormones and insulin action. *Diabetologia*, *51*(5), 853-861. doi:10.1007/s00125-008-0951-x

Fairey, A., Courneya, K., Field, C., Bell, G., Jones, L., & Mackey, J. (2003). Effects of exercise training on fasting insulin, insulin resistance, insulin-like growth factors, and insulin-like growth factor binding proteins in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors: A randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 12*(8), 721-727.

Federici, M Lauro, D D'Adamo, M Giovannone, B Porzio, O Mellozzi, M Tamburrano, G Sbraccia, P Sesti, G. (1998). Expression of insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptors is increased in skeletal muscle of patients with chronic primary hyperinsulinemia. *Diabetes*, *47*(1), 87-92. doi:10.2337/diab.47.1.87

Ferrannini, E. (2010). The stunned beta cell: A brief history. *Cell Metabolism*, 11(5), 349-352. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2010.04.009

Festa, Andreas Williams, Ken D'Agostino, Ralph Wagenknecht,Lynne Haffner, Steven. (2006). The natural course of beta-cell function in nondiabetic and diabetic individuals: The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. *Diabetes*, *55*(4), 1114-1120. doi:10.2337/diabetes.55.04.06.db05-1100

Foglietta, J., Inno, A., de Iuliis, F., Sini, V., Duranti, S., Turazza, M., . . . Gori, S. (2016). Cardiotoxicity of aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer patients. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, doi:10.1016/j.clbc.2016.07.003

Folkerd, E. D., Mitch. (2013). Sex hormones and breast cancer risk and prognosis. *Breast, 22 Suppl 2*, S38-S43. doi:10.1016/j.breast.2013.07.007

Foraker, R., Abdel Rasoul, M., Kuller, L., Jackson, R., Van Horn, L., Seguin, R., ... Tindle, H. (2016). Cardiovascular health and incident cardiovascular disease and cancer: The women's health initiative. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *50*(2), 236-240. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.07.039

Foretz, M., Hébrard, S., Leclerc, J., Zarrinpashneh, E., Soty, M., Mithieux, G., . . . Viollet, B. (2010). Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(7), 2355-69. doi:10.1172/JCI40671

Friedenreich, Christine Neilson, Heather Woolcott, Christy Wang, Qinggang Yasui, Yutaka Brant, Rollin Stanczyk, Frank Campbell,Kristin Courneya, Kerry. (2011). Mediators and moderators of the effects of a year-long exercise intervention on endogenous sex hormones in postmenopausal women. *CCC.Cancer Causes & Control, 22*(10), 1365-1373. doi:10.1007/s10552-011-9809-5

Friedenreich, C., Neilson, H., Woolcott, C., McTiernan, A., Wang, Q., Ballard Barbash, R., . . . Courneya, K. (2011). Changes in insulin resistance indicators, IGFs, and adipokines in a year-long trial of aerobic exercise in postmenopausal women. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *18*(3), 357-369. doi:10.1530/ERC-10-0303

Fritsche, A., Madaus, A., Stefan, N., Tschritter, O., Maerker, E., Teigeler, A., . . . Stumvoll, M. (2002). Relationships among age, proinsulin conversion, and beta-cell function in nondiabetic humans. *Diabetes, 51 Suppl 1*, S234-9. doi:10.2337/diabetes.51.2007.S234 Fu, A., Eberhard, C., & Screaton, R. (2013). Role of AMPK in pancreatic beta cell function. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, *366*(2), 127-34. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2012.06.020

Gallagher, E J Fierz, Y Vijayakumar, A Haddad, N Yakar, S LeRoith, D. (2012). Inhibiting PI3K reduces mammary tumor growth and induces hyperglycemia in a mouse model of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. *Oncogene*, *31*(27), 3213-3222. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.495

Gallagher, E., Alikhani, N., Tobin Hess, A., Blank, J., Buffin, N., Zelenko, Z., . . . LeRoith, D. (2013). Insulin receptor phosphorylation by endogenous insulin or the insulin analog AspB10 promotes mammary tumor growth independent of the IGF-I receptor. *Diabetes*, *62*(10), 3553-3560. doi:10.2337/db13-0249

Gillen, J B Little, J P Punthakee, Z Tarnopolsky, M A Riddell, M C Gibala, M J. (2012). Acute high-intensity interval exercise reduces the postprandial glucose response and prevalence of hyperglycaemia in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 14*(6), 575-577. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01564.x

Glass, Andrew Lacey, James Carreon, J D Hoover, Robert. (2007). Breast cancer incidence, 1980-2006: Combined roles of menopausal hormone therapy, screening mammography, and estrogen receptor status. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *99*(15), 1152-1161. doi:10.1093/jnci/djm059

Goldberg, J. S., Kathryn. (2010). Proinflammatory cytokines in breast cancer: Mechanisms of action and potential targets for therapeutics. *Current Drug Targets*, *11*(9), 1133-1146. doi:10.2174/138945010792006799

Goodwin, Pamela Ennis, Marguerite Bahl, Mala Fantus, I G Pritchard, Kathleen Trudeau, Maureen Koo, Jarley Hood, Nicky. (2009). High insulin levels in newly diagnosed breast cancer patients reflect underlying insulin resistance and are associated with components of the insulin resistance syndrome. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 114*(3), 517-525. doi:10.1007/s10549-008-0019-0

Goodwin, Pamela Ennis, Marguerite Pritchard, Kathleen Trudeau, Maureen Koo, Jarley Madarnas, Yolanda Hartwick, Warren Hoffman, Barry Hood, Nicky. (2002). Fasting insulin and outcome in early-stage breast cancer: Results of a prospective cohort study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 20(1), 42-51. doi:10.1200/JCO.20.1.42

Goodwin, Pamela Ennis, Marguerite Pritchard, Kathleen Trudeau, Maureen Koo, Jarley Taylor, Sara Hood, Nicky. (2012). Insulin- and obesity-related variables in early-stage breast cancer: Correlations and time course of prognostic associations. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *30*(2), 164-171. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.2723

Goodwin, P., Parulekar, W., Gelmon, K., Shepherd, L., Ligibel, J., Hershman, D., ... Stambolic, V. (2015). Effect of metformin vs placebo on and metabolic factors in NCIC CTG MA.32. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *107*(3) doi:10.1093/jnci/djv006

Goodwin, P. S., Vuk. (2011). Obesity and insulin resistance in breast cancer-chemoprevention strategies with a focus on metformin. *Breast, 20 Suppl 3*, S31-S35. doi:10.1016/S0960-9776(11)70291-0

Goodyear, L J Kahn, B B. (1998). Exercise, glucose transport, and insulin sensitivity. *Annual Review of Medicine*, *49*, 235-261. doi:10.1146/annurev.med.49.1.235

Goss, P., Ingle, J., Pritchard, K., Robert, N., Muss, H., Gralow, J., ... Parulekar, W. (2016). Extending aromatase-inhibitor adjuvant therapy to 10 years. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *375*(3), 209-219. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1604700

Grossmann, M., Yang, D., Guo, Z., Potter, D., & Cleary, M. (2015). Metformin treatment for the prevention and/or treatment of Breast/Mammary tumorigenesis. *Current Pharmacology Reports*, *1*(5), 312-323. doi:10.1007/s40495-015-0032-z

Guinan, E., Hussey, J., Broderick, J. M., Lithander, F. E., O'Donnell, D., Kennedy, M. J., & Connolly, E. M. (2013). The effect of aerobic exercise on metabolic and inflammatory markers in breast cancer survivors--a pilot study. *Supportive Care in Cancer, 21*(7), 1983-1992. doi:10.1007/s00520-013-1743-5

Gupta, Piyush Chaffer, Christine Weinberg, Robert. (2009). Cancer stem cells: Mirage or reality? *Nature Medicine*, *15*(9), 1010-1012. doi:10.1038/nm0909-1010

Hadji, P., Aapro, M. S., Body, J. J., Bundred, N. J., Brufsky, A., Coleman, R. E., ... Lipton, A. (2011). Management of aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss in postmenopausal women with breast cancer: Practical guidance for prevention and treatment. *Annals of Oncology*, *22*(12), 2546-2555. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdr017

Hanahan, D. W., Robert. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

Hatakeyama, Hiroyasu Kishimoto, Takuya Nemoto, Tomomi Kasai,Haruo Takahashi, Noriko. (2006). Rapid glucose sensing by protein kinase A for insulin exocytosis in mouse pancreatic islets. *Journal of Physiology*, *570*(2), 271-282. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2005.096560

Hoene, M. W., C. (2008). The role of interleukin-6 in insulin resistance, body fat distribution and energy balance. *Obesity Reviews*, *9*(1), 20-29. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00410.x

Holick, Crystal Newcomb, Polly Trentham Dietz, Amy Titus Ernstoff, Linda Bersch, Andrew Stampfer, Meir Baron, John Egan, Kathleen Willett, Walter. (2008). Physical activity and survival after diagnosis of invasive breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 17(2), 379-386. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-0771

Holmes, Michelle Chen, Wendy Feskanich, Diane Kroenke, Candyce Colditz, Graham. (2005). Physical activity and survival after breast cancer diagnosis. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 293*(20), 2479-2486. doi:10.1001/jama.293.20.2479

Howell, A., Anderson, A., Clarke, R., Duffy, S., Evans, D. G., Garcia Closas, M., ... Harvie, M. (2014). Risk determination and prevention of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, *16*(5), 446-446. doi:10.1186/s13058-014-0446-2 Hsieh, C. C., Trichopoulos, D., Katsouyanni, K., & Yuasa, S. (1990). Age at menarche, age at menopause, height and obesity as risk factors for breast cancer: Associations and interactions in an international case-control study. *International Journal of Cancer*, *46*(5), 796-800. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910460508

Huang, B., Warner, M., & Gustafsson, J. (2015). Estrogen receptors in breast carcinogenesis and endocrine therapy. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, *418 Pt 3*, 240-244. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2014.11.015

Kaaks, Rudolf Johnson, Theron Tikk, Kaja Sookthai, Disorn Tj $\tilde{A}f$ nneland, Anne Roswall, Nina Overvad, Kim Clavel-Chapelon, Fran $\tilde{A}f$ oise Boutron Ruault, Marie-Christine Dossus, Laure Rinaldi, Sabina Romieu, Isabelle Boeing, Heiner Sch $\tilde{A}f\hat{A}^{1}$ /4tze, Madlen Trichopoulou, Antonia Lagiou, Pagona Trichopoulos, Dimitrios Palli, Domenico Grioni, Sara Tumino, Rosario Sacerdote, Carlotta Panico, Salvatore Buckland, Genevieve Arg $\tilde{A}f\hat{A}^{1}$ /4elles, Marcial S $\tilde{A}f$ nchez, Mar $\tilde{A}f$ a-Jos $\tilde{A}f$ Amiano, Pilar Chirlaque, Maria-Dolores Ardanaz, Eva Bueno-de-Mesquita, H Bas van Gils, Carla Peeters, Petra Andersson, Anne Sund, Malin Weiderpass, Elisabete Torhild Gram, Inger Lund, Eiliv Khaw, Kay-Tee Wareham, Nick Key, Timothy Travis, Ruth Merritt, Melissa Gunter, Marc Riboli,Elio Lukanova, Annekatrin. (2013). Insulin-like growth factor I and risk of breast cancer by age and hormone receptor status-A prospective study within the EPIC cohort. *International Journal of Cancer*, doi:10.1002/ijc.28589

Irwin, Melinda Alvarez Reeves, Marty Cadmus, Lisa Mierzejewski, Eileen Mayne, Susan Yu, Herbert Chung, Gina Jones, Beth Knobf,M T DiPietro, Loretta. (2009). Exercise improves body fat, lean mass, and bone mass in breast cancer survivors. *Obesity*, *17*(8), 1534-1541. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.18

Irwin, Melinda Crumley, Diane McTiernan, Anne Bernstein, Leslie Baumgartner, Richard Gilliland, Frank Kriska, Andrea Ballard Barbash, Rachel. (2003). Physical activity levels before and after a diagnosis of breast carcinoma: The health, eating, activity, and lifestyle (HEAL) study. *Cancer*, *97*(7), 1746-1757. doi:10.1002/cncr.11227

Irwin, Melinda Duggan, Catherine Wang, Ching-Yun Smith, Ashley McTiernan, Anne Baumgartner, Richard Baumgartner, Kathy Bernstein,Leslie Ballard Barbash, Rachel. (2011). Fasting C-peptide levels and death resulting from all causes and breast cancer: The health, eating, activity, and lifestyle study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 29*(1), 47-53. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.4752 Irwin, Melinda Varma, Katie Alvarez Reeves, Marty Cadmus, Lisa Wiley, Andrew Chung, Gina Dipietro, Loretta Mayne, Susan Yu, Herbert. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of aerobic exercise on insulin and insulin-like growth factors in breast cancer survivors: The yale exercise and survivorship study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 18*(1), 306-313. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0531

Irwin, M., Duggan, C., Wang, C., Smith, A., McTiernan, A., Baumgartner, R., ... Ballard Barbash, R. (2011). Fasting C-peptide levels and death resulting from all causes and breast cancer: The health, eating, activity, and lifestyle study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 29*(1), 47-53. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.4752

Irwin, M., McTiernan, A., Bernstein, L., Gilliland, F., Baumgartner, R., Baumgartner, K., & Ballard Barbash, R. (2005). Relationship of obesity and physical activity with C-peptide, leptin, and insulin-like growth factors in breast cancer survivors. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 14*(12), 2881-2888. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0185

Irwin, M., Varma, K., Alvarez Reeves, M., Cadmus, L., Wiley, A., Chung, G., ... Yu, H. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of aerobic exercise on insulin and insulin-like growth factors in breast cancer survivors: The yale exercise and survivorship study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 18*(1), 306-313. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0531

Jenkins, N., Padilla, J., Arce Esquivel, A., Bayless, D., Martin, J., Leidy, H., . . . Laughlin, M. H. (2012). Effects of endurance exercise training, metformin, and their combination on adipose tissue leptin and IL-10 secretion in OLETF rats. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *113*(12), 1873-83. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00936.2012

Jenkins, N., & Hagberg, J. (2011). Aerobic training effects on glucose tolerance in prediabetic and normoglycemic humans. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43(12), 2231-2240. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e318223b5f9

Johnson, Andrew M F Olefsky, Jerrold. (2013). The origins and drivers of insulin resistance. *Cell*, *152*(4), 673-684. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.041

Jones, L., Habel, L., Weltzien, E., Castillo, A., Gupta, D., Kroenke, C., . . . Caan, B. (2016). Exercise and risk of cardiovascular events in women with nonmetastatic breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *34*(23), 2743-2749. doi:10.1200/JCO.2015.65.6603

Jones, Sara Thomas, Gwendolyn Hesselsweet, Sara Alvarez Reeves, Marty Yu,Herbert Irwin, Melinda. (2013). Effect of exercise on markers of inflammation in breast cancer survivors: The yale exercise and survivorship study. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *6*(2), 109-118. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-12-0278

Juanjuan, L., Wen, W., Zhongfen, L., Chuang, C., Jing, C., Yiping, G., . . . Shengrong, S. (2015). Clinical pathological characteristics of breast cancer patients with secondary diabetes after systemic therapy: A retrospective multicenter study. *Tumor Biology*, *36*(9), 6939-6947. doi:10.1007/s13277-015-3380-8

Kaaks, R Rinaldi, S Key, T J Berrino, F Peeters, P H M Biessy, C Dossus, L Lukanova, A Bingham, S Khaw, K-T Allen, N E Bueno-de-Mesquita, H B van Gils, C H Grobbee, D Boeing, H Lahmann, P H Nagel, G Chang Claude, J Clavel Chapelon, F Fournier, A Thi $\tilde{A}f$ baut, A Gonz $\tilde{A}f$ lez, C A Quir $\tilde{A}f$ \hat{A}^3 s, J R Tormo, M-J Ardanaz, E Amiano, P Krogh, V Palli, D Panico, S Tumino, R Vineis, P Trichopoulou, A Kalapothaki, V Trichopoulos, D Ferrari, P Norat, T Saracci, R Riboli, E. (2005). Postmenopausal serum androgens, oestrogens and breast cancer risk: The european prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *12*(4), 1071-1082. doi:10.1677/erc.1.01038

Kaaks, R. L., A. (2001). Energy balance and cancer: The role of insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *60*(1), 91-106. doi:10.1079/PNS200070

Kahn, S E Prigeon, R L McCulloch, D K Boyko, E J Bergman, R N Schwartz, M W Neifing, J L Ward, W K Beard, J C Palmer, J P. (1993). Quantification of the relationship between insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in human subjects. evidence for a hyperbolic function. *Diabetes, 42*(11), 1663-1672. doi:10.2337/diab.42.11.1663

Kahn, S. E., Larson, V. G., Beard, J. C., Cain, K. C., Fellingham, G. W., Schwartz, R. S., . . . Abrass, I. B. (1990). Effect of exercise on insulin action, glucose tolerance, and insulin secretion in aging. *American Journal of Physiology*, *258*(6), E937-43.

Kahn, S. E., Larson, V. G., Schwartz, R. S., Beard, J. C., Cain, K. C., Fellingham, G. W., . . . Abrass, I. B. (1992). Exercise training delineates the importance of B-cell dysfunction to the glucose intolerance of human aging. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *74*(6), 1336-1342. doi:10.1210/jcem.74.6.1592879

Kanat, Mustafa Mari, Andrea Norton, Luke Winnier, Diedre DeFronzo, Ralph Jenkinson, Chris Abdul Ghani, Muhammad. (2012). Distinct ÃÂ²-cell defects in impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes*, *61*(2), 447-453. doi:10.2337/db11-0995

Kassirer, J., & Angell, M. (1998). Losing weight — an ill-fated new year's resolution. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *338*(1), 52-54. doi:10.1056/NEJM199801013380109

Kefas, B. A., Cai, Y., Kerckhofs, K., Ling, Z., Martens, G., Heimberg, H., . . . Van de Casteele, M. (2004). Metformin-induced stimulation of AMP-activated protein kinase in beta-cells impairs their glucose responsiveness and can lead to apoptosis. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *68*(3), 409-16. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2004.04.003

Key, Timothy Appleby, Paul Reeves, Gillian Roddam, Andrew. (2010). Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), IGF binding protein 3 (IGFBP3), and breast cancer risk: Pooled individual data analysis of 17 prospective studies. *Lancet Oncology*, *11*(6), 530-542. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70095-4

Kim, Kun-yong Baek, Ahmi Hwang, Ji-Eun Choi, Yeon Jeong, Joon Lee, Myeong-Sok Cho, Dea Lim, Jong-Seok Yang, Young. (2009). Adiponectin-activated AMPK stimulates dephosphorylation of AKT through protein phosphatase 2A activation. *Cancer Research*, *69*(9), 4018-4026. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2641

Kim, Roy Phillips, Allison Herrick, Kirsten Helou, Marieka Rafie, Carlin Anscher, Mitchell Mikkelsen, Ross Ning, Yi. (2013). Physical activity and sedentary behavior of cancer survivors and non-cancer individuals: Results from a national survey. *Plos One*, *8*(3), e57598-e57598. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057598 Kim, S. P., Ellmerer, M., Kirkman, E. L., & Bergman, R. N. (2007). Beta-cell "rest" accompanies reduced first-pass hepatic insulin extraction in the insulin-resistant, fat-fed canine model. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 292*(6), E1581-9. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00351.2006

Kim, S. H., Liu, A., Ariel, D., Abbasi, F., Lamendola, C., Grove, K., . . . Reaven, G. (2014). Pancreatic beta cell function following liraglutide-augmented weight loss in individuals with prediabetes: Analysis of a randomised, placebo-controlled study. *Diabetologia*, *57*(3), 455-62. doi:10.1007/s00125-013-3134-3

Kirkham, A., Virani, S., & Campbell, K. (2015). The utility of cardiac stress testing for detection of cardiovascular disease in breast cancer survivors: A systematic review. *International Journal of Women's Health*, *7*, 127-140. doi:10.2147/IJWH.S68745

Kirwan, J., & Jing, M. (2002). Modulation of insulin signaling in human skeletal muscle in response to exercise. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, *30*(2), 85-90. doi:10.1097/00003677-200204000-00008

Kitabchi, A., Temprosa, M., Knowler, W., Kahn, S., Fowler, S., Haffner, S., . . . Shamoon, H. (2005). Role of insulin secretion and sensitivity in the evolution of type 2 diabetes in the diabetes prevention program: Effects of lifestyle intervention and metformin. *Diabetes*, *54*(8), 2404-14. doi:10.2337/diabetes.54.8.2404

Knowler, William Barrett Connor, Elizabeth Fowler, Sarah Hamman, Richard Lachin, John Walker, Elizabeth Nathan, David. (2002). Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *346*(6), 393-403. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012512

Krogh-Madsen, R., Solomon, T. P. J., Knudsen, S. H., Hansen, L. S., Karstoft, K., Lehrskov-Schmidt, L., . . . Holst, J. J. (2014). Normal physical activity obliterates the deleterious effects of a high-caloric intake. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *116*(3), 231-9. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00155.2013

Lahart, I., Metsios, G., Nevill, A., & Carmichael, A. (2015). Physical activity, risk of death and recurrence in breast cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Acta Oncologica*, *54*(5), 635-654. doi:10.3109/0284186X.2014.998275

Larsson, H., & Ahrén, B. (1999). Relative hyperproinsulinemia as a sign of islet dysfunction in women with impaired glucose tolerance. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *84*(6), 2068-74. doi:10.1210/jcem.84.6.5717

Leclerc, I., Woltersdorf, W. W., da Silva Xavier, G., Rowe, R. L., Cross, S. E., Korbutt, G. S., . . . Rutter, G. A. (2004). Metformin, but not leptin, regulates AMP-activated protein kinase in pancreatic islets: Impact on glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 286*(6), E1023-31. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00532.2003

Lega, Iliana Austin, Peter Gruneir, Andrea Goodwin, Pamela Rochon, Paula Lipscombe, Lorraine. (2013). Association between metformin therapy and mortality after breast cancer: A population-based study. *Diabetes Care, 36*(10), 3018-3026. doi:10.2337/dc12-2535

Liakos, A., Karagiannis, T., Athanasiadou, E., Sarigianni, M., Mainou, M., Papatheodorou, K., . . . Tsapas, A. (2014). Efficacy and safety of empagliflozin for type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 16*(10), 984-93. doi:10.1111/dom.12307

Licznerska, Barbara Wegman, Pia NordenskjÃ*f*ld,Bo Wingren, Sten. (2008). In situ levels of oestrogen producing enzymes and its prognostic significance in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 112*(1), 15-23. doi:10.1007/s10549-007-9819-x

Ligibel, Jennifer Campbell, Nancy Partridge, Ann Chen, Wendy Salinardi, Taylor Chen, Haiyan Adloff, Kristie Keshaviah, Aparna Winer, Eric. (2008). Impact of a mixed strength and endurance exercise intervention on insulin levels in breast cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *26*(6), 907-912. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.12.7357

Ligibel, Jennifer Giobbie Hurder, Anita Olenczuk, Deanna Campbell, Nancy Salinardi, Taylor Winer,Eric Mantzoros, Christos. (2009). Impact of a mixed strength and endurance exercise intervention on levels of adiponectin, high molecular weight adiponectin and leptin in breast cancer survivors. *CCC.Cancer Causes & Control, 20*(8), 1523-1528. doi:10.1007/s10552-009-9358-3

Ligibel, J., Campbell, N., Partridge, A., Chen, W., Salinardi, T., Chen, H., . . . Winer, E. (2008). Impact of a mixed strength and endurance exercise intervention on insulin levels in breast cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *26*(6), 907-912. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.12.7357

Lisztwan, Joanna Pornon, Astrid Chen, Bin Chen, Shiuan Evans, Dean. (2008). The aromatase inhibitor letrozole and inhibitors of insulin-like growth factor I receptor synergistically induce apoptosis in in vitro models of estrogen-dependent breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, *10*(4), R56-R56. doi:10.1186/bcr2113

Liu, J Visser Grieve, S Boudreau, J Yeung, B Lo, S Chamberlain, G Yu, F Sun, T Papanicolaou, T Lam, A Yang,X Chin Sang, I. (2013). Insulin activates the insulin receptor to downregulate the PTEN tumour suppressor. *Oncogene*, doi:10.1038/onc.2013.347

Liu, Lianqi Mills, Paul Rissling, Michelle Fiorentino, Lavinia Natarajan, Loki Dimsdale, Joel Sadler, Georgia Parker, Barbara Ancoli Israel, Sonia. (2012). Fatigue and sleep quality are associated with changes in inflammatory markers in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 26*(5), 706-713. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.02.001

Liu, Li-Yuan Wang, Meng Ma, Zhong-Bing Yu, Li-Xiang Zhang, Qiang Gao, De-Zong Wang, Fei Yu, Zhi-Gang. (2013). The role of adiponectin in breast cancer: A metaanalysis. *Plos One, 8*(8), e73183-e73183. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073183

Loopstra Masters, R. C., Haffner, S. M., Lorenzo, C., Wagenknecht, L. E., & Hanley, A. J. (2011). Proinsulin-to-C-peptide ratio versus proinsulin-to-insulin ratio in the prediction of incident diabetes: The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study (IRAS). *Diabetologia*, *54*(12), 3047-54. doi:10.1007/s00125-011-2322-2

Lu, L., Wang, R., Ran, L., Gan, L., Bai, Y., Jin, L., ... Kong, L. (2014). On the status and comparison of glucose intolerance in female breast cancer patients at initial diagnosis and during chemotherapy through an oral glucose tolerance test. *PLoS One*, *9*(4), e93630-e93630. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0093630

Luszczynska, A., Scholz, U., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). The general self-efficacy scale: Multicultural validation studies. *The Journal of Psychology*, *139*(5), 439-457. doi:10.3200/JRLP.139.5.439-457

Lynch, Brigid Friedenreich, Christine Winkler, Elisabeth A H Healy, GeneviÃ*f*ve Vallance, Jeff Eakin,Elizabeth Owen, Neville. (2011). Associations of objectively assessed physical activity and sedentary time with biomarkers of breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women: Findings from NHANES (2003-2006). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 130*(1), 183-194. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1559-2

Macci, Antonio Madeddu, Clelia Gramignano, Giulia Mulas, Carlo Floris, Carlo Massa, Daniela Astara, Giorgio Chessa, Paola Mantovani, Giovanni. (2010). Correlation of body mass index and leptin with tumor size and stage of disease in hormone-dependent postmenopausal breast cancer: Preliminary results and therapeutic implications. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 88(7), 677-686. doi:10.1007/s00109-010-0611-8

Madeleine, Margaret Johnson, Lisa Malkki, Mari Resler, Alexa Petersdorf, Effie McKnight, Barbara Malone, Kathleen. (2011). Genetic variation in proinflammatory cytokines IL6, IL6R, TNF-region, and TNFRSF1A and risk of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 129*(3), 887-899. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1520-4

Madiraju, A., Erion, D., Rahimi, Y., Zhang, X., Braddock, D., Albright, R., . . . Shulman, G. (2014). Metformin suppresses gluconeogenesis by inhibiting mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. *Nature*, *510*(7506), 542-546. doi:10.1038/nature13270

Malin, Alecia Dai, Qi Yu, Herbert Shu, Xiao-Ou Jin, Fan Gao, Yu-Tang Zheng, Wei. (2004). Evaluation of the synergistic effect of insulin resistance and insulin-like growth factors on the risk of breast carcinoma. *Cancer*, *100*(4), 694-700. doi:10.1002/cncr.20023

Malin, Steven Gerber, Robert Chipkin, Stuart Braun, Barry. (2012). Independent and combined effects of exercise training and metformin on insulin sensitivity in individuals with prediabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *35*(1), 131-136. doi:10.2337/dc11-0925

Malin, Steven Solomon, Thomas P J Blaszczak, Alecia Finnegan, Stephen Filion, Julianne Kirwan, John. (2013). Pancreatic ÃÂ²-cell function increases in a linear dose-response manner following exercise training in adults with prediabetes. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 305*(10), E1248-E1254. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00260.2013

Malin, S., Nightingale, J., Choi, S., Chipkin, S., & Braun, B. (2013). Metformin modifies the exercise training effects on risk factors for cardiovascular disease in impaired glucose tolerant adults. *Obesity*, *21*(1), 93-100. doi:10.1002/oby.20235

Marini, M. A., Frontoni, S., Succurro, E., Arturi, F., Fiorentino, T. V., Sciacqua, A., . . . Sesti, G. (2014). Differences in insulin clearance between metabolically healthy and unhealthy obese subjects. *Acta Diabetologica*, *51*(2), 257-61. doi:10.1007/s00592-013-0511-9

Marini, M. A., Frontoni, S., Succurro, E., Arturi, F., Fiorentino, T. V., Sciacqua, A., ... Sesti, G. (2013). Decreased insulin clearance in individuals with elevated 1-h post-load plasma glucose levels. *Plos One*, *8*(10), e77440. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0077440

Masini, M., Anello, M., Bugliani, M., Marselli, L., Filipponi, F., Boggi, U., . . . De Tata, V. (2014). Prevention by metformin of alterations induced by chronic exposure to high glucose in human islet beta cells is associated with preserved ATP/ADP ratio. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 104*(1), 163-70. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2013.12.031

Mason, Caitlin Alfano, Catherine Smith, Ashley Wang, Ching-Yun Neuhouser, Marian Duggan, Catherine Bernstein, Leslie Baumgartner, Kathy Baumgartner, Richard Ballard Barbash, Rachel McTiernan, Anne. (2013). Long-term physical activity trends in breast cancer survivors. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 22*(6), 1153-1161. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0141

Matsen, C. N., Leigh. (2013). Breast cancer: A review for the general surgeon. *JAMA Surgery*, *148*(10), 971-979. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2013.3393

Matsuda, M., & DeFronzo, R. A. (1999). Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: Comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. *Diabetes Care*, *22*(9), 1462-1470. doi:10.2337/diacare.22.9.1462

Matveyenko, Aleksey Veldhuis, Johannes Butler, Peter. (2008). Adaptations in pulsatile insulin secretion, hepatic insulin clearance, and beta-cell mass to age-related insulin resistance in rats. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295(4), E832-E841. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90451.2008

McAuley, E. (1993). Self-efficacy and the maintenance of exercise participation in older adults. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *16*(1), 103-113. doi:10.1007/BF00844757

McCormack, J G Westergaard, N Kristiansen, M Brand, C L Lau, J. (2001). Pharmacological approaches to inhibit endogenous glucose production as a means of anti-diabetic therapy. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 7(14), 1451-1474. doi:10.2174/1381612013397393

McKenzie, F., Ferrari, P., Freisling, H., Chajès, V., Rinaldi, S., de Batlle, J., ... Romieu, I. (2015). Healthy lifestyle and risk of breast cancer among postmenopausal women in the european prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition cohort study. *International Journal of Cancer*, *136*(11), 2640-2648. doi:10.1002/ijc.29315

McPherson, Stephen Hussain, Shirin Balanathan, Preetika Hedwards, Shelley Niranjan, Birunthi Grant, Michael Chandrasiri, Upeksha Toivanen, Roxanne Wang, Yuzhuo Taylor,Renea Risbridger, Gail. (2010). Estrogen receptor-beta activated apoptosis in benign hyperplasia and cancer of the prostate is androgen independent and TNFalpha mediated. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107*(7), 3123-3128. doi:10.1073/pnas.0905524107

McTernan, P G Anwar, A Eggo, M C Barnett, A H Stewart, P M Kumar, S. (2000). Gender differences in the regulation of P450 aromatase expression and activity in human adipose tissue. *International Journal of Obesity*, *24*(7), 875-881. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801254 McTiernan, A., Stanford, J. L., Daling, J. R., & Voigt, L. F. (1998). Prevalence and correlates of recreational physical activity in women aged 50-64 years. *Menopause*, *5*(2), 95-101. doi:10.1097/00042192-199805020-00007

McTiernan, A., Irwin, M., & Vongruenigen, V. (2010). Weight, physical activity, diet, and prognosis in breast and gynecologic cancers. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 28*(26), 4074-4080. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.27.9752

McTiernan, A. (2003). Intervention studies in exercise and cancer prevention. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *35*(11), 1841-1845. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000093749.90499.63

McTiernan, A. (2005). Obesity and cancer: The risks, science, and potential management strategies. *Oncology*, *19*(7), 871-81; discussion 881.

McTiernan, A. (2008). Mechanisms linking physical activity with cancer. *Nature Reviews.Cancer*, 8(3), 205-211. doi:10.1038/nrc2325

Meeske, K., Smith, A., Alfano, C., McGregor, B., McTiernan, A., Baumgartner, K., ... Bernstein, L. (2007). Fatigue in breast cancer survivors two to five years post diagnosis: A HEAL study report. *Quality of Life Research*, *16*(6), 947-960. doi:10.1007/s11136-007-9215-3

Meneilly, G S Ryan, A S Minaker, K L Elahi, D. (1998). The effect of age and glycemic level on the response of the beta-cell to glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide and peripheral tissue sensitivity to endogenously released insulin. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *83*(8), 2925-2932. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.8.5003

Milazzo, G Sciacca, L Papa, V Goldfine,I D Vigneri, R. (1997). ASPB10 insulin induction of increased mitogenic responses and phenotypic changes in human breast epithelial cells: Evidence for enhanced interactions with the insulin-like growth factor-I receptor. *Molecular Carcinogenesis, 18*(1), 19-25. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2744(199701)18:1<19::AID-MC3>3.0.CO;2-M

Minatoya, Machiko Kutomi, Goro Asakura, Sumiyo Otokozawa, Seiko Sugiyama, Yukiko Ohnishi, Hirofumi Akasaka, Hiroshi Miura, Tetsuji Mori,Mitsuru Hirata, Koichi. (2013). Relationship of serum isoflavone, insulin and adiponectin levels with breast cancer risk. *Breast Cancer*, doi:10.1007/s12282-013-0502-2

Mittelman, S. D., Van Citters, G. W., Kim, S. P., Davis, D. A., Dea, M. K., Hamilton-Wessler, M., & Bergman, R. N. (2000). Longitudinal compensation for fat-induced insulin resistance includes reduced insulin clearance and enhanced beta-cell response. *Diabetes, 49*(12), 2116-25. doi:10.2337/diabetes.49.12.2116

Moore, S., Lee, I., Weiderpass, E., Campbell, P., Sampson, J., Kitahara, C., . . . Patel, A. (2016). Association of leisure-time physical activity with risk of 26 types of cancer in 1.44 million adults. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(6), 816-825. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.1548

Moreau, K., Stauffer, B., Kohrt, W., & Seals, D. (2013). Essential role of estrogen for improvements in vascular endothelial function with endurance exercise in postmenopausal women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 98*(11), 4507-4515. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-2183

Mynarcik, D C Williams, P F Schaffer, L Yu,G Q Whittaker, J. (1997). Identification of common ligand binding determinants of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptors. insights into mechanisms of ligand binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *272*(30), 18650-18655. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.30.18650

Ndumele, C., Matsushita, K., Lazo, M., Bello, N., Blumenthal, R., Gerstenblith, G., . . . Coresh, J. (2016). Obesity and subtypes of incident cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *5*(8) doi:10.1161/JAHA.116.003921

Nelson, Heidi Fu, Rongwei Griffin, Jessica Nygren, Peggy Smith,M E Beth Humphrey, Linda. (2009). Systematic review: Comparative effectiveness of medications to reduce risk for primary breast cancer. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *151*(10), 703-15, W. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-151-10-200911170-00147

Nijpels, G., Popp Snijders, C., Kostense, P. J., Bouter, L. M., & Heine, R. J. (1996). Fasting proinsulin and 2-h post-load glucose levels predict the conversion to NIDDM in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance: The hoorn study. *Diabetologia*, *39*(1), 113-8.

Niraula, Saroj Dowling, Ryan J O Ennis, Marguerite Chang, Martin Done, Susan Hood, Nicky Escallon, Jaime Leong, Wey McCready, David Reedijk, Michael Stambolic, Vuk Goodwin, Pamela. (2012). Metformin in early breast cancer: A prospective window of opportunity neoadjuvant study. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *135*(3), 821-830. doi:10.1007/s10549-012-2223-1

Niravath, P. (2013). Aromatase inhibitor-induced arthralgia: A review. *Annals of Oncology*, *24*(6), 1443-1449. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt037

Onitilo, Adedayo Stankowski, Rachel Berg, Richard Engel, Jessica Glurich, Ingrid Williams, Gail Doi,Suhail A R. (2014). Breast cancer incidence before and after diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus in women: Increased risk in the prediabetes phase. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention*, *23*(2), 76-83. doi:10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32836162aa

Pandini, G Vigneri, R Costantino, A Frasca, F Ippolito, A Fujita Yamaguchi, Y Siddle, K Goldfine, I D Belfiore, A. (1999). Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptor overexpression in breast cancers leads to insulin/IGF-I hybrid receptor overexpression: Evidence for a second mechanism of IGF-I signaling. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *5*(7), 1935-1944.

Paskett, E., Dean, J., Oliveri, J., & Harrop, J. P. (2012). Cancer-related lymphedema risk factors, diagnosis, treatment, and impact: A review. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *30*(30), 3726-3733. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.41.8574

Patterson, Ruth Rock, Cheryl Kerr, Jacqueline Natarajan, Loki Marshall, Simon Pakiz,Bilge Cadmus Bertram, Lisa. (2013). Metabolism and breast cancer risk: Frontiers in research and practice. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *113*(2), 288-296. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2012.08.015

Patterson, R., Colditz, G., Hu, F., Schmitz, K., Ahima, R., Brownson, R., . . . Thornquist, M. (2013). The 2011-2016 transdisciplinary research on energetics and cancer (TREC) initiative: Rationale and design. *Cancer Causes & Control, 24*(4), 695-704. doi:10.1007/s10552-013-0150-z

Peel, A., Thomas, S., Dittus, K., Jones, L., & Lakoski, S. (2014). Cardiorespiratory fitness in breast cancer patients: A call for normative values. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *3*(1), e000432-e000432. doi:10.1161/JAHA.113.000432

Perry, A C Allison, M Applegate, E B Jackson, M L Miller, P C. (1998). The relationship between fat distribution and coronary risk factors in sedentary postmenopausal women on and off hormone replacement therapy. *Obesity Research*, *6*(1), 40-46. doi:10.1002/j.1550-8528.1998.tb00313.x

Phillips, S., Lloyd, G., Awick, E., & McAuley, E. (2016). Correlates of objectively measured sedentary behavior in breast cancer survivors. *Cancer Causes & Control,* 27(6), 787-795. doi:10.1007/s10552-016-0756-z

Piper, B. F., Dibble, S. L., Dodd, M. J., Weiss, M. C., Slaughter, R. E., & Paul, S. M. (1998). The revised piper fatigue scale: Psychometric evaluation in women with breast cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *25*(4), 677-684.

Piro, S., Rabuazzo, A. M., Renis, M., & Purrello, F. (2012). Effects of metformin on oxidative stress, adenine nucleotides balance, and glucose-induced insulin release impaired by chronic free fatty acids exposure in rat pancreatic islets. *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, *35*(5), 504-10. doi:10.3275/7866

Polonsky, K S Rubenstein, A H. (1984). C-peptide as a measure of the secretion and hepatic extraction of insulin. pitfalls and limitations. *Diabetes*, *33*(5), 486-494. doi:10.2337/diab.33.5.486

Polonsky, K. S., Gumbiner, B., Ostrega, D., Griver, K., Tager, H., & Henry, R. R. (1994). Alterations in immunoreactive proinsulin and insulin clearance induced by weight loss in NIDDM. *Diabetes*, *43*(7), 871-877. doi:10.2337/diab.43.7.871

Reaven, G. M. (1979). Effects of differences in amount and kind of dietary carbohydrate on plasma glucose and insulin responses in man. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *32*(12), 2568-2578.

Reaven, G. M. (2013). What do we learn from measurements of HOMA-IR? *Diabetologia*, *56*(8), 1867-1868. doi:10.1007/s00125-013-2948-3

Rock, Cheryl Pande, Chetna Flatt, Shirley Ying, Carl Pakiz, Bilge Parker, Barbara Williams, Kathryn Bardwell, Wayne Heath, Dennis Nichols, Jeanne. (2013). Favorable changes in serum estrogens and other biologic factors after weight loss in breast cancer survivors who are overweight or obese. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, *13*(3), 188-195. doi:10.1016/j.clbc.2012.12.002

Røder, M. E., Dinesen, B., Hartling, S. G., Houssa, P., Vestergaard, H., Sodoyez Goffaux, F., & Binder, C. (1999). Intact proinsulin and beta-cell function in lean and obese subjects with and without type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care, 22*(4), 609-14. doi:10.2337/diacare.22.4.609

Rogers, Laura Fogleman, Amanda Trammell, Rita Hopkins Price, Patricia Vicari, Sandy Rao, Krishna Edson, Billie Verhulst, Steven Courneya, Kerry Hoelzer, Karen. (2013). Effects of a physical activity behavior change intervention on inflammation and related health outcomes in breast cancer survivors: Pilot randomized trial. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*, *12*(4), 323-335. doi:10.1177/1534735412449687

Rosen, N Yee, D Lippman, M E Paik, S Cullen, K J. (1991). Insulin-like growth factors in human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 18 Suppl 1*, S55-S62. doi:10.1007/BF02633529

Rosner, William Hankinson, Susan Sluss, Patrick Vesper, Hubert Wierman, Margaret. (2013). Challenges to the measurement of estradiol: An endocrine society position statement. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *98*(4), 1376-1387. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-3780

Rostoker, Ran Bitton Worms, Keren Caspi, Avishay Shen Orr,Zila LeRoith, Derek. (2013). Investigating new therapeutic strategies targeting hyperinsulinemia's mitogenic effects in a female mouse breast cancer model. *Endocrinology*, *154*(5), 1701-1710. doi:10.1210/en.2012-2263

Rozenberg, S., Antoine, C., Carly, B., Pastijn, A., & Liebens, F. (2007). Improving quality of life after breast cancer: Prevention of other diseases. *Menopause International*, *13*(2), 71-74. doi:10.1258/175404507780796398

Sabiston, C., Brunet, J., Vallance, J., & Meterissian, S. (2014). Prospective examination of objectively assessed physical activity and sedentary time after breast cancer treatment: Sitting on the crest of the teachable moment. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 23*(7), 1324-1330. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1179

Schernhammer, Eva Holly, Jeff Hunter, David Pollak, Michael Hankinson, Susan. (2006). Insulin-like growth factor-I, its binding proteins (IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-3), and growth hormone and breast cancer risk in the nurses health study II. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *13*(2), 583-592. doi:10.1677/erc.1.01149

Schmitz, Kathryn Courneya, Kerry Matthews, Charles Demark Wahnefried, Wendy GalvÃfo, Daniel Pinto, Bernardine Irwin, Melinda Wolin, Kathleen Segal, Roanne Lucia, Alejandro Schneider, Carole von Gruenigen, Vivian Schwartz, Anna. (2010). American college of sports medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *42*(7), 1409-1426. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181e0c112

Schmitz, K. S., Rebecca. (2010). Risks and benefits of physical activity among breast cancer survivors who have completed treatment. *Women's Health*, *6*(2), 221-238. doi:10.2217/whe.10.1

Scott, E Daley, A J Doll, H Woodroofe, N Coleman, R E Mutrie, N Crank, H Powers, H J Saxton, J M. (2013). Effects of an exercise and hypocaloric healthy eating program on biomarkers associated with long-term prognosis after early-stage breast cancer: A randomized controlled trial. *CCC.Cancer Causes & Control, 24*(1), 181-191. doi:10.1007/s10552-012-0104-x

Sebastian, Siby Takayama, Kazuto Shozu, Makio Bulun, Serdar. (2002). Cloning and characterization of a novel endothelial promoter of the human CYP19 (aromatase P450) gene that is up-regulated in breast cancer tissue. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *16*(10), 2243-2254. doi:10.1210/me.2002-0123

Serviente, C., Troy, L., de Jonge, M., Shill, D., Jenkins, N., & Witkowski, S. (2016). Endothelial and inflammatory responses to acute exercise in perimenopausal and late postmenopausal women. *American Journal of Physiology.Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, appregu.00189. doi:10.1152/appregu.00189.2016

Sharma, D Saxena, N K Vertino, P M Anania, F A. (2006). Leptin promotes the proliferative response and invasiveness in human endometrial cancer cells by activating multiple signal-transduction pathways. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *13*(2), 629-640. doi:10.1677/erc.1.01169

Sieri, Sabina Muti, Paola Claudia, Agnoli Berrino, Franco Pala, Valeria Grioni, Sara Abagnato, Carlo Blandino, Giovanni Contiero, Paolo Schunemann,Holger Krogh, Vittorio. (2012). Prospective study on the role of glucose metabolism in breast cancer occurrence. *International Journal of Cancer, 130*(4), 921-929. doi:10.1002/ijc.26071

Solomon, Thomas P J Haus, Jacob Kelly, Karen Rocco, Michael Kashyap, Sangeeta Kirwan, John. (2010). Improved pancreatic beta-cell function in type 2 diabetic patients after lifestyle-induced weight loss is related to glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(7), 1561-1566. doi:10.2337/dc09-2021

Stagl, J., Antoni, M., Lechner, S., Carver, C., & Lewis, J. (2014). Postsurgical physical activity and fatigue-related daily interference in women with non-metastatic breast cancer. *Psychology & Health*, *29*(2), 177-198. doi:10.1080/08870446.2013.843682

Stephenne, X., Foretz, M., Taleux, N., van der Zon, G C, Sokal, E., Hue, L., . . . Guigas, B. (2011). Metformin activates AMP-activated protein kinase in primary human hepatocytes by decreasing cellular energy status. *Diabetologia*, *54*(12), 3101-10. doi:10.1007/s00125-011-2311-5

Stumvoll, M., Fritsche, A., Stefan, N., Hardt, E., & Häring, H. (2001). Evidence against a rate-limiting role of proinsulin processing for maximal insulin secretion in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and beta-cell dysfunction. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *86*(3), 1235-9. doi:10.1210/jcem.86.3.7331

Stumvoll, M., Mitrakou, A., Pimenta, W., Jenssen, T., Yki Järvinen, H., Van Haeften, T., . . . Gerich, J. (2000). Use of the oral glucose tolerance test to assess insulin release and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes Care*, *23*(3), 295-301. doi:10.2337/diacare.23.3.295

Stumvoll, M., Tataranni, P. A., & Bogardus, C. (2005). The hyperbolic law--a 25-year perspective. *Diabetologia*, 48(2), 207-209. doi:10.1007/s00125-004-1657-3

Su, H. I., Sue, L., Flatt, S., Natarajan, L., Patterson, R., & Pierce, J. (2013). Endogenous estradiol is not associated with poor physical health in postmenopausal breast cancer survivors. *Journal of Women's Health*, 22(12), 1043-1048. doi:10.1089/jwh.2013.4375

Taunk, N., Haffty, B., Chen, S., Khan, A., Nelson, C., Pierce, D., & Goyal, S. (2011). Comparison of radiation-induced fatigue across 3 different radiotherapeutic methods for early stage breast cancer. *Cancer*, *117*(18), 4116-4124. doi:10.1002/cncr.26013

Tezini, Geisa C S V, Dias, D. P. M., & Souza, H. C. D. (2013). Aerobic physical training has little effect on cardiovascular autonomic control in aging rats subjected to early menopause. *Experimental Gerontology*, *48*(2), 147-153. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2012.11.009

Thomson, Cynthia McCullough, Marjorie Wertheim, Betsy Chlebowski, Rowan Martinez, Maria Stefanick, Marcia Rohan, Thomas Manson, Joann Tindle, Hilary Ockene, Judith Vitolins, Mara Wactawski Wende, Jean Sarto, Gloria Lane,Dorothy Neuhouser, Marian. (2014). Nutrition and physical activity cancer prevention guidelines, cancer risk, and mortality in the women's health initiative. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *7*(1), 42-53. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0258

Toffolo, G., Campioni, M., Basu, R., Rizza, R., & Cobelli, C. (2006). A minimal model of insulin secretion and kinetics to assess hepatic insulin extraction. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 290*(1), E169-E176. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00473.2004

Toriola, A., & Colditz, G. (2013). Trends in breast cancer incidence and mortality in the united states: Implications for prevention. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *138*(3), 665-673. doi:10.1007/s10549-013-2500-7

Tura, A Ludvik, B Nolan, J J Pacini, G Thomaseth, K. (2001). Insulin and C-peptide secretion and kinetics in humans: Direct and model-based measurements during OGTT. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, 281*(5), E966-E974.

Tymchuk, C N Tessler, S B Barnard, R J. (2000). Changes in sex hormone-binding globulin, insulin, and serum lipids in postmenopausal women on a low-fat, high-fiber diet combined with exercise. *Nutrition and Cancer, 38*(2), 158-162. doi:10.1207/S15327914NC382_3

Utzschneider, Kristina Carr, Darcy Barsness, Suzanne Kahn, Steven Schwartz, Robert. (2004). Diet-induced weight loss is associated with an improvement in beta-cell function in older men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 89*(6), 2704-2710. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-031827

Utzschneider, Kristina Carr, Darcy Hull, Rebecca Kodama, Keiichi Shofer, Jane Retzlaff, Barbara Knopp,Robert Kahn, Steven. (2004). Impact of intra-abdominal fat and age on insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function. *Diabetes*, *53*(11), 2867-2872. doi:10.2337/diabetes.53.11.2867

Utzschneider, Kristina Prigeon, Ronald Carr, Darcy Hull, Rebecca Tong, Jenny Shofer, Jane Retzlaff, Barbara Knopp,Robert Kahn, Steven. (2006). Impact of differences in fasting glucose and glucose tolerance on the hyperbolic relationship between insulin sensitivity and insulin responses. *Diabetes Care*, *29*(2), 356-362. doi:10.2337/diacare.29.02.06.dc05-1963

Valdivieso, Manuel Kujawa, Ann Jones, Tisha Baker, Laurence. (2012). Cancer survivors in the united states: A review of the literature and a call to action. *International Journal of Medical Sciences*, 9(2), 163-173. doi:10.7150/ijms.3827

Valera Mora, M. E., Scarfone, A., Calvani, M., Greco, A. V., & Mingrone, G. (2003). Insulin clearance in obesity. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, *22*(6), 487-93. doi:10.1080/07315724.2003.10719326

van Gemert, W., Monninkhof, E., May, A., Peeters, P., & Schuit, A. (2015). Effect of exercise on insulin sensitivity in healthy postmenopausal women: The SHAPE study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 24*(1), 81-87. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0722

van Genugten, R., Utzschneider, K., Tong, J., Gerchman, F., Zraika, S., Udayasankar, J., . . . Kahn, S. (2006). Effects of sex and hormone replacement therapy use on the prevalence of isolated impaired fasting glucose and isolated impaired glucose tolerance in subjects with a family history of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, *55*(12), 3529-3535. doi:10.2337/db06-0577

Varghese, R., Dalla Man, C., Sharma, A., Viegas, I., Barosa, C., Marques, C., . . . Vella, A. (2016). Mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of isolated impaired glucose tolerance in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, , jc20161998-jc20161998. doi:10.1210/jc.2016-1998

Viollet, B., & Foretz, M. (2013). Revisiting the mechanisms of metformin action in the liver. *Annales d'Endocrinologie*, 74(2), 123-129. doi:10.1016/j.ando.2013.03.006

Vogelstein, Bert Papadopoulos, Nickolas Velculescu, Victor Zhou, Shibin Diaz,Luis Kinzler, Kenneth. (2013). Cancer genome landscapes. *Science*, *339*(6127), 1546-1558. doi:10.1126/science.1235122

von Berghes, C., Brabant, G., Biebermann, H., Krude, H., & Wiegand, S. (2011). Proinsulin and the proinsulin/insulin ratio in overweight and obese children and adolescents: Relation to clinical parameters, insulin resistance, and impaired glucose regulation. *Pediatric Diabetes, 12*(3), 242-9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5448.2010.00734.x

Vona Davis, L., & Rose, D. (2007). Adipokines as endocrine, paracrine, and autocrine factors in breast cancer risk and progression. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *14*(2), 189-206. doi:10.1677/ERC-06-0068

Vottero, Alessandra Guzzetti, Chiara Loche, Sandro. (2013). New aspects of the physiology of the GH-IGF-1 axis. *Endocr Dev, 24*, 96-105. doi:10.1159/000342573

Wahren, J. E., Karin. (2007). Splanchnic regulation of glucose production. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, *27*, 329-345. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.27.061406.093806

Wallace, T., Levy, J., & Matthews, D. (2004). Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. *Diabetes Care*, *27*(6), 1487-1495. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.6.1487

Wareham, N. J., Byrne, C. D., Williams, R., Day, N. E., & Hales, C. N. (1999). Fasting proinsulin concentrations predict the development of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *22*(2), 262-70. doi:10.2337/diacare.22.2.262

Wasserman, L Flatt, S W Natarajan, L Laughlin, G Matusalem, M Faerber, S Rock, C L Barrett Connor, E Pierce, J P. (2004). Correlates of obesity in postmenopausal women with breast cancer: Comparison of genetic, demographic, disease-related, life history and dietary factors. *International Journal of Obesity*, *28*(1), 49-56. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802481

Weinberg, R. (2008). Leaving home early: Reexamination of the canonical models of tumor progression. *Cancer Cell*, *14*(4), 283-284. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2008.09.009

Weinstein, Doron Simon, Meital Yehezkel, Einat Laron, Zvi Werner, Haim. (2009). Insulin analogues display IGF-I-like mitogenic and anti-apoptotic activities in cultured cancer cells. *Diabetes/metabolism Research and Reviews*, 25(1), 41-49. doi:10.1002/dmrr.912

Weng, L P Smith, W M Dahia, P L Ziebold, U Gil, E Lees, J A Eng, C. (1999). PTEN suppresses breast cancer cell growth by phosphatase activity-dependent G1 arrest followed by cell death. *Cancer Research*, *59*(22), 5808-5814.

Winnick, Jason Sherman, W M Habash, Diane Stout, Michael Failla, Mark Belury, Martha Schuster, Dara. (2008). Short-term aerobic exercise training in obese humans with type 2 diabetes mellitus improves whole-body insulin sensitivity through gains in peripheral, not hepatic insulin sensitivity. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *93*(3), 771-778. doi:10.1210/jc.2007-1524

Won, Hye Kim, Young Lee, Jun Jeon, Eun An, Ho Sun, Der Ko, Yoon Kim, Jeong. (2013). Soluble interleukin-6 receptor is a prognostic marker for relapse-free survival in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. *Cancer Investigation*, *31*(8), 516-521. doi:10.3109/07357907.2013.826239

Wu, A., Kurian, A., Kwan, M., John, E., Lu, Y., Keegan, T. H. M., ... Vigen, C. (2015). Diabetes and other comorbidities in breast cancer survival by race/ethnicity: The california breast cancer survivorship consortium (CBCSC). *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 24*(2), 361-368. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-1140

Yamada, P M Mehta, H H Hwang, D Roos, K P Hevener, A L Lee, K W. (2010). Evidence of a role for insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP)-3 in metabolic regulation. *Endocrinology*, *151*(12), 5741-5750. doi:10.1210/en.2010-0672

Yang, L., & Colditz, G. (2015). Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the united states, 2007-2012. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *175*(8), 1412-1413. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2405

Yates, T., Khunti, K., Bull, F., Gorely, T., & Davies, M. J. (2007). The role of physical activity in the management of impaired glucose tolerance: A systematic review. *Diabetologia*, *50*(6), 1116-26. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0638-8

Yates, Thomas Davies, Melanie Brady, Emer Webb, David Gorely, Trish Bull, Fiona Talbot, Duncan Sattar, Naveed Khunti, Kamlesh. (2008). Walking and inflammatory markers in individuals screened for type 2 diabetes. *Preventive Medicine*, *47*(4), 417-421. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.06.015

Yeap, Bu Chubb, S A Paul McCaul, Kieran Ho, Ken K Y Hankey, Graeme Norman, Paul Flicker, Leon. (2011). Associations of IGF1 and IGFBPs 1 and 3 with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in older men: The health in men study. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, *164*(5), 715-723. doi:10.1530/EJE-11-0059

Younus, M., Kissner, M., Reich, L., & Wallis, N. (2011). Putting the cardiovascular safety of aromatase inhibitors in patients with early breast cancer into perspective: A systematic review of the literature. *Drug Safety*, *34*(12), 1125-1149. doi:10.2165/11594170-00000000-00000

Yudkin, J. S., May, M., Elwood, P., Yarnell, J. W. G., Greenwood, R., & Davey Smith, G. (2002). Concentrations of proinsulin like molecules predict coronary heart disease risk independently of insulin: Prospective data from the caerphilly study. *Diabetologia*, 45(3), 327-36. doi:10.1007/s00125-001-0756-7

Zagar, T., Cardinale, D., & Marks, L. (2016). Breast cancer therapy-associated cardiovascular disease. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, *13*(3), 172-184. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.171

Zeleniuch Jacquotte, A Shore, R E Koenig, K L Akhmedkhanov, A Afanasyeva, Y Kato, I Kim, M Y Rinaldi, S Kaaks, R Toniolo, P. (2004). Postmenopausal levels of oestrogen, androgen, and SHBG and breast cancer: Long-term results of a prospective study. *British Journal of Cancer*, *90*(1), 153-159. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6601517

Zethelius, B., Byberg, L., Hales, C. N., Lithell, H., & Berne, C. (2002). Proinsulin is an independent predictor of coronary heart disease: Report from a 27-year follow-up study. *Circulation*, *105*(18), 2153-8. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000015855.04844.E7

Zhang, Xuehong Tworoger, Shelley Eliassen, A H Hankinson, Susan. (2013). Postmenopausal plasma sex hormone levels and breast cancer risk over 20Å, Å years of follow-up. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 137*(3), 883-892. doi:10.1007/s10549-012-2391-z